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DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

I, Carol M. Silberberg, declare as follows: 

1. I am an attorney, duly licensed to practice law in the State of California and am an 

attorney in the law firm of Berry Silberberg Stokes PC, counsel for Defendant City of Santa Monica.  

I have personal knowledge of the matters stated herein and, if called upon to do so, I could and would 

competently testify thereto. 

2. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Maria Loya taken on January 25, 2022 in this matter. 

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Elias Serna taken on January 21, 2022 in this matter. 

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Oscar De la Torre in his individual capacity taken on May 9, 2018 in the CVRA Action. 

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Oscar De la Torre in his capacity as the person most qualified for the Pico Neighborhood 

Association taken on May 11, 2018 in the CVRA Action. 

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Maria Loya taken on May 15, 2018 in the CVRA Action. 

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Terrence O’Day taken on September 23, 2016 in the CVRA Action. 

10. Attached hereto as Exhibit 9 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Kevin McKeown taken on December 16, 2016 in the CVRA Action. 

11. Attached hereto as Exhibit 10 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Ted Winterer taken on February 26, 2018 in the CVRA Action. 

12. Attached hereto as Exhibit 11 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from the 

deposition of Sue Himmelrich taken on May 30, 2017 in the CVRA Action. 
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2 
DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

13. Attached hereto as Exhibit 12 is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the trial 

transcripts in the CVRA action from August 22, 2018 and August 23, 2018. 

14. Attached hereto as Exhibit 13 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 6 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

15. Attached hereto as Exhibit 14 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 7 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

16. Attached hereto as Exhibit 15 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 12 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

17. Attached hereto as Exhibit 16 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 17 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

18. Attached hereto as Exhibit 17 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 21 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

19. Attached hereto as Exhibit 18 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 24 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

20. Attached hereto as Exhibit 19 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 25 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

21. Attached hereto as Exhibit 20 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 30 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

22. Attached hereto as Exhibit 21 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 31 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

23. Attached hereto as Exhibit 22 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 38 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

24. Attached hereto as Exhibit 23 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 39 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

25. Attached hereto as Exhibit 24 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 41 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

26. Attached hereto as Exhibit 25 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 42 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 
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3 
DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

27. Attached hereto as Exhibit 26 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 45 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

28. Attached hereto as Exhibit 27 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 51 from 

the deposition of Maria Loya taken on January 25, 2022 in this matter. 

29. Attached hereto as Exhibit 28 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 56 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

30. Attached hereto as Exhibit 29 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 57 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

31. Attached hereto as Exhibit 30 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 58 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

32. Attached hereto as Exhibit 31 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 60 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

33. Attached hereto as Exhibit 32 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 64 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

34. Attached hereto as Exhibit 33 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 65 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

35. Attached hereto as Exhibit 34 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 68 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

36. Attached hereto as Exhibit 35 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 72 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

37. Attached hereto as Exhibit 36 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 74 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

38. Attached hereto as Exhibit 37 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 76 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

39. Attached hereto as Exhibit 38 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 79 from 

the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 in this matter. 

40. Attached hereto as Exhibit 39 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 80 

without the accompanying exhibits from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 27, 2022 
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4 
DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

in this matter. 

41. Attached hereto as Exhibit 40 is a true and correct copy of the January 26, 2021 City 

Council hearing transcript. 

42. Attached hereto as Exhibit 41 is a true and correct copy of the April 13, 2021 City 

Council hearing transcript. 

43. Attached hereto as Exhibit 42 is a true and correct copy of the November 9, 2021 City 

Council hearing transcript. 

44. On November 11, 2021, Deputy City Attorney Kirsten Galler and I participated in a 

scheduled meet and confer telephone conference with counsel for Plaintiffs, Wilfredo Trivino-Perez, 

and Plaintiff Oscar De la Torre. When the telephone conference began, Mr. Shenkman was also on the 

line and in the same room as Mr. Trivino-Perez and Mr. De la Torre, and Mr. Shenkman participated 

throughout the two-and-a-half-hour conference, including making legal arguments opposing the 

discovery sought by the City of Santa Monica.  

45. In November 2021, Mr. Shenkman drafted a declaration to avoid discovery and to aid 

in the assertion of the deliberative process privilege. On November 17, 2021, Mr. Trivino-Perez sent 

an email to me attaching “proposed declarations in lieu of discovery” including a proposed declaration 

for Mr. Shenkman. Attached hereto as Exhibit 43 is a true and accurate copy of that email and 

attachment.  

46. Attached hereto as Exhibit 44 is a true and correct copy of documents bates labeled as 

P0863-0895 produced by Plaintiffs in this matter. 

47. Attached hereto as Exhibit 45 is a true and correct copy of documents bates labeled as 

P0910-0916 produced by Plaintiffs in this matter. 

48. Attached hereto as Exhibit 46 is a true and correct copy of a declaration of Jon Katz 

executed on February 4, 2022 (without the thumb drives referenced therein).  

49. Attached hereto as Exhibit 47 is a true and correct copy of Deposition Exhibit 36 from 

the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is 

true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.  
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5 
DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Executed on February 12, 2022 at Pasadena, California. 

By  

Carol M. Silberberg 
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DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Index to Exhibits 

VOLUME I 

Ex. Title 
Page 
No. 

1 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 
20, 2022 in this matter. 

1 

2 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Maria Loya taken on January 25, 
2022 in this matter. 

98 

3 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

118 

4 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Elias Serna taken on January 21, 
2022 in this matter. 

181 

5 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre in his individual 
capacity taken on May 9, 2018 in the CVRA Action. 

189 

6 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre in his capacity as 
the person most qualified for the Pico Neighborhood Association taken on May 
11, 2018 in the CVRA Action.

203 

7 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Maria Loya taken on May 15, 2018 
in the CVRA Action. 

221 

8 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Terrence O’Day taken on September 
23, 2016 in the CVRA Action. 

225 

9 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Kevin McKeown taken on December 
16, 2016 in the CVRA Action. 

232 

10 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Ted Winterer taken on February 26, 
2018 in the CVRA Action. 

238 

11 
Transcript excerpts from the deposition of Sue Himmelrich taken on May 30, 
2017 in the CVRA Action. 

245 

12 
Excerpts from the trial transcripts in the CVRA action from August 22, 2018 
and August 23, 2018. 

253 
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DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

VOLUME II 

Ex. Title 
Page 
No. 

13 
Deposition Exhibit 6 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 
20, 2022 in this matter. 

265 

14 
Deposition Exhibit 7 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on January 
20, 2022 in this matter. 

302 

15 
Deposition Exhibit 12 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

323 

16 
Deposition Exhibit 17 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

330 

17 
Deposition Exhibit 21 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

339 

18 
Deposition Exhibit 24 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

344 

19 
Deposition Exhibit 25 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

346 

20 
Deposition Exhibit 30 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

349 

21 
Deposition Exhibit 31 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

374 

22 
Deposition Exhibit 38 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

376 

23 
Deposition Exhibit 39 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

382 

24 
Deposition Exhibit 41 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

390 

25 
Deposition Exhibit 42 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

392 

26 
Deposition Exhibit 45 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

401 

27 
Deposition Exhibit 51 from the deposition of Maria Loya taken on January 25, 
2022 in this matter. 

406 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 

8 
DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

VOLUME III 

Ex. Title 
Page 
No. 

28 
Deposition Exhibit 56 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

408 

29 
Deposition Exhibit 57 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

487 

30 
Deposition Exhibit 58 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

506 

31 
Deposition Exhibit 60 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

517 

32 
Deposition Exhibit 64 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

519 

33 
Deposition Exhibit 65 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

529 

34 
Deposition Exhibit 68 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

545 

35 
Deposition Exhibit 72 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

559 

36 
Deposition Exhibit 74 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

563 

37 
Deposition Exhibit 76 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

567 

38 
Deposition Exhibit 79 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter. 

572 

39 
Deposition Exhibit 80 from the deposition of Kevin Shenkman taken on January 
27, 2022 in this matter without exhibits. 

584 

 Intentionally Left Blank 588-702 
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DECLARATION OF CAROL M. SILBERBERG IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT  

CITY OF SANTA MONICA’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

VOLUME IV 

Ex. Title 
Page 
No. 

40 January 26, 2021 City Council hearing transcript. 703 

41 April 13, 2021 City Council hearing transcript. 727 

42 November 9, 2021 City Council hearing transcript. 731 

43 
November 17, 2021 email from Mr. Trivino-Perez attaching “proposed 
declarations in lieu of discovery” including a proposed declaration for Mr. 
Shenkman.

736 

44 Documents bates labeled as P0863-0895 produced by Plaintiffs in this matter. 742 

45 Documents bates labeled as P0910-0916 produced by Plaintiffs in this matter. 776 

46 Declaration of Jon Katz executed on February 4, 2022. 784 

47 
Deposition Exhibit 36 from the deposition of Oscar De la Torre taken on 
January 20, 2022 in this matter. 

791 
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Mary R. Hughes (SBN 222662) 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO 

PICO NEIGHBORHOOD 
ASSOCIATION and MARIA LOYA, 

Plaintiffs, 
V. 

CITY OF SANT A MONICA, and 
DOES I through I 00, inclusive, 

Defendants. 
l 
� 

Case No.: BC616804 

DECLARATION OF KEVIN SHENKMAN 

IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS' MOTION 

FOR A WARD OF ATTORNEYS' FEES 

AND EXPENSES 

Date: August 28, 2019 
Time: 8:30 a.m. 
Dept.: SSC-9 
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1 

2 

I, Kevin I. Shenkman, declare as follows: 

1. I am an attorney duly I icensed to practice law before all courts of the State of

3 California and I am a principa] of Shenkman & Hughes PC, attorneys of record for P]aintiffs

4 
in the above-captioned case. The facts set forth in this declaration are within my personal 

5 knowledge and, if called as a witness, I could and wou]d competently testify as follows:

6 

Shenkman & Hu2hes Attorneys 
7 

2. I have been primarily responsible for the handling of the above•captioned case
8 

since its inception, and I have been involved in al1 aspects of this case. My partner, Mary R. 
9 

Hughes, has also worked on this matter, as have John L. Jones II and Andrea Alarcon, as 
10 

wel1 as attorneys and professionals with the Parris Law Firm, Law Offices of Milton C. 
11 

Grimes and Law Office of Robert Rubin. 
12 

3. I graduated from Rice University in 1999 and completed my J .D. at Columbia

13 
University School of Law in 2002. I was admitted to the California Bar in 2002, and began 

14 working at Hennigan, Bennett & Dorman LLP (now McKool Smith Hennigan), where I

15 worked on a wide variety of comp]ex litigation until 2008. In 2011, I founded the law firm

16 of Shenkman & Hughes along with Mary R. Hughes, whom I had known from my time at 

17 Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP. 

18 4. Mary R. Hughes graduated from California State University Northridge in 

19 1999 and completed her J.D. at the University of Southern California Gould Law School. 

20 She was admitted to the California Bar in 2002, and began working at Gibson, Dunn & 

21 Crutcher LLP, where she worked until 2010. In 2011, Ms. Hughes co-founded the law firm 

22 of Shenkman & Hughes.

23 
5. John L. Jones II graduated from Creighton University in 1996 and completed

24 
his J.D. at Yale Law School in 2001. Following a short career in investment banking, he 

25 
began working at Hennigan, Bennett & Dorman LLP (now McKooJ Smith Hennigan) in 

26 
2002, where he remained until 2008. While at Hennigan Bennett & Dorman LLP, and since 

27 

28 
2 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

his time at that firm, he has worked on complex litigation and bankruptcy matters, including 

the notable bankruptcies of Hawaiian Airlines and Brobeck Phleger & Harrison LLP. 

6. Andrea Alarcon graduated from Georgetown University in 2000 and

completed her J.D. at Loyola Law School in 2009. Ms. Alarcon has had an extensive career 

in government and public service, before joining Shenkman & Hughes PC. For example, 

Ms. Alarcon served as Director of the Los Angeles office of Attorney General Bill Lockyer 

and Assistant to Attorney General Jerry Brown, and served as President of the Los Angeles 

Board of Public Works (the only Latina to serve in that role in the City of Los Angeles' 

history), responsible for an annual budget of $1.8 billion. Important to the instant case, Ms. 

Alarcon has also been involved in the Latino civil rights movement and politics for her 

11 entire life. 

12 7. True and correct copies of condensed resumes for Ms. Hughes and I, and the

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

resumes for Mr. Jones and Ms. Alarcon are collectively attached hereto as Exhibit A.

8. Ms. Hughes, Mr. Jones and I were also primarily responsible for the handling

of the first and second cases brought pursuant to the California Voting Rights Act to proceed 

to trial - Jauregui v. City of Palmdale, Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC483039 and 

Garrett v. City of Highland, San Bernardino Superior Court Case No. CIVDS 1410696. We 

prevailed in both of those cases. Following our trial victory in Jauregui v. City of Palmdale, 

we also prevailed in both the intermediate appellate court and the California Supreme Court 

- Jauregui v. City of Palmdale (2014) 226 Cal. App. 4th 781 (review denied, en bane, Aug.

20, 2014) 

9. For our successes in Jauregui v. City of Palmdale, subsequent cases brought

pursuant the California Voting Rights Act, and efforts to end unfair at-large elections 

throughout California, I have been featured, sometimes along with the other attorneys of 

Shenkman & Hughes PC, in various media, such as the Los Angeles Times, New York 

Times, Wall Street Journal, ABC, CBS, PBS, NPR, Los Angeles Daily Journal, Dr. Drew 

Show and Breitbart News ( claiming that we were ending democracy in California). I am 

frequently invited to speak to audiences of attorneys and non-attorneys concerning voting 
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rights and elections. For example, I have been the keynote speaker at Los Angeles County 

Bar Association events for young lawyers, and the annual conference of the California 

Latino School Board Association. 

Our Work On This Case 

10. Even before filing suit, we worked with two renowned experts, David Ely and

J. Morgan Kousser, to study Santa Monica's elections to detennine whether those elections

were characterized by racially polarized voting - the key element in a CVRA case. At the 

same time, we engaged with civic leaders in Santa Monica and immersed ourselves in Santa 

Monica's politics, city council actions, and historical discrimination to develop a better 

sense of the unique circumstances in Santa Monica concerning race and elections. 

Particularly because of Santa Monica's unique reputation and demographics, we also 

worked with those same experts to evaluate the likely effectiveness of any remedial changes 

to Santa Monica's election system. And, we also investigated the unique history and 

controversy surrounding Santa Monica's adoption and maintenance (at various times) of its 

at-large election system, to evaluate whether an Equal Protection claim might also be 

justified. 

11. While many political subdivisions, since our victory in Jauregui v. City of

Palmdale, had chosen to adopt district elections upon receiving notice that their at-large 

elections violate the CVRA, we expected that Santa Monica would not likely change its 

election system without a court battle. In fact, early in our pre-filing investigation, I met 

with then-councilman Tony Vazquez, who had led the effort to adopt district elections for 

Santa Monica's council in the late 1980s and early 1990s. Mr. Vazquez emphasized the 

continuing power of those who had clung to the at-large election system in Santa Monica in 

the past, and doubted that we would be successful in any effort to convince other council 

members to adopt a fair district-based election system. Indeed, Santa Monica is 

exceptionally wealthy, enabling its council to carry on a scorched�earth approach to 

defending its at-large elections, as some of its council members have noted in rationalizing 
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1 their expensive fight against the CVRA. A true and correct copy of a July 12, 2018 opinion-

2 editorial in the Los Angeles Times authored by Santa Monica's mayor and mayor pro-tern, 

3 touting Santa Monica's financial resources that enabled it to vigorously litigate (and appeal) 

4 the instant case, is attached as Exhibit B. Prior to filing the instant case, while we did not 

S fully comprehend the extreme lengths to which Defendant's council members would go to 

6 maintain the at-large system by which they were elected, we understood that they would 

7 fight, and so a robust and complete pre-filing investigation would be necessary. 

8 12. Satisfied that our preliminary investigation justified further action, on

9 December 15, 2015 we wrote to Defendant, notifying Defendant that its at-large elections 

1 O were unlawful and requesting that Defendant contact us to discuss changing its at-large 

11 system of electing its city council. A true and correct copy of my December 15, 2015 

12 correspondence to Defendant is attached hereto as Exhibit C. There is no question that 

13 Defendant's city council took notice of our December 15, 2015 letter - not only did I speak 

14 personally with the then-city attorney, Marsha Moutrie, when I personally delivered the 

1 S letter along with several Pico Neighborhood activists (Ms. Moutrie actually communicated 

16 her personal support for our efforts), but the letter was also the subject of a closed session 

17 meeting of Defendant's city council in January 2016. A true and correct copy of the relevant 

18 page of Defendant's city council meeting agenda for its January 12, 2016 meeting is 

19 attached hereto as Exhibit D.

20 13. We waited for four months - well past the requested response date in the

21 December 15, 2015 letter - but received no substantive response from Defendant or its 

22 attorneys. On April 12, 2016 Plaintiffs filed the above-captioned case. 

23 14. Defendant quickly sprang into action to retaliate against me personally for

24 filing the above-captioned case on behalf of our clients. At that time, I was one of three 

25 members of the Malibu Unification Negotiation Committee appointed by the City of Malibu 

26 to negotiate financial terms for the establishment of an independent Malibu unified school 

27 district. My counterparts from Santa Monica on that committee walked away from those 

28 negotiations at Defendant's direction, demanded that we dismiss the above-captioned case, 
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l and even forced the cancellation of the Committee's next scheduled publicly-noticed Brown

2 Act meeting. This all caused me a great deal of distress, particularly because several of my 

3 neighbors blamed me for harming the years-long effort to establish a Malibu school district 

4 - an effort on which I had spent significant time and resources. Ultimately, I decided,

5 consistent with my ethical obligations to our various clients, to resign from the Malibu 

6 Unification Negotiation Committee, and make clear that we would never abandon our clients 

7 or our fight for minority voting rights. My resignation letter was published by local 

8 newspapers, and a true and correct copy of that letter is attached as Exhibit E. The Santa 

9 Monica members of that committee returned to negotiate financial terms, and that committee 

10 completed its work without me, but the damage to our relationships with our neighbors and 

11 community, caused by that episode, persist. 

12 15. Defendant's city attorney office has been involved in this case from its

13 inception, and Defendant also retained the very large and very expensive law firm - Gibson 

14 Dunn & Crutcher LLP - a few weeks after the case was filed. My partner, Ms. Hughes, 

15 worked as an associate at Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP for nearly 8 years, and I also 

16 worked at that firm for a short time, so we understood that Defendant's retention of that finn 

17 meant that it planned to spare no expense in its defense of its racially discriminatory at-large 

18 election system. We also understand, from our experience at Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP, 

19 what it takes to prevail over that finn, particularly recognizing that we could never match the 

20 financial resources and manpower that firm brings to bear. 

21 16. The litigation that followed over the next three years has been extensive and

22 contentious. That litigation, culminating in a judgment finding that Defendant's at-large 

23 election system not only violates the CVRA but also was adopted and maintained for a 

24 discriminatory purpose, and thus violates the Equal Protection Clause, included, among 

2 5 other things: 

26 • An expert-intensive six-week trial�

27 • Three writ petitions;

28 • A petition for review to the California Supreme Court;
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1 • A summary judgment motion;

2 • Two pleading challenges;

3 • Twenty-four (24) depositions of fact witnesses;

4 • Eight (8) depositions of expert witnesses; and

5 • Thirty-one (31) discovery motions

6 Furthermore, particularly because of Defendant's publicity campaign orchestrated by its 

7 significant in-house public relations department, we also needed to press Plaintiffs' case in 

8 the court of public opinion and rally support among community leaders, activists and 

9 residents in Santa Monica. Similarly, because of Defendant's efforts to lobby the California 

JO Legislature to amend the CVRA in ways that would exculpate Defendant, we also needed to 

11 press Plaintiffs' case with legislative leaders and Democratic Party officials. 

12 17. Throughout the three-year litigation, Plaintiffs attempted to convince Defendant

13 that an amicable resolution through settlement would be superior, for all parties concerned, to 

14 a disputed resolution by the court. In fact, Plaintiffs even convinced renowned mediator, 

15 Jeffrey Krivis, to mediate the case for free. Though Defendant agreed to participate in that 

16 free mediation, and then asked for a second day of free mediation (which was held a few 

17 weeks after the first day of mediation), Defendant obstinately insisted at every stage that it 

18 would never agree to any structural changes to its discriminatory at-large election system. 

19 Rather, Defendant's city attorney bluntly explained Defendant's rationale for refusing any 

20 change to its election system, remarking that she "just do[es]n't see any merit in this case.'' 

21 Even during the six-week trial, Defendant's counsel inquired several times whether Plaintiffs 

22 were ready to dismiss their case, and eschewed my invitations to discuss settlement. Rather, 

23 Defendant complained that somehow Plaintiffs' actions were improper because they were 

24 aimed at coercing Defendant to settle. For example, in opposing Plaintiffs' efforts to 

25 question Defendant's city council members about their campaign finances, Defendant argued 

26 that Plaintiffs' counsel "used the deposition to attempt to pressure Mr. O'Day to settle the 

27 case" and "broached the improper topic of settlement" with Ms. Davis. A true and correct 

28 
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1 copy of the relevant pages from Defendant's Opposition to Plaintiffs' motion to compel the 

2 subsequent depositions of Gleam Davis and Terry O'Day is attached hereto as Exhibit F. 

3 18. To be sure, though the facts and law certainly support this Court's findings,

4 decision and Judgment, this case was no "sure thing." In fact, Defendant's counsel was 

5 interviewed by Law.com on the eve of trial, and proclaimed: "We feel really good about our 

6 case on the merits here." Defendant's counsel went even further, stating: "The reality is that 

7 if Santa Monica fails the CVRA test, then no city could pass." Notably, in that same 

8 interview Defendant's counsel stated that CVRA cases are ''so costly and time-consuming." 

9 A true and correct copy of the August l, 2018 Law.com article, titled "ln Rare California 

10 Voting Rights Trial, Gibson Dunn Steps Up for Santa Monica," is attached hereto as Exhibit 

11 G. Defendant and its counsel were not the only ones to doubt whether Plaintiffs would

l2 prevail in this case - prior to filing this case, I invited the law firm of Goldstein Borgen 

13 Dardarian & Ho LLP as well as the Mexican American Legal Defense and Education Fund 

14 ("MALDEF") to join us on this case but they both declined. Fortunately, other political 

15 subdivisions have learned from Defendant's miscalculation; since this Court decided in favor 

16 of Plaintiffs, many other political subdivisions in California have eliminated their potentially 

17 dilutive at-large election systems, without the need for any lawsuit, as demonstrated by, for 

18 example, the recent reporting of the Marin Independent Journal (a true and correct copy of 

19 which is attached as Exhibit H). 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Billing Rates 

19. Shenkman & Hughes PC charges our hourly-paying clients $815 per hour for

my time, $740 per hour for Ms. Hughes' time, and $615 per hour for Ms. Alarcon's time. 

Mr. Jones no longer works for Shenkman & Hughes PC, but in his years with Shenkman & 

Hughes PC, Mr. Jones' billing rate was always the same as that of Ms. Hughes (which is 

$740 per hour). We have, in some instances, charged a blended rate for our services. In 

those instances where we detennine a blended rate is appropriate, that blended rate is $715 

per hour. 
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20. In 2014, our finn's attorney rate (at that time, for Ms. Hughes, Mr. Jones and

myself) was $550 per hour, and that rate was approved by the Los Angeles Superior Court 

for our work in Jauregui v. City of Palmdale. Since that time, in response to significant 

demand for my services and the services of other Shenkman & Hughes' attorneys, we have 

increased our respective rates several times, to the current rates stated above. Those rate 

increases have not resulted in any decrease in demand for our services; if anything1 the 

demand for our services has continued to increase well beyond our capacity. 

21. In addition to gauging the demand for our services, we arrived at our rates by

surveying the rates charged by attorneys with comparable education, skill, experience and 

past results. Our rates are generally consistent with the billing rates suggested by the 

Updated Laffey Matrix for attorneys with our respective experience. The Updated Laffey 

Matrix suggests an hourly rate of: $685 for Ms. Alarcon - higher than her current rate of 

$61 S; and $742 for Ms. Hughes - slightly higher than her current rate of $740. While my 

hourly rate of $815 is slightly higher than that suggested by the Updated Laffey Matrix 

($740), I believe my exceptional experience and results warrant a rate greater than that 

suggested by the Updated Laffey Matrix. Specifically, very few attorneys with less than 

twenty years of experience have been lead counsel in the sort of notable trial victories as 

Jauregui v. City of Palmdale and Garrett v. City of Highland as wel1 as a rare trial of a 

certified class action, and no other attorneys of any experience-level can claim greater 

experience with the CVRA. Even Breitbart, while criticizing our work and the CVRA more 

generally, conceded that I am "one of the most prolific and successful civil rights lawyers of 

his generation." A true and correct copy of the Updated Laffey Matrix is attached as 

Exhibit I. 

22. The demand for my services, as well as other attorneys with Shenkman &

Hughes PC, has increased dramatically, particularly over the last seven years. I believe that 

significant increase in demand for our services is the result of, among other things, three 

recent notable victories our firm has achieved. First, as discussed above, in 2013 we 
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prevailed in the first-ever trial of a case brought under the CVRA, and prevailed in the 

appeal of that same case in 2014. Second, later in 2014, we prevailed in a rare trial of a 

certified class action, wherein the jury awarded the class of approximately 2500 consumers 

we represented more than $4.3 mi11ion, including punitive damages. Third, as discussed 

above, in January 2016 we prevailed in the second-ever trial of a case brought under the 

CVRA. 

23. The hourly rates of the attorneys at Shenkman & Hughes PC are also modest

in comparison to the rates charged by Defendant's attorneys - Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 

- over whom we prevailed in this case. For example, filings in other cases reveal both the

historic rates of the particular Gibson Dunn & Crutcher attorneys who worked on this case, 

as well as the rate' of annual increase in their rates: in 2009 Marcellus McRae's billing rate 

was $785 per hour; William Thomson's rate increased from $66S per hour in 2011 to 

$864.50 per hour in 2014; Kahn Scolnick's rate increased from $641.25 per hour in 2012 to 

$764.75 in 2014; and Tiaunia Henry's (f/k/a Tiaunia Bedell) rate increased from $508.25 in 

2011 to $631.75 in 2013. This indicates an annual rate increase of 9.5% - 12%, reflecting 

both the increase in the prices for legal services generally and the increased skill and 

expertise attorneys gain through additional years of practice. A true and correct copy of the 

relevant pages of court filings showing the historic rates of Mr. McRae, Mr. Thomson, Mr. 

Scolnick and Ms. Henry are collectively attached hereto as Exhibit J. A court filing in 

another case also reveals Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP's blended rates for 2018 for non­

bankruptcy attorneys and paralegals: $1,117 per hour for partners; $870 per hour for 

"counsel"; $710 per hour for associates; and $399 per hour for paralegals. That same court 

filing also reveals the 2019 hourly rates of particular Gibson Dunn & Crutcher attorneys 

along with their respective dates of admission to practice law. Based on that court filing, if 

Ms. Hughes, Mr. Jones and I were at Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP (where both Ms. 

Hughes and I worked at one point in our respective careers), our billing rate would be 

approximately $1,275 per hour. If Ms. Alarcon were at Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP, her 
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biJling rate would be approximately $900 per hour. A true and correct copy of relevant 

pages of the court filing showing the blended rates charged by Gibson Dunn & Crutcher in 

2018 as well as the specific rates of various Gibson Dunn & Crutcher attorneys and 

paralegals in 2018 and 2019 is attached hereto as Exhibit K. 

Billing Records 

24. The attorneys with Shenkman & Hughes PC maintain contemporaneous time

records. Attached hereto as Exhibit L is a true and correct copy of the contemporaneous 

records of time reasonably spent by Shenkman & Hughes PC's attorneys in this case. I 

personally reviewed the time records of each Shenkman & Hughes PC attorney, and 

exercised my billing judgment in deleting approximately 240 hours of time that did not 

appear reasonably necessary or reflected small amounts of time for minor tasks. In total, after 

those reductions, Shenkman & Hughes PC attorneys spent 7786.3 hours pursuing this case. 

25. To assist the evaluation of our billings, particularly due to the volume of billing

entries, I have also categorized the time by task. Attached hereto as Exhibit M is a true and 

correct copy of the summary "time-and-task" chart that I prepared from the contemporaneous 

time records. 

26. Particularly m light of the anticipated complexity of this case and my

recognition that Defendant would put up a significant fight, I invited several firms to join 

Shenkman & Hughes in pursuit of this case. I asked Milton Grimes to join us as co-counsel 

due to his exceptional trial experience and understanding of racial issues and how to present 

sensitive racial issues at trial. I asked Rex Parris and his finn to join us as co-counsel 

similarly due to their exceptional trial experience. Finally, I asked Robert Rubin to join us as 

co-counsel due to his experience and knowledge in the field of voting rights. Each of these 

firms has been involved in this case since April 2016 when the original Complaint was filed. 

Though my colleagues at Shenkman & Hughes and I did the majority of the work on this 

case, the contributions of these three other finns proved to be invaluable at various points in 

this case; without them it would have been nearly impossible to compete with the resources 
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1 and manpower of Defendanfs counsel, both Defendant's in-house city attorneys and outside 

2 counsel at Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP. 

3 27. While the involvement of multiple law firms was essential to the litigation and

4 trial of this case, it also posed challenges in avoiding the duplication of work. Even with 

5 these other law finns, we could never match the combined resources and manpower of 

6 Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP and Defendant with its well-staffed city attorney's office, so 

7 we needed to be efficient in the way that we litigated and tried this case; we did not have the 

8 luxury of duplicating each other's work. Though some duplication of work was inevitable, 

9 and even occasionally desirable in limited circumstances, we minimized any duplication of 

10 work by implementing a clear system for allocating work. Specifically, I was responsible for 

11 allocating and coordinating all work by all attorneys, as well as overall case strategy. While 

12 attorneys at firms other than Shenkman & Hughes necessarily kept abreast of the events, facts 

13 and law of the case, so that they had at least a basic understanding of the case to allow them 

14 to do their work when called upon, those other attorneys handled only work, issues and 

15 matters as I directed. My allocation of work was principally guided by the unique strengths 

16 of each attorney. For instance, Mr. Parris and Mr. Grimes are accomplished and skilled trial 

17 attorneys; and Mr. Rubin has decades of experience in voting rights. Additionally, Mr. Parris 

18 has experience in municipal government, having served as Mayor of Lancaster for over a 

19 decade, and Mr. Grimes has first-hand experience in the civil rights movement - both 

20 important in this case. I took these strengths (and others) into account in assigning various 

21 tasks, issues and work to each co-counsel finn as well as among the attorneys within 

22 Shenkman & Hughes. Oftentimes work in this case required the involvement of more than 

23 one attorney or firm, and I have always found that it is beneficial to the ultimate work product 

24 to have attorneys discuss issues with one another, however, by maintaining responsibility for 

25 the allocation of all work in the first instance, I was able to minimize duplication of efforts in 

26 this case. 

27 28. While the amount of work required of plaintiffs' attorneys is often greater than

28 that of defendants' attorneys, particularly because plaintiffs generally bear the burden of 
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1 proof, the number of hours expended, and the amount of attorneys' fees incurred, by a non-

2 prevailing party can sometimes be informative of the reasonableness of the prevailing parties' 

3 fees. For the sake of comparison, the defendant in Jauregui v. Palmdale revealed, in 

4 opposing the plaintiffs' first fees motion, that its counsel had worked approximately 2850 

5 hours through the entry of judgment; and the court found 4363 .9 hours expended by 

6 plaintiffs' counsel to be reasonable. 

7 29. In order to make the comparison in this case, I directed Marci Hilsinger, a

8 paralegal at the Parris Law Firm, to submit a California Public Records Act ("CPRA") 

9 request to Defendant for: the aggregate total amount of money paid by Defendant to Gibson 

1 o Dunn & Crutcher LLP by producing all warrants approved by its city council for payments to 

11 Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP; and the billing rates charged by each of Defendant's attorneys 

12 in this case by producing the agreement approved by Defendant's city council for legal 

13 services by Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP. Defendant refused to provide any of this 

14 information, and asserted that it would not provide any information at all. A true and correct 

15 copy of Defendanfs response to the CPRA request is attached hereto as Exhibit N.

16 30. We are not the only ones who have sought to uncover this information

17 concerning Defendant's expenditure of public funds on lawyers to defend its council 

18 members' self-interested decision to cling to the racially discriminatory at-large election 

19 system. As the Santa Monica Lookout reported on March 5, 2019, that newspaper also 

20 requested the same information, and that request was similarly refused by Defendant. A true 

21 and correct copy of the March 5, 2019 article in the Santa Monica Lookout, titled "City 

22 Officials Won't Reveal Cost of Voting Rights Lawsuit Until Case is Closed" is attached 

23 hereto as Exhibit 0.

24 

25 Fee Awards in Other CVRA Cases 

26 3 I. Based on being plaintiffs counsel in a significant portion of the CVRA 

27 litigation to date, as well as developing relationships with nearly all other attorneys who have 

28 

SHENKMAN DECLARATION 

421



worked on any CVRA litigation at all, I am familiar with the conduct and fees awards in 

2 nearly all CVRA cases. 

3 32. In Jauregui v. City of Palmdale, fo1lowing an eight-day trial and an appeal of

4 the preliminary injunction issued in that case, the court ultimately awarded Plaintiffs' counsel 

5 over $4.6 million. In Sanchez v. City of Modesto, the defendant paid $3 million - a case in 

6 which the trial court granted the defendant's motion for judgment on the pleadings less than a 

7 year after the complaint was filed, but was then reversed by an intermediate appellate court, 

8 and the case settled with no further litigation activity. Notably, Defendant's counsel (before 

9 he retired), George Brown, represented the plaintiff in Sanchez v. City of Modesto. In 

10 Yumori-Kaku v. City of Santa Clara, the court recently awarded more than $3.1 million in 

11 fees after one year of litigation culminating in a five-day trial. 

12 33. None of those cases was even remotely as lengthy, hard-fought and extensive as

13 the instant case. Up until this case, Jauregui v. City of Palmdale was the hardest-fought 

14 CVRA case. Jauregui required an 8-day trial approximately one year after the case was filed; 

15 the trial of this case lasted six weeks and began more than two years after the case was filed. 

16 For comparison, in Jauregui there were six (6) fact witness depositions, all but one of which 

17 lasted less than three hours; in this case there were twenty-four (24) fact witness depositions. 

18 In Jauregui, there were two (2) discovery motions; in this case there were thirty-one (31) 

19 discovery motions. I have been involved in the litigation of multi-million dollar cases since 

20 being admitted to practice law in 2002, and even a multi-billion dollar case that reached the 

21 U.S. Supreme Court (MGM Studios, Inc. v. Grokster, Ltd. (2005) 545 U.S. 913); none of

22 those cases have been as hard-fought, extensive, and physically and emotionally taxing as 

23 this case. 

24 

25 Expenses 

26 34. In the course of litigating the above-captioned case, Shenkman & Hughes PC

27 incurred significant expenses - the majority of which were expert witness fees. Through a 

28 query of our firm's accounting system, I was able to retrieve a summary of the expenses, 
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excluding expert witness fees, incurred in connection with the above-captioned case. 

Attached hereto, collectively, as Exhibit P is a true and correct copy of that summary, 

organized by expense type (e.g. travel, filing and messenger fees, and meals). 

35. The majority of the expenses incurred in this case were for expert witnesses /

consultants. Specifically, expert demographer David Ely with Compass Demographics, Inc., 

Caltech Professor J. Morgan Kousser, an expert on racially polarized voting, history and 

elections, survey expert Jonathan Brown and Loyola Law School professor Justin Levitt were 

invaluable in the development and trial of this case. Their invoices totaled $97,482.76� 

$394,712.50; $30,250.00 and $90,155.00, respectively, for work through the entry of 

judgment on February 13, 2019. True and correct copies of their invoices for the work they 

performed on this case are attached collectively as Exhibit Q. Note that while Professor 

Levitt's invoice is for $91,430, a small portion of that invoice is for work after entry of 

judgment, and so Plaintiffs seek reimbursement of only $90,155 for Professor Levitt's work 

at this time. 

36. In total, other than small items for which Shenkman & Hughes does not track

and therefore does not seek to recover, Shenkman & Hughes incurred a total of $633,221.04 

in expenses in pursuit of this case. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed this 3rd day of June 2019, at Malibu, California. 

Kevin I. Shenkman 
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Client ID: Pico Neighborhood Assn, et al. 

Matter ID: City of Santa Monica 

01-01-2015 - 02-13-2019

Attorney Time Detail 

Date Attorney Task 
6/25/15 KIS Discussion with C. Foster re: 0. de la Torre, Pico Youth Center, 

and desire to bring district elections to Santa Monica; quick 
research regarding CVRA appllcablility. 

6/26/15 KIS Telephone conversation with 0. de la Torre; further research 
issues raised by 0. de la Torre. 

6/30/15 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya 
regarding potential case against City of Santa Monica under 
the California Voting Rights Act of 2001. 

7/1/15 KIS Discuss potential case against Santa Monica with M. Kousser, 
particularly M. Kousser's previous work for Santa Monica; 
review M. Kousser's report from 1992. 

7/2/15 MRH Review both current and historic demographics of Santa 
Monica; pull key data from US Census 

7/3/lS MRH Review election history of Santa Monica; gather historical 
election data from Los Angeles County Registrar 

7/S/lS MRH Prepare memorandum comparing Santa Monica demographics 
and voting patterns to benchmark political subdivisions, 
including summary spreadsheet of historical elections and 
demographics of Santa Monica. 

7/6/15 MRH Continue work on memorandum comparing Santa Monica 
demographics and voting patterns to benchmark political 
subdivisions, including summary spreadsheet of historical 
elections and demographics of Santa Monica. 

7/7/15 MRH Travel to/from Caltech and meet with M. Kousser regarding 
past work on Santa Monica and potential case against Santa 
Monica. 

7/8/15 KIS Review summary memorandum on potential Santa Monica 
case and meet with M. Hughes to discuss. 

7/8/15 MRH Meeting with K. Shenkman regarding potential Santa Monica 
case. 

7/9/15 KIS Discuss intentional discrimination law and demographic 
concentration with M. Hughes. 

7/9/15 MRH Research regarding intentional discrimination and 
neighborhood level demographics of Santa Monica, discuss 
same with K. Shenkman. 

7/10/15 MRH Travel to/from Compass Demographics and meet with D. Ely 
regarding potential case against Santa Monica. 

7/13/15 MRH Travel to/from Caltech and meet with M. Kousser regarding 
intentional discrimination and potential case against Santa 
Monica. 

Hours 
3.4 

4.9 

5.9 

3.5 

5.7 

7.4 

10.8 

6.3 

8.1 

4.0 

2.0 

2.5 

9.1 

7.5 

9.3 
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7/14/15 MRH 

-

7/20/15 MRH 

--

7/21/15 MRH 

7/22/15 MRH 

7/23/15 MRH 

7/24/15 MRH 

7/24/15 KIS 

7/25/15 MRH 

7/27/15 MRH 

7/27/15 JU 

-

7/28/15 MRH 

-- -

7/28/15 JU 

--

7/28/15 KIS 
-·--- · --- -

7/29/15 MRH 

7/30/15 KIS 

'--

8/3/15 MRH 

8/5/15 MRH 

8/13/15 MRH 

8/17/15 MRH 

Travel to/from Caltech and meet with M. Kousser regarding 
potential Equal Protection case against Santa Monica, and 

-
inter _!a_y between CVRA and Intentional discrimination £aSe
Research regarding intentional discrimination and issue of 
federal question and potential for California Constitution 
claim. 
Research regarding intentional discrimination and available 
legal avenues to address same. 
Research equal protection claims and drafting firm 
memorandum. 
Research avenues of addressing intentional discrimination, 
elements of applicable claims, and drafting firm 
memorandum. 

--

Draft firm memorandum regarding issues in potential CVRA 
and Equal Protection case against Santa Monica; discuss same 
with K. Shenkman 

-- - - -- - -

Review firm memorandum and discuss with M. Hughes 
Gather data and information regarding elections of Santa 
Monica and statewide propositions; discuss with experts. 
Travel to/from and meet with D. Ely at Compass Demographics 
to work on Santa Monica potential case and potential impact 
thereof. 

--

Research regarding financial and health disparities in Santa 
Monica, city council decisions, racial appeals in Santa Monica 
campai2ns, discuss with K. Shenkman. 
Gather data and information on exogenous elections of Santa 
Monica. 

- - -·-

Research regarding comparative literacy rates and educational 
outcomes In Santa Monica and historical decisions of Santa 
Monica city council relating to education, focusing on north-
south divide and racial segregation in schools and effect of 
intradlstrict and lnterdistrict transfers; discuss same with K. 

�kman 
-- --

Discuss education issues in Santa Monica with J. Jones. 
- -- - ·-

Travel to/from Caltech and meet with M. Kousser regarding 
potential case against Santa Monica; complle initial ecological 
regression and ecological Inference results 
Call with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya regarding progress and 
ootential case. 
Travel to/from Caltech and meet with M. Kousser regarding 

tential case against Santa Monica 
Travel to/from Caltech and meet with M. Kousser regarding 
potent!� case against Santa Monica 

-

Travel to/from Compass Demographics abd work with D. Ely to 
develop election data sets for RPV analyses. 
Work with Compass Demographics to prepare HPA analysis, 
and creation of maps of elections by precinct. 

--

6.8 

7.3 

5.9 

9.0 

7.5 

10.2 

.__. -·-

4.4 

7.7 

7.5 

B.2

,_ 

7.0 

,._ -

9.4 

1.5 

7.9 

0.7 

6.5 

7.1 

8.3 

6.9 
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8/20/15 MRH 

-

8/21/15 MRH 

-

8/25/15 MRH 

8/26/15 MRH 

8/27/15 MRH 

- -

8/28/15 MRH 

--
8/28/15 KIS 

--

8/30/15 KIS 

9/4/15 KIS 

--

9/7/15 JU 

9/8/15 JU 

9/9/15 JU 

9/9/15 KIS 

9/10/15 JU 

9/11/15 JU 

9/14/15 JU 

9/29/15 KIS 

10/2/15 KIS 

� 

- ----

Work with Compass Demographics to prepare HPA analysis, 
and creation of maps of endogenous and exogenous elections 

__ b.'l:'....e."�cinct�

-

-

Run rough regression analyses on key elections; discuss same 
with K. Shenkman. 

- -- - -- --

Discuss potential additional exogenous elections for further 
analysis with K. Shenkman, M. Kousser and D. Ely; gather 
Information regarding exogenous elections; discuss with 
experts and K. Shenkman. 
Compile research and findings and prepare summary firm 
memorandum and recommendations. 
Compile research and findings, further legal research 
concerning potential case against Santa Monica, and prepare 
summary firm memorandum and recommendations. 
Revise, finalize firm memorandum re potential Santa Monica 
case; discuss same with K. Shenkman 

--

Review summary firm memorandum regarding Santa Monica 
and discuss with M. Hughes. 

-- ---

Review firm memorandum and Kousser 1992 report; draft and 
circulate demand letter and respond to comments. 
Travel to/from and meet with Pico Neighborhood activists 
regarding potential case and district election outreach 
campaign. 
Research campaign spending, sources of funds financing 
campaigns, endorsements tied to electoral success in Santa 
Monica 
Investigate history of discrimination in Santa Monica, 
representation In local government, boards and commissions, 
and historical and recent decisions of Santa Monica city 
council. 

---

Investigate history of discrimination in Santa Monica and 
compile theses on the subject. 
Travel to/from and meet with O. de la Torre and M. Loya 
regarding district election public campaign and organizing 
effort 
Research racial appeals In Santa Monica elections 
(endogenous and exogenous), racial issues in local politics 
both recent and historic 

--

Continue research on 14028(e) factors; compile research 
materials and prepare summary firm memorandum on 

-·-

7.4 

·-

7.5 

--

7.9 

5.8 

6.0 

--

3.6 

4.5 

5.2 

5.5 

7.5 

8.6 

-

5.3 

4.0 

6.4 

8.9 

!_4028(e) facto'!._ 
-- -1-

Draft summary firm memorandum on 14028e factors 
Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre re: Santa Monica 
campaign and potential case and outreach to Latino leaders. 
Discuss potential case and tour Santa Monica's Pico 
Neighborhood with M. Grimes 

4.0 
3.6 

5.0 

-
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10/15/15 KIS Review firm memoranda In preparation for meeting with Santa 6.3 

Monica activists; meet with O. de la Torre and Pico Youth 
Center staff. 

10/16/15 KIS Meet with M. Loya and 0. de la Torre about Santa Monica case 3.8 

and public campaign 
10/16/15 MRH Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya to 3.8 

discuss initial findings and potential case. 
10/19/15 MRH Work on materials for Santa Monica outreach campaign for 5.1 

district elections 
10/20/15 MRH Work on powerpoint and FAQs for outreach campaign for 5.S

district elections 
10/26/15 MRH Revise powerpoint and FAQs for outreach campaign for district 4,6 

elections, discuss with 0. de la Torre 
10/30/15 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya to 4.9 

prepare materials for community activist workshop. 
10/30/15 MRH Work with M. Loya and o. de la Torre in advance of rollout 4.9 

. meeting 
11/3/15 KIS Travel to/from and participate in community activist workshop 4.5 

on district elections and history in Santa Monica to discuss 
CVRA and process. 

11/3/15 MRH Santa Monica district election campaign rollout meeting 4.5 

11/9/15 JU Research regarding procedural path of Santa Monica to 6.8 

change \ts election system voluntarily through political process 
and/or through court intervention in light of city charter, 
review applicable Government Code and Elections Code 
sections; discuss with K. Shenkman. 

11/10/15 JU Research federal voting rights cases outside California to 8.0 

develop potential paths for voluntary changes to election 
system of Santa Monica despite city charter 

11/11/15 JU Research FVRA preclearance and effect cases for election 7.7 

changes In context of settlements not effected through 
consent decrees or judgments, to develop potential paths for 
voluntary election change In Santa Monica. 

11/12/15 JU Research charter status and contents of jurisdictions making 8.1 

electoral changes in response to allegations of votlns rights 
and election law violations in and outside of California and 
discuss with K. Shenkman for applicability to Santa Monica. 

11/13/15 JU Research availability of voluntary election change In Santa 9.8 

Monica in light of charter and Jauresui decision; draft 
summary firm memorandum regarding same. 

11/17/15 KIS Travel to/from and meet with T. Vazquez and O. de la Torre, 5.0 

and then meet with 0. de la Torre and Pico Center staff 
thereafter 

11/25/15 KIS Review report re police misconduct of SMPD asainst 0. de la 2.0 

Torre; discuss same with 0. de la Torre 
12/13/15 KIS Draft press release for Santa Monica rollout 1.0 
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12/14/15 

12/15/15 

12/20/15 

12/28/15 

1/4/16 

1/12/16 

KIS 

KIS 

Revise press release, discussions with 0. de la Torre and M. 1.2 
Loya re same. ____________________ ___, 
Rally in support of adopting district elections at SM city hall, 3.7 
deliver demand, discuss with SM Daily Press, discuss with SM 

i---------+-C
_
l�ty_AttorneyM.Moutr_L __ _ __ ___ _ 

KIS 

KIS 

KIS 

KIS 

Deal with M. Feinstein opposition; discuss situation with CfER 2.5 
and FairVote leadership.

--Evaluate correspo_n_d_e�n-ce-f- ro_ m_M ___ M_o-ut- r-ie_s_a-yi_n _g -clt_ y_ w_ill _____ 0_.8 __
address the demand letter at Jan 12 meeting; discuss with O. 
de la Torre re next steps. 
Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya 
regarding Santa Monica, efforts to obtain districts, and 
potential case. 
Meet with O de la Torre and attend city council meeting 
therafter 

6.8 

4.7 

---+------¾-----------------------+- ---

1/15/16 KIS Correspondence with T. Vazquez re support for district 0.4 
elections and other issues -- -- -- ------------+-----;

1/23/16 KIS .:._;__.-1------+--Ca_l _l w_ith T. Vazquez and follow u thereafter 1.9 
-----+--

2/4/16 MRH 

2/5/16 MRH 

,__ ---

2/12/16 JU 

Identify potential experts regarding discrimination and 
disparities in Santa Monica; research background of same; 

5. 5

discuss potential engagement by phone . 
Identify potential experts regarding discrimination and---4.8 
disparities in Santa Monica; research background of same; 
discuss potential engagement b _phone

.__ 
______________ -1Gather Initial research on Santa Monica and racially-polarized 3.2 

voting analysis; begin synthesizing research; for preparation of 
firm summa memorandum. 

- --+------+- -- -- - - - - - - - -

2/13/16 

2/14/16 

2/17/16 
2/22/16 

JU Research and drafting firm summary memorandum for 5.7 
potential Santa Monica OJRA case. 

JU Revise and finalize S&H firm summary memorandum regarding 4.4 
potential Santa Monica CVRA case; circulate and discuss same 

---�-

MRH Travel to/from and meet with potential 14028(e) experts 6.6 
MRH 5.9 

->- -

Work w/ D. Ely on potential remedies In light of potential 
challenge based on lack of majority-minority district 

-Research potential for single-member and mult-i-_m_e_m_ b_e_r _
_ 

+--5-.6----;2/24/16 MRH 

2/26/16 MRH 
districts and combination of remedies 
Continue research regarding potential remedies and elections 6.8 

systems employed in South Dakota and New Hampshire, draft 
---+-------1-firm memorandum concerning same. 

_ 
__ 

2/29/16 MRH 

3/1/16 MRH 

3/4/16 KIS 

Continue research regarding remedies and charter city 6.4 
authority to enact remedies inconsistent with charter, 

_ _E>ntinue drafting firm memorandum concerning sam_....;;e_. -----4----1 
Further research and complete firm summary memorandum 6.3 
concerning flexibility and availability of com bi nation remedies 
inconsistent and consistent with charter enactments. 
Discuss potential case with Pico Neighborhood activists and 4.9 
breakout groups regarding district election campaign 
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3/7/16 KIS Discuss potential CVRA case against Santa Monica and 3.0 

provisions of Santa Monica city charter with AMPS leaders. 

3/8/16 KIS Research regarding Education Code, county committee 4.5 

authority on election changes, and effect of Santa Monica 
charter and potential effect thereon of case against City of 
Santa Monica 

3/9/16 KIS Further discussion with AMPS leaders regarding Involvement / 1.7 

support of potential case against City of Santa Monica 

3/9/16 MRH Discuss AMPS role with K. Shenkman, research regarding 2.8 
Education Code and potential impact of finding of CVRA 
violation and/or Equal Protection violation. 

3/10/16 MRH Research regarding potential effect of court findings on 5.7 
charter provisions on county committee authority under Ed 
Code 5019; bei;iin drafting memorandum re same. 

3/11/16 MRH Further research and finalize firm memorandum regarding 6.0 
potential impact of CVRA/Equal Protection declaration 
concerning Santa Monica city charter on county committee 
authority 

3/14/16 MRH Research regarding standing of Pico Neighborhood Association 6.2 
and AMPS, based on membership and interests. 

3/15/16 MRH Discussion with 0. de la Torre concerning Pico Neighborhood 3.9 
Association membership and Interests; further research 
regarding standing of Pico Neighborhood Association and 
AMPS, based on membership and interests. 

3/17/16 MRH Research regarding standing of AMPS and Pico Neighborhood 2.6 
Association; draft firm memorandum regarding same, 

3/18/16 MRH Research regarding standing of AMPS and Pico Neighborhood 4.5 
Association; draft firm memorandum regarding same. 

3/20/16 KIS Review memorandum concerning organizations' standing; 1.0 

discussion with AMPS leadership regarding same and potential 
involvement in case. 

3/23/16 KIS Research equal protection claim and potential for removal 2.4 
based on federal question. 

3/24/16 KIS Research regarding standards under equal protection clauses 3.5 
in US and Cal Constitutions; discuss same with M. Hughes. 

3/25/16 KIS Research regarding relative standards under federal and 4.8 

California constitutions for equal protection claims and similar 
claims under other provisions of federal and state 
constitutions 

3/26/16 KIS Research regarding relative standards under federal and 6.0 

California constitutions for equal protection claims and similar 
claims under other provisions of federal and state 
constitutions 

3/28/16 KIS Research and begin drafting firm memorandum regarding 4.3 
relative standards under federal and California constitutions 
for equal protection claims and similar claims under other 
provisions of federal and state constitutions 
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3/29/16 KIS Research concerning desirability of asserting equal protection 5.1 
claim under US and/or California constitutions; drafting 
memorandum on same. 

3/31/16 KIS Further research, drafting, revising memorandum regarding 5.9 
relative standards under US and Cal Constitutions and 
availability of removal based on claims, defenses and 
allegations asserted 

4/1/16 KIS Revise memorandum on equal protection claim and potential 3.3 
removal; circulate same and discuss with M. Hughes 

4/2/16 KIS Drafting complaint and reviewing demographic and election 2.9 
information and firm memoranda for the same; discuss same 

4/3/16 KIS Drafting complaint and reviewing demographic and election 4.6 
information for the same, coordinate with Pico activists on 
press and organizational effort. 

4/5/16 MRH Finalizing complaint for filing, draft summons and civil case 1.1 
coversheet 

4/6/16 KIS Review complaint; discuss with R. Rubin and concerns re 0.9 

removal 
4/7/16 KIS Work with Pico Neighborhood activists and AMPS leadership 2.0 

on publicity and organizational effort to coincide with 
complaint filing. 

4/8/16 KIS Work with Pico Neighborhood activists and AMPS leadership 0.8 
on publicity and organizational effort to coincide with 
complaint filing, call with R. Rubin re: same 

4/11/16 KIS Draft, revise, finalize press release regarding case filing and 1.8 

coordinate rollout with Pico Neighborhood activists. 
4/13/16 MRH Research regarding Judge Palazuelos to determine whether to 2.4 

file 170.6 challenge, and discuss experiences with Palazuelos 
with attorneys appearing In her courtroom previously. 

4/13/16 KIS Discuss case with local press. 1.3 
4/14/16 KIS Deal with retaliation by Santa Monica for case filing; 3.5 

discussions with 0. de la Torre, M. Sweetmore and C. Foster 
among others regarding same. 

4/15/16 KIS Further deal with retaliation by Santa Monica related to MUNC 6.6 
walkout from negotiations, discuss same with press, 
conference call with AMPS leadership; discuss same and 
potential impact on SMMUSD with its attorney (M. Foster). 

4/16/16 KIS Travel to/from and meet with L. Rosenthal, C. Foster, M. 4.5 
Sweetmore and R. Israel regarding MUNC walkout retaliation 
and AMPS role 

4/17/16 KIS Discussions wlth AMPS leadership, Malibu city staff, Pico 6.9 
Neighborhood activists etc. regarding MUNC situation and 
AMPS continued role; field press inquiries; draft resignation 
letter and formulate press strategy for same. 

4/18/16 KIS Revise MUNC resignation letter; deal with aftermath of 5.9 
resignation letter; field press inquiries regarding same and 
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4/19/16 KIS 

L--

4/20/16 KIS 

4/21/16 KiS 

4/22/16 KIS 
4/25/16 MRH 

4/26/16 MRH 

4/27/16 MRH 

.,__ 

4/28/16 MRH 

5/2/16 KIS 

5/3/16 MRH 

5/9/16 KIS 

'-

5/11/16 KIS 

-

5/18/16 KIS 

- ---,-

5/19/16 MRH 

5/24/16 KIS 

'-

5/26/16 KIS 

---

5/28/16 KIS 

-

voting rights case generally, call with R. Rubin regarding 
interolav between case and school district 
Discussions with local press, AMPS leadership and Pico 4.4 
Neighborhood activists regarding resignation and respons eto 
Santa Monica retaliation; draft correspondence re: same. 
Correspondence and discussions with M. Moutrie, T. larm ore, 4.5 

0 s. Peak and C. Foster regarding Santa Monica's response t 
lawsuit and aftermath of retaliation
Research regarding historical elections and draft first set o f 5.3 
discovery requests to Santa Monica
Draft first set of discove_ry requests to Santa Monica 2.5 

Research regarding ethical obligations due to split in inter ests 7.3 
between AMPS and Pico plaintiffs
Research regarding ethical obligations due to split in inter ests 6.4 
between AMPS and Pico plaintiffs, and Impact of various
alternatives on NM ability to represent Santa Monica.
Further research regarding ethical obligations due to AMP S 6.8 
desire to withdraw from case and potential for maintainin g
conflict for NM .

Further research regarding ethical obligations re AMPS-P NA 7.0 
split and impact on NM conflict; drafting firm memorandu m
regarding same.
Evaluate letter from T. Larmore regarding intention to ret urn

sto MUNC task because of K. Shenkman resignation; discus 
same and course of action re AMPS with M. Sweetmore.

0.7 

Continue research regarding course of action in light of A MPS 7.2 
request; investigate Santa Monica's process of retaining
counsel; complete firm memorandum regarding ethical an d
suggested course of action.
Discussion with R. Simon regarding airport dispute and 3.8 

potential for collaboration; lnvesti�ate same thereafter.
Travel to/from and meet with R. Simon and N. Rubin rega rding 2.9 
potential collaboration and politics of airport 11nd Santa
Monica more generally.

--

Evaluate Santa Monica's Answer; research for potential
demurrer to answer; discuss with M. Hughes.

2.2 

Research regarding potential demurrer to answer, proprie ty of 4.9 
eramending answer and need for leave of court, and wheth 

pleading challenge to answer can prevent amendment of
answer.

Call with J. Shachtner re discovery, retaliation, and case 
generally; Investigate contentions of J. Shachtner; draft 
corres ondence regarding deposition dates ____
Correspondence with J. Shachtner re discovery, retaliatio n,

and case generally 
--- --

Evaluate amended answer, compare for inconsistency; 
research regarding sham pleadings and potential action. 

1.5 

1.9 

4.0 
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6/1/16 KIS 
6/3/16 KIS 

6/6/16 KIS 

6/7/16 KIS 

6/10/16 Kl$ 

Evaluate deficient discovery responses from Defendant 

Drafting meet and confer letters in response to deficient 

discovery responses. 
Research and d rafting meet and confer letters in response to 
deficient discovery respo nses. 
Review supplementary discovery responses from Defendant; 

1.0 
2.5 

3.1 

3.8 
discuss with M. Hughes. ----�-1---_ 
Drafting meet and confer letters in response to Defendant's 
supplemental discovery responses; research propriety of 
supplementing RFA responses in inconsistent manner and 

5.9 

1-------1-------1-'a.;.cio..;._01ro:.ip:..;.r_ia_te_ac'-t _io_n_i _n ---'respo:..:...:..:n=-se=-t=-h:..::e..:..:re:..;t=.o:....· --------.-------, 
6/17/16 

6/20/16 

6/21/16 

6/22/16 
6/23/16 

6/24/16 

6/24/16 

6/27/16 

6/28/16 

6/28/16 

KIS 

KIS 

KIS 

KIS 
KIS 

KIS 

MRH 

MRH 

KIS 

MRH 

6/29/16- 1<1s

7/8/16 KIS 

7/8/16 MRH 

7/11/16 KIS 

Evaluate SMDP article regarding Pico Neighborhood political 
organization and Sanders-Clinton primary results; investigate 

precinct level results and O. de la Torre involvement in 
Sanders campaign. 
Review discovery responses and drafting meet and confer 
letters 

4.8 

4.7 

Review discovery responses and drafting meet and confer 2.6 
letters 
Review documents produced by Defendant _ 4.1 
Review documents produced by Defendant; prepare summary 5.6 
of council actions and consideration
Review documents produced by Defendant; prepare summary; 6.8 
investigate council and political action following 1992 meeting 
Document review and preparing spreadsheets for historical 7.0 
elections. 
Document review and preparing spreadsheets for historical 5.2 
elections. 

-------------------!--- -

Review discovery responses and drafting meet and confer 3.9 
letters; finalize meet and confer letter regarding special 
interrogatories 

-□ocument ,�view and preparing spreadsheets for historical --5.9
e lections. 

- - - -

Review discovery responses and drafting meet and confer 4.5
letters; finalize meet and confer letters regarding first and
second sets of requests for production of documents and form

-

interrogato_r_ie_ s _ __________________ --1------1 

-Evaluate correspondence regarding counsel change; discuss 0.4 
with M. Hughes 

-,- ----< 

Investigate Gibson Dunn experience in CVRA cases; review 5.3 
previously obtained briefs by Gibson attorneys on CVRA case; 
discuss with K. Shenkman 

-------

Review discovery requests and responses; prepa re for and 
participate in conference call with Defendant's new counsel; 

3.3 

MRH

1------1-------,1-d_i_scuss_c_as_e strateav with R. Ru_b_ln_ t_h_e_re_a_ft_e_r _______ .._ ___ --l 

7/11/16 Evaluate options with respect to AMPS in light of new counsel 1.0 
identification and discuss same with K. Shenkman 
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7/12/16 KIS Discussions with AMPS leadership, and separately with Pico 1.2 
Neighborhood plaintiffs, regarding plan to remove AMPS from 
case. 

7/13/16 KIS Draft meet and confer letter regarding document production. 1.5 

7/14/16 MRH Investigate T. Vazauez history 3.8 
7/15/16 KIS Review documents produced and responses to document 2.7 

requests and revise meet and confer letter accordingly. 

7/15/16 MRH Investigate T. Vazquez and M. Leon-Vazquez 5.5 
7/18/16 MRH Investigate council members and actions in late 1980s and 6.9 

early 1990s 
7/19/16 MRH Investigate council members and actions in late 1980s and 6.6 

early 199Ds 
7/20/16 KIS Draft request for dismissal and discuss with AMPS leadership 1.0 

and M. Delrahim. 
7/21/16 KIS Evaluate correspondence from Defendant's counsel along with 3.2 

draft CMS and supplemental discovery responses and 
supplemental document production. 

7/22/16 MRH Review supplemental documents produced by Defendant and 7.0 
work on historical election spreadsheets. 

7/25/16 KIS Review Defendant's draft CMS, draft correspondence 1.2 
regarding same, and draft Plaintiffs' CMS 

7/28/16 KIS Attempt to review supplemental document production,n and 0.3 
correspondence with Defendant's counsel re same. 

7/29/16 KIS Evaluate Defendant's CMS and draft correspondence 1.0 
regardini:! improoriety of same (purporting to be a joint CMS) 

7/30/16 KIS Review supplemental discovery responses and begin drafting 5.6 

correspondence regarding continued deficiencies in responses. 
7/31/16 KIS Evaluate RFA responses and research regarding standard and 4.1 

procedure for denying a oreviously admitted RFA. 
8/1/16 KIS Review supplemental document production, and drafting 3.0 

correspondence regarding continued deficiencies in 
supplemental discovery responses and need for deposition 
dates. 

8/2/16 KIS Review correspondence from Defendant's counsel, revised 1.4 
Defendant's CMS, and further supplemental interrogatory 
responses 

8/3/16 KIS Travel to/from and meet with M. Grimes, J. Karton and I. 3.4 
Jackson to develop case story. 

8/5/16 MRH Review correspondence regarding deposition availability and 4.8 
investigation in preparation for depositions of council 
members 

8/5/16 KIS Evaluate correspondence regarding depositions and discuss 0.6 
same and deposition preparation with M. Hughes. 

8/6/16 MRH Investigation for upcoming depositions of council members 7.3 

8/8/16 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and R. Rubin 3.5 

434



8/9/16 KIS Travel to/from and attend meeting with M. Hughes, 0. de la 
Torre and M. Grimes re case generally and council member 
deoositlons 

i-c8,/'-'9_,_/_16 __ 1-K_I_S ____ c_ a_ll_w_ lt_ h_ R_._R_u_b _ln_r_eg-a_rdin_ CM C and Defendant's counsel 
8/9/16 MRH Meet with K. Shenkman, Oscar De La Torre and Milton Grimes 

regarding deposition investigation and preparation and 
general story/ theme, 

8/10/16 KIS 

8/1 1/16 KIS 

8/12/16 KIS 

Travel to/from and attend CMC and debrief co-counsel and 
clients thereafter. 
Travel to/from and attend meeting with 0. de la Torre 
regarding case and upcoming depositions 
Evaluate Defendant's discovery requests and discuss with J. 
Douglass 

5.4 

0.5 
5.4 

S.O

3.8 

1.8 

'"-'8/'-1_6�/_16 _ _.,_K_I_S __ _____,_D_r_aftlng resoonses to Defendant's discovery requests. 3.5 
'-"8/

,_
1_9

..:..
/_16_-+-K_I_S __ ---1_D_r_aft_in_,,,__�r_es

__,__ponses to Defenda,n..:.t:..;' s:...d
.:;;
i
.::c
sc

:..:
o
.::.
v.::.ery:..L..;.r.::.eq.::1.u::..:e

:..::
s
..:.:
ts.::.. ---+-=S.c.:.1

:...-_-1 
8/22/16 MRH Investigation and preparing deposition outlines for Santa 7.5 

Monica council members. 
l------+-------1---- - -

8/2 4/16 MRH 

8/25/16 MRH 

8/2 9/16 MRH 

9/2/16 KIS 

Investigation and preparing deposition outlines for Santa 
Monica council members. 

-

Investigation and preparing deposition outlines for Santa 
Monica council members. 

----

Investigation and preparing deposition outlines for Santa 
Monica council members. 

--- -- --

Travel to/from and meet with Pico Neighborhood Association 
Board re case u date and outlook. 

6.9 

7.3 

7,4 

4.2 
i---------

9/6/16 KIS 
---------------+----� 

Correspondence w ith Defendant's counsel regarding 
deposition scheduling and location; research regarding 
location of de ositions. 

3.8 

----+-----+---- -------- ---------+------! 

9/7 /16 KIS Research regarding location of depositions and "good cause" 

,_ -

9/9/16 KIS 

for ordering location be different than the default of the CCP; 
discuss w ith R. Parris; call with Defendant's counsel regarding 
location and scheduling ofT. Vazquez deposition and 
de ositions eoln forward. 

· Draft and revise resp�nses to Defendant's first set of discovery 

6.9 

-

3.1 

9/1 1/16 KIS 
requests. 

-Revise and finalize responses to Defendant's discovery -+--2.-6-- -

9/12/16 KIS 

9/1 2/16 MRH 

9/13/16 KIS 

requests. __ 
Review materials for T. Vazquez deposition prepared by M. 3.4 
Hughes and discuss same with M. Hughes

Investigation forT. Vazquez and T. O'Day depositions and--·· 8.3 
discuss with K. Shenkman 
Investigate further for T. Vazquez deposition and prepare for 7.2 
same 

-----

l--'9/
..,_

1_5 ..... /1_ 6 __ 1
-K_IS ___ .j-ln

.....;;
vestlgation and prepare for deposition of T. Vazquez 4. 7

9/16/16 KIS Investigation and preparation for T. Vazquez deposition; 6.S
review, deal w ith and draft response to correspondence from 

-----
Defendant's counsel regarding the same 
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9/19/16 KIS Prepare for deposition ofT. Vazquez 7,8 

9/20/16 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and take deposition of T. Vazquez. 11.3 

9/20/16 MRH Investigation forT. O'Day deposition. 4.9 

9/21/16 KIS Discuss findings on T. O'Day with M. Hughes and continue 5.3 
preparation forT. O'Day deposition; deal with Defendant's 
counsel's continued nonsense regarding the scheduling and 

-
location of deposltlo�s of council members 

-

9/22/16 KIS Continue investigation of T. O'Day actions and Issues; prepare 7.4 
notes outline ofT. O'Day findings and discuss same with R. 
Parris 

9/23/16 KIS Debriefing re T. O'Day deposition and continue to deal with 2.0 
Defendant's counsel's nonsense regarding deposition 
scheduling and location. 

9/26/16 KIS Evaluate Defendant's further supplemental responses to form 1,2 
interrogatories; discuss further action regarding same. 

9/27/16 KIS Research regarding potential actions to compel deposition 5,0

attendance and location and potential for sanctions for 

,____ 
Defendant's cancellation of deposition. 

-

9/28/16 KIS Correspondence back and forth with Defendant's counsel 8.5 
regarding their continued Insistence on Ignoring the CCP 
command about deposition location and their refusal to 
schedule depositions; further research regarding same and 
begin drafting motion to compel completion of T. Vazquez 
deposition. 

- ---

9/29/16 KIS More correspondence back and forth with Defendant's 7.9 
counsel regarding their continued insistence on ignoring the 
CCP command about deposition location and their refusal to 
schedule depositions; drafting motion to compel completion 
ofT. Vazquez deposition, call with R. Rubin re: same. 

9/30/16 KIS Evaluate correspondence from Defendant's counsel purporting 4.8 

to be meet and confer regarding Plaintiffs' discovery 
responses; research regarding sufficiency of meet and confer; 
review discovery resoonses to respond to Defendant's letter 

10/1/16 KIS Review Investigation findings re G. Davis from M. Hughes and 9.2 
discuss same with M. Hughes; further Investigate for G. Davis 
deposition; research regarding voter perception of ethnicity to 

- -,-

_1uide G. D_avis d�_sltlon .9.uestioni�g. ____ 
-

10/2/16 KIS Further investigate for G. Davis deposition and prepare 8.6 
deposition outline; further research regarding voter 
perception of ethnicity in identifying minority candidates; 
discuss with M. Grimes. 

--- - -- --

10/3/16 KIS Review discovery responses referenced in Defendant's letter; 4.5 

-

research sufficiency of same; drafting responsive letter 
10/4/16 KIS Further research regarding sufficiency of discovery responses 7.0 

and impropriety of certain of Defendant's discovery requests, 
and draft letter responding to Defendant's purported meet 
and confer letter 

-
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10/5/16 KIS Further investigation for G. Davis deposition; discuss same 5.6 

with M. Grimes to prepare for deposition. 
10/6/16 KIS Travel to/from and attend deposition of G. Davis. 9.7 

10/7/16 KIS Continue to deal with T. Vazquez deposition scheduling and 2.9 

continued dispute regarding deposition location and draft 
correspondence re same. 

10/10/16 KIS Travel to/from and meet with Parris firm team regarding 6.8 
depositions and case generally, and conference call with 
Defendant's counsel regarding scheduling of T. Vazquez 
deposition and location. 

10/10/16 MRH Meeting with Parris attorneys and staff to coordinate tasks 6.5 
and strategy for case. 

10/11/16 KIS Evaluate correspondence from Defendant's counsel regarding 3.0 
Plaintiffs' discovery responses and review referenced 
discovery responses. 

10/12/16 MRH Review and summarize deposition transcript ofT, Vazquez, 5.6 
and discuss deposition with K. Shenkman 

10/12/16 KIS Discuss first day of deposition of T. Vazquez with M. Hughes 4.7 

and further investigate and prepare for second day of T. 
Vazauez deposition. 

10/13/16 MRH Investigation for McKeown deposition 5.8 

10/14/16 MRH Continue investigation for McKeown deposition, discuss with 7.9 
K. Shenkman and 0. de la Torre (separately), and drafting
deposition outline

10/16/16 KIS Review correspondence from Defendant's counsel regarding 2.6 

discovery responses, research regarding sufficiency of meet 
and confer and draft correspondence re same. 

10/17/16 KIS Draft supplemental responses to Defendant's discovery 4.3 

requests where appropriate 
10/20/16 KIS Draft supplemental responses to Defendant's discovery 4.9 

requests where appropriate, call with R. Rubin regarding 
timing and disclosure of expert opinions 

10/23/16 KIS Draft supplemental responses to Defendant's discovery 2.2 
reauests where appropriate 

10/24/16 i<IS Read and summarize transcript of O'Day deposition and 4.8 

discuss with R. Parris. 
10/25/16 KIS Research and drafting opposition papers to Defendant's ex 9.4 

parte application to advance hearings on 8 motions to compel 
further responses. 

10/26/16 KIS Finalize ex parte opposition papers, travel to/from and attend 8.8 

ex pa rte hearing, debrief co-counsel thereafter, and review 
motion to compel at issue in ex parte. 

10/27/16 KIS Research regarding discovery referee appointment and costs 6.0 
allocation, discuss potential discovery referees with R. Parris, 
correspondence with Defendant's counsel re same, evaluate 8 
motions to compel purportedly necessitating discovery referee 
appointment 
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10/28/16 KIS 

10/31/16 KIS 

11/1/16 KIS 

11/2/16 KIS 

11/2/16 MRH 

11/3/16 KIS 

11/4/16 KIS 

11/7/16 KIS 
·-

11/8/16 KIS 

11/10/16 KIS 

11/11/16 KIS 

11/14/16 KIS 

- --

11/15/16 KIS 

_!!/16/16 KIS 
11/23/16 KIS 

11/27/16 KIS 

,_ -

11/28/16 KIS 

- -

11/29/16 KIS 

-

-

Further research regarding appointment of discovery referee 
and costs therefor and lengthy discussion with Defendant's 
counsel regarding discovery referee and discovery disputes; 
draft correspondence memorializing conversation with 
Defendant's counsel 
Correspondence and further lengthy conversation with 
Defendant's counsel regarding discovery referee and discovery 
disputes, and research in advance of conversation. 
Prepare for, travel to/from and attend continued ex parte 
hearing regarding discovery referee, discuss same with R. 
Parris, and correspondence thereafter regarding same. --

Travel to/from and meet with M. Grimes, M. Hughes, F. Juarez 
and 0. de la Torre, call with R. Rubin thereafter regarding 
discrimination expert 
Meeting at Grimes office with potential local discrimination 
expert. 
Prepare for and participate In lengthy conference with 
Defendant's counsel regarding discovery disputes etc., and 
begin drafting memorializing corres ndence on same. 
Drafting supplemental responses to discovery requests 
consistent with conversations with Defendant's counsel. 

- -

Investigation In preparation of T. Vazquez continuing 
deposition. 

-- --

Research and drafting supplemental responses to discovery 
requests, and draft correspondence memorializing November 
3 conference with Defendant's counsel. 

-----

Preparation for T. Vazquez deposition, investigate 2016 
campaign and precinct totals for sam� __ 
Evaluate correspondence from Defendant's counsel regarding 
discovery disputes, research and working on supplemental 
responses consistent with discussions and letter. 
Further Investigation and preparation for T. Vazquez 
continuing deposition, Including review of previous deposition 
transcript and available videos of T. Vaz�z 
Prepare for, travel to/from and take deposition of T. Vazquez; 
meet with Parris team thereafter 
Call with R. Rubin regarding discovery 
Correspondence with Defendant's counsel regarding discovery 
referee etc. 
-- -

Drafting supplemental discovery responses (RFAs and form 
Interrogatories) in light of discussions with Defendant's 
counsel and research concerning expert discovery timing and 
Impact on RFAs 

8.3 

7.4 

4.9 

--

7.1 

6.0 

3.8 

4.3 

4.2 

5.3 

5.9 

4.0 

7.3 

9.5 

0.3 

1.0 

-

5.5 

-- --

Research and drafting opposition papers for Defendant's ex 
oarte appllca!�n re ardlng discove referee. 

-

Prepare for, travel to/from and attend ex parte hearing 
_.....!:_egarding discovery referee and Defendant's continui!:!I_ 

7.1 

- ---

6.7 

_._ 
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gripes; work with Defendant's counsel on discovery referee 
stipulation and correspondence regarding the same 
thereafter. 

11/30/16 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and Centlnela 5.2 

Valley USD constituents regarding T. Vazquez and M. Leon-
Vazquez transgressions; further deal with discovery referee 
stipulation and confer with R. Parris re same. 

12/1/16 KIS Drafting supplemental discovery responses (RFAs and form 6.3 

interrogatories) In light of discussions with Defendant's 
counsel and research concerning expert discovery timing and 
impact on RFAs 

12/2/16 KIS Drafting supplemental responses to document requests In 5.4 

light of discussions with Defendant's counsel and research 
concerning expert discovery timing and good cause 
requirement for motions to compel responses to RF Ps 

12/3/16 MRH Read and summarize tra nscrlpt of second deposition of T. 4.9 
Vazquez, discuss with K. Shenkman, 

12/4/16 KIS Coordinate with R. Parris regarding list of potential discovery 1.1 

referees and address stipulation regarding same. 
12/4/16 MRH Investigate potential discovery referees and pull available 5,8 

decisions of each to compile proclivities on discovery issues 
and voting rights where available. 

12/5/16 KIS Discuss document request responses and production and 3.5 
Implications thereof with O. de la Torre and M. Loya; drafting 
supplemental responses to document requests in light of 
discussions with Defendant's counsel and research concerning 
expert discovery timing and good cause requirement for 
motions to comoel responses to RFPs 

12/5/16 MRH Further investigate potential discovery referees and complete 2.9 
chart comparing discovery referee candidates. 

12/8/16 KIS Call with R. Rubin regarding experts D.5

12/9/16 MRH Document review and preparation for production and work 6.2 

with clients to gather documents. 
12/10/16 MRH Gathering documents, review and oreoaration for production 5.7 

12/11/16 KIS Coordinate preparation of discovery referee info for list to 0.8 
court, and review drafts of same. 

12/13/16 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre regarding case 4.3 
generally, document production, etc. 

12/14/16 KIS Travel to/from and meet with Pico Neighborhood Assn board 4,0 
12/1S/16 KIS Investigation for McKeown deposition, discuss with R. Parris 4.9 
12/15/16 MRH Prepare deposition outline with K. Shenkman for McKeown 6.D

deposition and discuss McKeown actions with Santa Monica 
residents. 

12/16/16 KIS Travel to/from and attend deposition of K. McKeown and 10.9 
debriefing and discussion with R. Parris and M. Cussimonio 
thereafter regarding case preparation. 
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12/18/16 KIS Review discovery requests and responses and correspondence 2.8 
regarding same to Identify scope of continued disputes, and 
discuss with R. Rubin 

12/19/16 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya 7.8

regarding case generally, discovery and logistics and gathering 
of documents for production, call with M. Hughes, R. Parris 
and R. Rubin, and draft correspondence regarding remaining 
discovery disputes and path forward for resolution of same. 

12/19/16 MRH Meeting with PNA clients and conference with K. Shenkman, R. 5.2 
Parris and R. Rubin. 

-

12/20/16 MRH Document review and preparation for production, discuss 5.3 

same with K. Shenkman 
12/21/16 KIS Prepare for and further discussion with Defendant's counsel 4.6 

regarding discovery responses, production etc., and drafting 
supplemental discovery responses in light of continuing 
discussions. 

12/24/16 KIS Call with R. Rubin and R. Parris regarding exoerts 0,4 

12/27/16 MRH Draft and revise supplemental responses to document 5.3 

requests in light of discussion with K. Shenkman regarding 
conversations with Defendant's counsel and review of 
documents available to produce. 

12/29/16 KIS Evaluate motion for judgment on the pleadings and discuss 3.6 

same with M. Hughes. 
12/29/16 MRH Read Defendant's motion for judgment on the pleadings, quick 4.8 

research raised by motion, discuss with K. Shenkman. 
12/30/16 KIS Research for opposition to motion for judgment on the 5.9 

pleadings, call with R. Rubin re: same 
12/31/16 KIS Research for opposition to motion for judgment on the 5.5 

pleadings and develop outline for opposition 
1/1/17 KIS Further research for opposition to motion for judgment on the 4.9 

pleadings 
1/2/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion for judgment on 7.0 

the pleadings 
1/3/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion for judgment on 8.5 

the pleadings, call with R. Rubin re: same 
1/4/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion for judgment on 9.3 

the pleadings 
1/5/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion for judgment on 9.6 

the pleadings 
1/6/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion for judgment on 7.5 

the pleadings 
1/7/17 MRH Discuss motion for judgment on the pleadings with K. 3.2 

Shenkman; revise opposition 
1/7/17 KIS Revise opposition to motion for judgment on the pleadings 7.7 

and draft ancillary documents; further research for final 
points. 
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1/8/17 KIS Revise opposition to motion for judgment on the pleadlngs 5.0 
and draft supporting documents; further research for final 

._ __ 
points. 

-

1/9/17 MRH Revise oooosition to motion for judgment on the pleadings 2.2 
1/10/17 KIS Finalize opposition papers to motion for judgment on the 2.7 

pleadings and coordinate flllng. 
1/1�/!Z.__ ._!9_S Call with R. Rubin _!'.Yarding ��erts 0.4 
1/11/17 MRH Review additional documents at clients' home gathered by 3.4 

clients for document production 
---

1/12/17 KIS Coordinate production of documents. 0.6 
1/12/17 KIS Conference with potential survey experts 0.7 
1/15/17 KIS Coordinate production of documents. 0.5 
1/17/17 KIS Draft supplemental responses to special interrogatories 1.3 

consistent with discussions with Defendant's counsel 
1/18/17 KIS Travel to/from clients' home for document production, review 5.5 

documents to be produced and coordinate same. 
1/19/17 KIS Travel to/frqm and meet with PNA board. 3.5 

1/24/17 KIS Evaluate Defendant's reply In support of motion for judgment 4.6 
on the pleadings; discuss same with R. Rubin; research cases 
cited therein and issues raised by reply. 

1/25/17 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and S. Duron 3.9 
- ------,--

1/30/17 KIS Coordinate with M. Kousser on case and needed analysis 0.7 
_1/30/17 KIS _ Call with R. Rubin re: upcoming hearing 0.7 
2/1/17 KIS Research and prepare for hearing on motion for judgment on 2.0 

the 
-1-- --

leadings _ - -- --- ---

2/2/17 KIS Prepare for hearing on motion for judgment on the pleadings, 3.6 
discuss with R. Rubin. 

-- --1- -- --- -- --

2/3/17 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on motion for 5.2 
judgment on the pleadings; deal with press thereafter. 

2/10/17 KIS Evaluate correspondence from Defendant's counsel to 4.9 
discovery referee's assistant regarding supplementing 
Defendant's motions to compel, research ability to 
supplement motions to compel after 45-day deadline has 

-- -
passed, draft corres ondence regarding same.

-- --

2/20/17 KIS Review case materials and drafting FAC to address issues ln 3.5 

court's rulln on motion for Judiment on the pleadings 
-

_2/21/17 KIS Draft FAC, call with R. Rubin re: same 3.9 
--

2/22/17 KIS Discuss FAC with co-counsel and clients, and revise 2.3 
accordingly. 

2/24/17 KIS Travel to/from and attend PNA event to discuss case generally 4.0 
and expected ath going forward. 

3/4/17 KIS Evaluate planning commission reports for statements 4.2 
concerning Pico Neighborhood disparities, distinctions and 
history 

3/5/17 MRH Pull commission reports and city council minutes and review 9.0 
for helpful Items of discrimination against minorities and the 

.__ - -

Pico Neiahborhood 
-·--
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r 3/6/17 

3/6/17 
3/7/17 
3/13/17 

3/14/17 

3/16/17 

3/20/17 
3/21/17 

3/22/17 

3/23/17 

3/24/17 
3/29/17 

3/31/17 

4/1/17 
4/1/17 

4/3/17 
�-

4/4/17 ----·
4/6/17 

4/7/17 

- -

4/10/17 

4/11/17 

4/12/17 
4/12/17 

MRH Investigate process associated with location of the 10 freeway;
evaluate commission reports and city council minutes and 
review for helpful items of discrimination against minorities 
and the Pico Nehi:hborhood. 

KIS Travel to/from and meet with T. Crane. 
KIS Call with R. Parris re: depositions 
KIS Travel to/from and speak at N.E. Neighbors meeting to provide 

Information and update on case. 
KIS Travel to/from and meet with A. Gonzalez regarding T. 

Vazquez and case generally fitting Into Southwest Voter 
Registration Education Project campaign. 

KIS Review correspondence from Defendant's counsel regarding 
demurrer and discuss with M. Hughes. 

KIS Coordinate retention of survey expert 
KIS Pull CVRA complaints flied by G. Brown in Sanchez v Modesto 

and Rey v Madera USO to compare level of specificity with 
FAC, research regarding level of specificity in voting rights 
complaints generally, and discuss course of action re need for 
amendment with R. Rubin. 

KIS Prepare for and participate in conference with Defendant's 
counsel regarding anticipated demurrer. 

KIS Evaluate correspondence from Defendant's counsel regarding 
anticipated demurrer; draft correspondence in response; and 
research for same. 

KIS Evaluate letter brief submitted by Defendant 
KIS Call with R. Rubin regarding upcoming conference with 

discovery referee 
KIS Prepare for and participate in telephonic conference with 

_ Jud�e Bostrom; �onJer with co-counsel re same. 
KIS 
MRH 

-

KIS 
KIS 
KIS 

-

KIS 

--

KIS 

KIS 

KIS 
KIS 

Evaluate demurrer to FAC, discuss with M. Hughes 
Review Defendant's demurrer to Plaintiffs' FAC and research 
compiled on specificity of voting rights complaints and discuss 
with K. Shenkman. 

- -

Research for opposition to demurrer to FAC 
Call with R. Rubin reRarding demurrer 
Research for opposition to demurrer to FAC and discussion 

� J. Levitt re same and case generally 
--

Research for opposition to demurrer to FAC and case generally 
consistent with discussion with J. Levitt 
Research for opposition to demurrer to FAC and case generally 
consistent with discussion with J. Levitt and summarize 
research In firm memorandum, call with R. Rubin re: same 
Evaluate submissions to discovery referee by Defendant; 
research and draft responsive letter brief 
Research and drafting letter brief to discovery referee 
Travel to/from and meet with F. Guerra, A. Alarcon and B. 
Gilbert regarding survey expert and case generally 

7.6 

3.3 
0.4 
3.8 

5.4 

0.3 

0.6 
6.1 

2.0 

4.9 

0.5 
o.s

4.0 

2.8 
--

3.8 

5.2 

o.s

6.0 

5.7 

7.8 

9.6 

9.3 
3.5 

442



4/13/17 KIS Travel to/from and meet with J. Levitt regarding demurrer and 6.5 

case generallv and potential for J. Levitt as expert witness 
4/14/17 MRH Discuss letter brief and discovery responses with K. Shenkman, 1.5 

revise letter to Bostrom accordingly 
4/14/17 KIS Revise letter brief to discovery referee and discuss same with 0.7 

M. Hughes.
4/17/17 KIS Call with R. Rubin regarding demurrer 0.4 

I 4/1s111 KIS Research and investigate issues identified in discussion with J. 7.0 

Levitt for demurrer and case generallv.
- --

4/19/17 KIS Research and investigate Issues identified in discussion with J. 7.7 

Levitt for demurrer and case enerally.
4/21/17 KIS Research and investigate issues identified in discussion with J. 7.2 

Levitt for demurrer and case generally, conference with M.
Fahey and R. Rubin re: same

4/25/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to demurrer to FAC 8.3 

4/26/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to demurrer to FAC 6.9 

4/29/17 KIS Research and drafting oppasltlon to demurrer to FAC 8.2 

5/1/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to demurrer to FAC 7.3 

5/2/17 KIS Research �nd draftl�g_ opposition to demurrer to FAC 7.6 

5/4/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to demurrer to FAC and 6.2 

associated papers 
--

5/5/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to demurrer to FAC and 6.6 

associated papers, call with M. Fahey and R. Rubin re: same 
5/7/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to demurrer to FAC and 5.0 

associated papers 
5/8/17 KIS Revising opposition to demurrer to FAC; discuss same with M. 3.8 

Hughes and J. Levitt 
5/8/17 MRH Review and revise opposition to demurrer and discuss with K. 3.7 

Shenkman 
5/9/17 KIS Revise and finalize papers in opposition to demurrer for flllng. 2.9 

5/10/17 KIS Correspondence about discovery referee scheduling and 0.4 

-
Defendant claiming prejudice by scheduling. 

5/11/17 KIS Call with M. Kousser and direct tasks on ER analysis 1.5 

5/13/17 KIS Research and drafting letter briefs requested by discovery 7.4 

referee in opposition to Defendant's various motions to 
compel 

5/14/17 KIS Research and drafting 8 letter briefs requested by discovery 6.9 

referee in opposition to Defendant's various motions to 
compel 

5/15/17 KIS Research and drafting letter briefs requested by discovery S.5
referee in opposition to Defendant's various motions to 
compel 

5/16/17 MRH Revise opposition briefs for discovery referee and discuss with 2.0 

K. Shenkman
>- - --

5/16/17 KIS Revise letter briefs consistent with discussion with M. Hughes. 0.8 

5/17/17 KIS Revise and finalize 8 letter briefs to discovery referee 2.1 

regarding Defendant's motions to compel 
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5/20/17 KIS 

5/23/17 MRH 
5/23/17 KIS 

5/24/17 KIS 

5/25/17 KIS 

'-

5/26/17 KIS 

5/28/17 KIS 
5/29/17 KIS 

5/30/17 KIS 

6/1/17 KIS 
6/2/17 KIS 

6/2/17 MRH 
6/4/17 KIS 

6/5/17 KIS 

6/5/17 KIS 

6/6/17 KIS 

6/7/17 KIS 

6/8/17 KIS 

6/8/17 JU 
6/9/17 KIS 

6/12/17 KIS 
-

6/12/17 JU 
6/13/17 JU 
6/14/17 JU 

6/15/17 JU 

Evaluate Defendant's reply papers in support of its demurrer, 
research cases cited therein. 
Draft further requests for production of documents 
Evaluate Defendant's letter briefs to discovery referee and 
deal with some issues identified as stlil in dispute and draft 
correspondence re same. 
Prepare for, travel to/from and attend discovery referee 
hearing at Judicate West, and deal with aftermath. 
Investigate S. Himmelrlch actions and issues in preparation for 
deposition 
Investigation for S. Himmelrich deposition, discuss with Santa 
Monica constituents 
Research and preparation for S. Hlmmelrich deposition 
Further investigation and discussion with SM constituents re S. 
Himmelrich; draft deposition outline. 
Prepare for, travel to/from and take deposition of S. 
Hlmmelrlch. 
Call with R. Rubin re: upcoming hearing 
Travel to/from and meet with D. Parker and CDP officials 
regarding Santa Monica case, party resolutions and political 
support 
Meeting with Cal. Dem. Party. 
Review demurrer papers, research open issues and prepare for 
demurrer hearing. 
Travel to/from (Santa Monica) and participate in Voice of 
America filming for story on Santa Monica voting rights case 
Travel to/from and meet with R. Rubin to prepare for 
demurrer hearing. 
Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on demurrer; 
discuss w__!_th co-counsel and press thereafter. 
Meeting with PNA Board to update on case and coordinate 
organizational effort. 
Travel to/from and meet with D. Ely and J. Jones regarding 
case tasks and demographic presentation 
Meeting with K. Shenkman and D. Ely 
Evaluate Defendant's draft stipulation concerning case 
schedule, draft correspondence in response to same, and 
coordinate with R. Parris re same. 
Travel to/from (downtown) and participate in Voice of 
America filming for story on Santa Monica voting rights case 

-

Research r��a_rdin ex,:,ert_wltness confUct Issue'. 
--

Research regarding exoert witness conflict Issue. 
Research and drafting flnn memorandum regarding expert 
witness conflict issue. 
Research and drafting firm memorandum regarding expert 
witness conflict issue. 

4.5 

2.3 

2.5 

6.8 

5.3 

4.9 

6.5 

7.1 

6.7 

0.5 

4.5 

4.5 

3.9 

4,3 

3.5 

--

5.4 
--

3.8 

5.8 

4.0 

1.5 

4.9 

6.0 
f-

6.7 

8.3 

9.6 
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6/20/17 KIS 

6/21/17 KIS 

6/21/17 JU 

6/22/17 JU 

6/23/17 JU 

6/26/17 KIS 

-

6/27/17 JU 

6/2B/17 KIS 

6/28/17 MRH 

7/3/17 JU 

7/5/17 JU 

7/6/17 KIS 

7/10/17 JU 

7/11/17 JU 

7/12/17 KIS 

7/13/17 KIS 

7/14/17 MRH 
7/14/17 KIS 

7/17/17 JU 

7/18/17 JU 

7/19/17 JU 

7/19/17 KIS 

Correspondence back and forth and conference call with 
Defendant's counsel regarding case schedule in advance of 
status conference. 
Prepare for, travel to/from and attend status conference 
regarding case schedule. 
Work with D. Ely on case showim� two worlds in one city. 
Work with D. !1 on case showlnll two worlds in one cit.Y:.._ 

-

Work with D. Ely on case showing two worlds in one city. 
Handle scheduling mess regarding conference with discovery 
referee and draft correspondence re same, call with R. Rubin 
re: same. 
Work with D. Ely on case showing two worlds in one city. 
Review Defendant's answer to FAC and discuss with co-
counsel possibility of demurrer to answer. 
Evaluate Defendant's responses to third set of document 
reQuests a�d compare with notes of Investigation. 
Work with D. Ely on case showing story of election effect on 
Pico Neighborhood. 
Work with D. Ely on case showing two worlds in one city. 
Travel to/from and speak at NOMA meeting regarding case 
status and contentions. 
Work with D. Ely on case showing effect of election method on 
not only outcome but also impact on Pico Neighborhood and 
people of color 
Work with D. Ely on case showing effect of election method on 
not only outcome but also impact on Pico Neighborhood and 
people of color 
Prepare for and participate in conference with discovery 
referee, research issue of discovery referee authority in 
response to concern exoressed by discovery referee 
Evaluate Defendant's submission regarding authority of 
discovery referee, research same Issues, send correspondence 
to discovery referee in light of research 
Read and summarize transcriot of deposition of S. Himmelrich 
Review correspondence from Defendant's counsel alleging 
violation of ethical obllgations; confer with M. Grimes 
regarding allegations; research applicable ethical obligations; 
draft response. 
Discuss allegations by Defendant's counsel with K. Shenkman; 
research ethical obligations raised by correspondence from G. 
Brown. 

Further research regarding ethical obligations In light of 
allet<ations by Defendant's counsel. 
Further research on ethical Issues raised by Defendant's 
counsel's allegations; draft memorandum re same; discuss 
su�ested course of action with K. Shenkman. - --•- ·--·-- · 

Discuss ethics Issue with J. Jones. 
--

1.1 

I 
4.7

.... 

5.3 

5.9 
--

4.8 

0.7 

---

5.5 

1.0 

1.5 

6.0 

3,3 

3.8 

7.2 

6.1 

3.2 

4.6 

5.3 

4.0 

--

6.6 

7.0 

8.1 

---

0.4 
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7/21/17 KIS Research for oppositions to motions to compel further 6.3 

responses to special interrogatories, and review responses and 
supplements for same. 

7/24/17 KIS Research and drafting oppositions to motions to compel 4.0 

further responses to special interrogatories to Loya and PNA 
7/25/17 KIS Travel to/from and meet with D. Ely, A. Gonzalez and A. 5.9 

Alarcon regardlngl. Vazquez and case generally. 
7/26/17 KIS Research and drafting oppositions to motions to compel 7.2 

further responses to special interrogatories 
7/27/17 KIS Research and drafting oppositions to motions to compel 7.5 

further responses to special interrogatories to Loya and PNA 
and associated papers. 

7/28/17 KIS Research and drafting oppositions to motions to compel 8.4 

further responses to special interrogatories to Loya and PNA 
and associated papers 

7/31/17 MRH Revise opposition papers in response to MTCs special 2.0 

interrogatories 
7/31/17 KIS Revise oppositions to motions to compel further responses to 7.3 

special interrogatories; drafting ancillary papers including 
separate statements 

8/1/17 KIS Revise oppositions to motions to compel further responses to 6.5 

special interrogatories; drafting ancillary papers for same. 
8/2/17 KIS Finalize papers in opposition to motions to compel further 3.8 

responses to special interrogatories (Loya and PNA) and 
coordinate submission to discovery referee. 

8/4/17 JU Speak to Santa Monica residents regarding P. O'Connor and 7.0 

investigate leads. 
8/7/17 JU Further investigation for O'Connor deposition and discuss with 5.8 

K. Shenkman
8/8/17 KIS Evaluate DE:fendant's writ petition, discuss with J. Bickford, M. 2.9 

Hughes, M. Fahey and R. Rubin 
8/8/17 MRH Read Santa Monica petition for writ of mandamus and discuss 2.0 

potential response with K. Shenkman 
8/9/17 KIS Research issues In writ petition and fonnulate outline for 6.5 

delighted letter 
8/10/17 KIS Review findings of O'Connor investigation for deposition and 1.0 

discuss with R. Parris. 
8/11/17 KIS Meet with 0. de la Torre regarding O'Connor deposition, travel 1.8 

to/from O'Connor deposition (until learning that she walked 
out), 

8/12/17 KIS Research and drafting correspondence to discovery referee 4.9 
reRarding O'Connor walking out of deposition. 

8/13/17 KIS Research and drafting delighted letter in opposition to writ 5.6 

petition. 
8/13/17 MRH Review and revise preliminary opposition to writ petition. 0.6 
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8/14/17 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya 4.6 
regarding case and next depositions and continuing public 
efforts 

8/15/17 KIS Read O'Connor deposition transcript and discuss motion to 1.3 

compel with R. Parris and J. Douglass 
8/16/17 KIS Research, review and revise motion to compel deposition of P. 4.8 

O'Connor, review correspondence regarding O'Connor walk 
out and discuss same with R. Parris and J. Douglass. 

8/18/17 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and E. Sanchez in 8.9 
Oceanside regarding public outreach on voting rights and 
district elections and coordinating SoCal efforts. 

8/21/17 KIS Conference call with Defendant's counsel regarding O'Connor 1.8 
deposition walkout; discuss with R. Parris before and after call. 

8/22/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel further 7.2 
responses to RFAs, call with R. Rubin re: same 

8/23/17 KIS Review order denying Defendant's writ petition and discuss 1.4 
same with local press. 

8/24/17 KIS Prepare for and participate in conference call with discovery 1.1 
referee regarding O'Connor walkout 

8/24/17 KIS Travel to/from and meet with T. Crane and P. Brock regarding 3.6 
case, local support and current/former council members. 

8/25/17 KIS Travel to/from and attend discovery referee hearing regarding 5.3 
motion to compel further responses to special interrogatories 
directed to M. Loya and PNA, discussion with M. Grimes 
thereafter. 

8/26/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel further 5.9 
responses to RFAs and form interrogatory 17.1 

8/27/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel further 6.4 
responses to RFAs and associated papers 

8/28/17 MRH Review PNA membership documents, discuss with 0. de la 4.8 
Torre and draft declaration to resolve issues concerning 
discovery requests to PNA. 

8/28/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel further 6.0 

responses to RFAs and associated papers 
8/29/17 MRH Revise opposition to MTC RFAs, 2.5 
8/29/17 KIS Revise papers in opposition to motion to compel further 6.7 

responses to RFAs, and research/deal with Defendant's 
belated withdrawal of a portion of that motion. 

8/30/17 KIS Revise and finalize all papers for opposition to motion to 4.6 

compel further RFA responses. 
8/30/17 KIS Work on survey script 1.4 
8/31/17 AAA Review and revise survey script 0.5 

9/1/17 KIS Evaluate Defendant's motion for protective order and 1.9 
opposition to motion to compel deposition of P. O'Connor, 
and discuss same with J. Douglass. 

9/1/17 AAA Research SM commissioners and draft summarv memo 2.8 
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9/5/17 KIS Evaluate rulings of discovery referee, discuss same with R. 1.5 
Parris, compare correspondence from Defendant's counsel to 
determine action regardlnR de la Torre declaration. 

9/6/17 KIS Evaluate Defendant's petition for review from Cal. Supreme 2.3 

Court and discuss same and responsive course of action with 
M. Hughes and J. Bickford

9/6/17 MRH Read petition for review of denial of writ petition and discuss 1.8 
with K. Shenkman

9/6/17 AAA Review First Amended Complaint, Rulings of the Discovery 5.7 
Referees, Special Interrogatories and Responses; Initiate Draft 
for Supplemental Responses to SM's Special Interrogatories 
per Referee Rulings; Initiate Draft of Special Interrogatories, 
Set One from PNA to SM. 

9/7/17 KIS Research for answer to petition for review, and research 6.0 
timing of petition and completeness of submission. 

9/7/17 AAA call with KS to discuss PNA's Special Interrogatories to SM and 1.4 
begin drafting 

9/8/17 KIS Review Defendant's papers and discovery referee ruling to 3.5 

determine scope of remaining disputes and draft 
correspondence regarding same and call with Defendant's 
counsel re same; review Defendant's reply in support of its 
motions to compel RFA responses. 

9/8/17 AAA Research Santa Monica electoral history �nd incorporate 3.7 

election information into draft of PNA's Special Interrogatories 
to SM 

9/9/17 KIS Research, review and revise opposition to motion for 3.9 
protective order and reply in support of motion to compel 
deposition of P. O'Connor 

9/10/17 KIS Research, review and revise opposition to motion for 4.7 
protective order and reply in support of motion to compel 
deposition of P. O'Connor 

9/10/17 AAA Finalize draft of special Interrogatories from PNA to SM (187 3,6 

Special Interrogatories). 
9/11/17 KIS Draft supplemental responses to special interrogatories 6.9 

consistent with discovery referee ruling, and draft additional 
interrogatories based on view expressed in discovery referee 
ruling. 

9/11/17 AAA Review special interrogatory responses from K. Shenkman 0.5 
9/12/17 KIS Research and drafting answer to petition for review 8.5 

9/12/17 AAA Continue preparing draft supplemental responses; draft 3.5 

addltional SROGs re: city atty's legal advice to CM's & Charter 
Review Commission. 

9/13/17 KIS Research and drafting answer to petition for review 7.9 
9/14/17 KIS Research and drafting answer to petition for review 8.0 
9/14/17 AAA Research and confirm historical candidates' ethnicities. 1.8 
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9/17/17 KIS Review Defendant's reply brief in support of motions to 3.8 
compel RFA responses, research issue therein, and prepare for 
hearing on same. 

9/18/17 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing with discovery 7.0 
referee regarding RFAs and form intrerrogatory 17.1, research 
regarding mootness of discovery motions thereafter In 
response to issue that arose at hearing. 

9/19/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel RFP 7.8 
responses. 

9/19/17 AAA Finish draft supplemental responses 3.2 

9/20/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel RFP 7.1 
responses. 

9/21/17 KIS Review Defendant's reply in support of motion for protective 0.8 
order and discuss with R. Parris. 

9/22/17 MRH Discuss petition for review with K. Shenkman and work on 2.2 
organization. 

9/22/17 KIS Research and drafting answer to petition for review; discuss 7.6 
with M. Hughes. 

9/23/17 MRH Research and drafting sections of opposition to MTC further 6.5 
responses to document requests 

9/23/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel RFP 7.0 
responses. 

9/24/17 MRH Research and draft letter brief regarding entitlement to a 5.8 

ruling on submitted motions to compel. 
9/24/17 MRH Work on opposition to petition for review to Cal. S. Ct. 4.6 

9/24/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel RFP 6.2 
responses. 

9/25/17 KIS Travel to/from and attend hearing with discovery referee on 5.3 
O'Connor deposition motions, meeting re case generally and 
O'Connor thereafter with R. Parris et al. 

9/25/17 AAA Draft supplemental responses to RFAs and form rogs 3.1 
9/25/17 MRH Research and draft letter brief regarding entitlement to a 3.3 

ruling on submitted motions to compel. 
9/25/17 MRH Work on opposition to petition for review to Cal. s. Ct. 4.3 
9/26/17 MRH Revise opposition to petition for review. 2.0 
9/26/17 KIS Revise answer to petition for review and gather exhibits for 5.6 

same. 

9/27/17 KIS Revise and finalize Answer to petition for review to the Cal. 4.7 
Supreme Court 

9/28/17 KIS Research and drafting opposition and ancillary papers in 6.6 
response to motion to compel RFP responses. 

9/28/17 MRH Revise opposition to MTC further responses to RFPs, discuss 2.5 

with K, Shenkman 
9/29/17 MRH Finalize papers in opposition to Defendant's motion to compel 3.9 

further responses to document requests. 
9/30/17 KIS Travel to/from and meet with M. Baller and L. Ho regarding 13.8 

Santa Monica and Santa Clara cases and coordination of same. 
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10/3/17 KIS Draft further supplemental responses to special 5.4 

interrogatories consistent with discovery referee ruling, and 
draft supplemental responses to form interrogatories 
consistent with discussions and likely rulings of discovery 
referee, and draft supplemental responses to RFAs consistent 
with discovery referee rulings. 

10/6/17 KIS Evaluate Defendant's reply brief in support of Its motions to 1.1 

compel RFP responses, and Defendant's letter brief regarding 
withdrawal of a portion of its motion to compel RFA 
responses. 

10/8/17 KIS Prepare for discovery referee hearing on Defendant's motions 2.7 

to compel RFP responses. 
10/9/17 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on Defendant's S.0

motions to compel RFP responses. 
10/11/17 MRH Review Defendant's reply in support of its petition for review, 1.2 

discuss with K. Shenkman 
10/11/17 KIS Evaluate Defendant's reply in support of petition for review to 2.1 

Cal. Supreme Court, discuss same with M. Hughes, research 
cases cited therein. 

10/12/17 KIS Evaluate discovery referee ruling on motions re O'Connor 2.5 

deposition walkout; field inquiries from local Santa Monica 
press and LA Times and regarding same and case generally. 

10/16/17 MRH Research and investigate disparities and disparate treatment 7.4 

of Pico Neighborhood and minority residents. 
10/17/17 MRH Research and Investigate disparities and disparate treatment 8.2 

of Pico Neighborhood and minority residents. 
10/17/17 KIS Evaluate discovery referee amended ruling re RFAs and direct 3.5 

corresponding action, and discovery referee directive 
concerning additional briefing; initial research for additional 
briefing. 

10/18/17 MRH Research and investigate disparities and disparate treatment 5.5 

of Pico Neighborhood and minority residents. 
10/19/17 MRH Research and Investigate disparities and disparate treatment 6.3 

of Pico Neighborhood and minority residents; prepare guide 
and summary of wellbeing report 

10/21/17 KIS Evaluate order denying petition for review, discuss same with 1.0 

local press. 
10/23/17 KIS Investigate campaign contribution violations In light of s.o 

reporting re FPPC fine; research ability to take second 
depositions; direct M. Cussimonio re same. 

10/23/17 KIS Calls with R. Rubin regarding settlement potential and 1.1 
possibilities. 

10/24/17 KIS Evaluate correspondence from Defendant's counsel regarding 3.9 

depositions, discuss with R. Parris, and research issue 
identified therein. 
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10/27/17 KIS 

10/28/17 KIS 
10/29/17 KIS 

10/30/17 KIS 

11/1/17 KIS 

11/2/17 KIS 

11/6/17 KIS 
11/7/17 KIS 

11/7/17 KIS 

11/7/17 AAA 

11/10/17 AAA 

11/14/17 KIS 

11/15/17 AAA 

11/16/17 KIS 

11/16/17 AAA 
-

11/17/17 KIS 

11/17/17 MRH 

11/20/17 KIS 

11/21/17 MRH 

11/21/17 KIS 

11/22/17 KIS 

Travel to/from and meet with Mr. and Mrs. Holbrook 
regarding case generally and 1992 decision; investigate council 
member corruption Issues identified at meeting. 
Investigate council member finances. 
Travel to/from and meet with P. Brock and C. Matthews 
re�arding case, council members and local effort 
Travel to/from and meet with PNA board regarding case, 
council member revelations and path forward. 
Research regarding legal standard for leave to take second 
depositions, and formulate argument for same 
Research and drafting letter to discovery referee re seeking 
subsequent depositions of T. O'Day and G. Davis in light of 
FPPCfines. 
Draft additional interrogatory 
Further research regarding propriety of subsequent 
depositions and relevancy of campaign spending, 
contributions and fundraising to RPV analysis and 14028(e) 
factors; discuss same with J. Douglass. 

---

Call with M. Kousser regarding ER and El results and RPV 
analysis. 
Coordinate with M. Kousser and research regarding intent, 
correspondence with Santa Monica Historical Museum 
Coordinate with Santa Monica Historical Museum to get 
materials. 
Assist LA County DA with Investigation of Santa Monica 
corruption uncovered in Investigation and depositions, as 
requested. 
Research at the �anta Monica Library directed by M. Kousser 
Travel to/from and attend N.E. Neighbors meeting to provide 
community with update on case and support organizing 
efforts; respond to inquiries of local press regarding 
statements concerning council corruption. 
Research at the Santa Monica _!:ibrarv directed by M. Kousser 
Evaluate Defendant's supplemental brief ln support of Its 
motion to compel further responses to Rf Ps; Initial research 
for suoolemental opposition; discuss with M. Hughes. 
Read supplemental papers submitted by Defendant regarding 
discovery motion and discuss with K. Shenkman 
Research, draft and revise supplemental papers in opposition 
to motion to compel further responses to RFPs 
Review and revise supplemental opposition to MTC responses 
to document requests. 
Revise supplemental papers in opposition to motion to compel 
further responses to RFPs 
Evaluate correspondence from K. Scolnick regarding discovery 
responses and discovery referee rulings; compar� onses 

8.7 

4.8 
4.4 

3.9 

5.7 

4.8 

0.3 
6.1 

-

1.4 

2.0 

0.8 

--

2.4 

9.5 

s.s

8.7 
--

3.0 

1.8 

7.5 

2.0 

4.5 

3.3 

- -
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with direction from discovery referee to determine 
appropriate reaction. 

11/28/17 KIS Review discovery referee rulings and supplemental responses 2.8 

In preparation for conference with Defendants' counsel, and 
participate in conference. 

11/29/17 AAA Review research from Santa Monica library and historical 5.5 
museum and draft outline summary for M. Kousser 

11/30/17 KIS Review Defendant's supplemental reply In support of motion 2.9 

to compel further responses to Rf Ps, research new issues and 
evidence raised in supplemental reply, and back-and-forth 
about submitting a surreply and/or having a further hearing. 

12/2/17 KIS Travel to/from and meet with A. Gonzalez regarding T. 5.3 

Vazquez and his place in case narrative. 
12/4/17 KIS Research and drafting motion to compel subsequent 4.6 

depositions of G. Davis and T. O'Day. 

12/5/17 KIS Research and drafting motion to compel subsequent 4.9 
depositions of G. Davis and T. O'Day. 

12/6/17 KIS Research and drafting motion to compel and associated 6.0 
papers seeking subsequent depositions of G. Davis and T. 
O'Day. 

12/8/17 KIS Revise and finalize motion to compel subsequent depositions 1.8 
of G: Davis and T. O'D�y and associated papers. 

12/11/17 KIS Prepare for and participate In telephonic hearing with 2.6 
discovery referee regarding Defendant's motion to compel 

- -

furtherrespons_!s toRFPs 
12/11/17 AAA Research at Santa Monica library regarding charter 7.0 

commissions. 
-

12/12/17 KIS Review Defendant's responses to discovery requests and 2.0 
discuss same with J. Douglass for preparation of meet-and-
confer letter. 

-

12/12/17 AAA Review research and draft memorandum for M. Kousser 4.5 
regarding charter commissions 

12/13/17 KIS Call with M. Kousser regarding ER and El results and RPV 1.3 
analysis. 

12/14/17 KIS Review and revise meet-and-confer letter 1.8 
12/15/17 KIS Evaluate notice regarding change In counsel for Defendant; 2.6 

discuss same with M. Hughes and R. Rubin, and investigate 
new counsel. 

,... - -

12/15/17 AAA Appointment at SM History Museum for research on SM 6.8 

12/18/17 KIS Research regarding assertion of Fifth Amendment in civil 5.0 
action by party-affiliated witness and consequences in 
California and federal cases. 

12/19/17 KIS Evaluate correspondence from Defendant's counsel regarding 3.0 
discovery disputes and unavailability to meet and confer; 
research regarding 45-day deadline on motion to compel and 
failure to participate in meet and confer process and 
coordinate with M. Cusslmonlo regarding relevant dates . 

. -
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12/20/17 KIS Research regarding effect of prior order on 45-day deadline, 4.2 
direct co-counsel on approach in light of research and 
Defendant's tact. 

12/20/17 KIS Research regarding Fifth Amendment and further inve�tigation 5.7 
regarding T. Vazquez and Santa Monica government 
corruption; draft correspondence requesting subsequent 
deposition of T. Vazquez and e><plainlng basis therefor. 

12/22/17 KIS Evaluate correspondence from K. Scolnick; research Rule 5-100 4.3 
issue raised in K. Scolnlck's letter. 

12/23/17 KIS Research and drafting motion for subsequent deposition of T. 5.6 
Vazquez 

12/25/17 KIS Research and drafting motion for subsequent deposition of T. 1.2 
Vazquez 

12/26/17 KIS Research and drafting motion for subsequent deposition of T. 3.9 
Vazquez 

12/27/17 KIS Research and drafting motion for subsequent deposition of T. 4.7 
Vazquez 

12/28/17 KIS Research, drafting and revising motion to compel further 6.0 
responses to special interrogatories 

12/28/17 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser 5.7 
12/29/17 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser 5.4 
12/29/17 KIS Research, drafting and revising motion to compel further 6.4 

responses to special interrogatories and associated papers 
1/2/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya 4.0 

regarding case generally, settlement idea, and how to pursue 
resolution. 

1/2/18 KIS Research and drafting motion for subsequent deposition of T. 5.2 
Vazauez 

1/3/18 MRH Revise and finalize MTC subsequent deposition of T. Vazquez. 3.7 
1/4/18 KIS Revise and finalize motion to compel further responses to 5.6 

special interrogatories and associated papers 
1/5/18 KIS Research regarding inclusion of multi-member districts and 6.5 

differing election structures within a jurisdiction as remedy for 
voting rights violation. 

1/6/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with J. Newman regarding effort to 4.4 
legislate away Santa Monica CVRA case. 

1/8/18 KIS Research regarding RPV in Individual elections for reply to 4.8 

anticipated opposition to motion to compel special 
interrogatory responses. 

1/9/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's opposition to motion for subsequent 2.1 

depositions of G. Davis and T. O'Day and formulate reply; 
correspondence regarding discovery motion briefing and 
scheduling. 

1/10/18 KIS Research and drafting reply in support of subsequent 6.0 

depositions of O'Day and Davis. 
1/11/18 KIS Research and drafting reply in support of subsequent 7.7 

depositions of O'Day and Davis. 
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1/12/18 KIS Research and drafting reply In support of subsequent 5.4 

depositions of O'Day and Davis. 
1/15/18 MRH Review moving and opposition papers regarding subsequent 3.8 

depositions of council members, discuss with K. Shenkman and 
revise reply 

-

1/15/18 KIS Revising reply In support of subsequent depositions of O'Day 4.0 

and Davis. 
1/15/18 KIS Correspondence with M. Barreto and LatinoDeclsions team, 1.2 

and talk to A. Gonzalez about problems with Barreto et al. 
1/16/18 KIS Finalb:e reply papers for motion seeking subsequent 3.2 

depositions of O'Day and Davis. 
1/16/18 AAA Follow up regarding CPRA request and coordinate with K. 0.9 

Shenkman and M. Kousser 
1/17/18 KIS Interview with potential polling expert, and follow up with 2.4 

scooe and survey outline. 
1/18/18 KIS Research regarding legality of potential settlement proposal; 6.6 

discuss same with clients and affected constituents. 
1/19/18 KIS Research regarding legality of potential settlement proposals 7.5 

and confer with experts regarding likely remedial 
effectiveness; lobby clients and affected constituents for 
support for same. 

1/22/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend discovery referee 5.0 

hearing regarding motion for subsequent depositions of O'Day 
and Davis. 

1/23/18 MRH Read discovery oppositions submitted by Defendant and 1.9 

discuss responses with K. Shenkman 
1/23/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's oppositions to motions to compel 4.9 

subsequent deposition of T. Vazquez and further responses to 
special interrogatories, and initial research for reply; discuss 
with M. Hughes. 

1/24/18 KIS Research and drafting reply in support of motion for 6.8 

subsequent deposition of T. Vazquez; conference with E. 
Gordon regarding reply In support of motion to compel special 

-
Interrogatory responses. 

1/25/18 KIS Research and drafting reply in support of motion for 6.0 

subsequent deposition of T. Vazquez 
1/26/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with Pico Neighborhood activists 4.1 

Including most of PNA board. 
1/26/18 KIS Review draft survey text and discuss with J. Brown 1.0 

·-

1/27/18 KIS Research and drafting reply in support of motion for 5.7 

subsequent deposition of T. Vazauez 
1/28/18 MRH Review moving and opposition papers, discuss with K. 3.0 

Shenkm� and revise reply regarding T. Vazquez deposition 
1/28/18 

I 
KIS Research, drafting and revising reply In support of motion for 5.9 

subsequent deposition of T. Vazquez 
1/29/18 I MRH Review and revise reply in support of MTC special 5.1 

I interro�atories. 
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1/29/18 KIS Revise replies ln support motions to compel T. Vazquez 4.5 

deposition and further responses to interrogatories 
1/29/18 KIS Call with R. Rubin regardinj:l settlement possibilities 0.5 

1/30/18 KIS Finalize replies In support of discovery motions - 5,2 
interrogatories and T. Vazquez deposition - and deal with 
dispute over subpoena of M. Leon-Vazquez. 

1/31/18 KIS Prepare for and participate in conference with Defendant's 0.9 

counsel regarding deposition and subpoena of M. Leon-
VazQuez 

2/1/18 MRH Calls with Santa Monica activists regarding T. Winterer 4.3 

business dealings etc., and summarize for K. Shenkman for 
deposition. 

2/1/18 KIS Investigation/ preparation for T. Winterer deposition. 6.1 

2/2/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend discovery referee 6.5 

hearing on Defendant's motlon to compel further responses to 
special interrogatories, and review rulings from discovery 
referee concerning document requests. 

2/3/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with G. Ramos and O. de la Torre 5.4 
regarding council member misconduct and campaign finance. 

2/5/18 MRH Research regarding mediation privilege and confidentiality, 6.2 

and applicability to non-participating members of a governing 
board; discuss with K. Shenkman 

2/5/18 KIS Research regarding availability of multi-member district 7.4 

remedies and applicability of equal protection to remedies 
that treat different districts differently in light of Bush v Gore 

2/6/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend discovery referee 6.0 

hearing regarding subsequent T. Vazquez deposition and 
Plaintiff's motion to compel further responses to 
interrogatories. 

2/7/18 KIS Investigation/ preparation for T. Winterer deposition. 5.9 
2/8/18 MRH Research and drafting mediation brief. 9.3 
2/8/18 KIS Correspondence and call with K. Scolnick regarding mediation 4.8 

and stand-down agreement; research sufficiency of 
Defendant's proposal regarding same; discussion with J. Krivis 
regarding mediation scheduling. 

2/8/18 AAA Review video obtained from CPRA request 2.2 

2/9/18 AAA Finish watching council meeting video and draft time linked 5.3 
summary 

2/9/18 MRH Research and drafting mediation brief. 8.9 
2/9/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with G. Ramos, 0. de la Torre, A. 4.0 

Elmahrek and B. Oreskes regarding campaign finance and 
council member dealings. 

2/10/18 MRH Research and drafting mediation brief. 8.4 
2/10/18 KIS Work on mediation brief with M. Hughes, and research 9.5 

remedies for potential violation of mediation confidentiality to 
determine appropriate level of detail to provide to 
Defendant's counsel in advance of mediation. 
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2/11/18 MRH Research and drafting mediation brief. 7.8 

2/11/18 KIS Work on mediation brief with M. Hughes, and correspondence 5.5 

with K. Scolnick regarding sneak preview of settlement offer 
2/12/18 MRH Research and drafting mediation brief. 7.1 

2/12/18 AM Compile research regarding SM commissioners and send to K. 0.6 

Shenkman. 
2/12/18 KIS Revise mediation brief and discuss with M. Hughes. 4.7 

2/13/18 MRH Revise and finalize mediation brief. 2.8 

2/13/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with R. Tahvildaran-Jessweln 2.5 

regarding SMRR and case generally. 
2/13/18 KIS Call with R. Rubin regarding settlement authority 0.5 

2/14/18 KIS Conversations with clients, co-counsel and Interested parties 2.6 

to secure buy-in for mediation strategy. 
2/15/18 KIS Discussions with clients and co-counsel regarding mediation 3.3 

and likely effectiveness of various remedies and range of 
proposals acceptable to clients. 

2/16/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend mediation; meeting 8.5 

with clients and co-counsel thereafter. 
2/16/18 AM Mediation and team meeting 7.1 

2/19/18 KIS Evaluate motion for protective order / quash subpoena to 5.0 

prevent deposition of M. Leon-Vazquez; research for 
opposition. 

2/20/18 KIS Research and drafting oooosition to M. Leon-Vazquez motion 6.6 

2/21/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to M. Leon-Vazquez motion 7.3 

2/22/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to M. Leon-Vazquez motion; 7.1 

evaluate second amended ruling from discovery referee 
re11:arding RFAs 

2/23/18 MRH Revise and finalize opposition to motion for protective order 2.4 

regarding M. Leon-Vazquez. 
2/23/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with PNA board regarding mediation, 4.5 

settlement and case prospects. 
2/25/18 KIS Revise outline and prepare for deposition of T. Winterer 6.3 

2/26/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and take deposition of T. Winterer .  10.2 

2/27/18 KIS Research propriety of seeking clarification through informal 4.4 
means, and draft correspondence to discovery referee 
regarding amended rulings 

2/28/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's reply in support of its motion to prevent 1.8 

deposition of M. Leon-Vazquez, and deal with press aftermath 
of Defendant's use of article In Its reply, 

3/1/18 KIS Evaluate correspondence from K. Scolnick evidencing 5.2 

Defendant's purpose to use mediation as discovery tool; 
research regarding what K. Scolnick terms a "coalition theory" 
in response. 

3/2/18 KIS Research regarding what K. Scolnick terms a "coalition 7.0 

theory/' sufficlency of pleadings to put Defendant on notice, 
and propriety of Defendant using mediation as a discovery 
tool. 
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3/3/18 KIS Research regarding what K. Scolnlck terms a "coalition 3.6 

theory," sufficiency of pleadings to put Defendant on notice, 
and propriety of Defendant using mediation as a discovery 
tool; draft correspondence to K. Scolnick regarding same. 

3/5/18 KIS Prepare for discovery referee hearing and discuss with M. 3.5 
Grimes. 

3/6/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend discovery referee 6.9 
hearing regarding M. Leon-Vazquez deposition, and discussion 
with J. Levitt thereafter. 

3/7/18 KIS Call with J. Krivis regarding potential second day of mediation 1.1 

and handling of discovery in the Interim; direct team in light of 
discussion. 

3/8/18 KIS Evaluate discovery referee ruling and direct action In light of 0.9 
ruling, and correspondence regarding depositions. 

3/8/18 AM Contact M. Quinones-Perez and follow up correspondence 1.2 
3/9/18 MRH Discuss discovery referee ruling and Defendant's intent to 5.7 

challenge ruling; research regarding procedure for confirming 
/ objecting and authority of discovery referee under CCP. 

3/10/18 MRH Research regarding discovery referee authority and procedure 5.0 
for turning referee rulings into court orders based on authority 
for referee appointment and stipulation; discuss with K. 
Shenkman. 

3/10/18 KIS Travel to/from (Santa Clarita) and meet with M. Grimes and R. 3.9 
Parris regarding work allocation and case tasks and strategy 

3/12/18 KIS Evaluate discovery referee ruling on T. Vazquez subsequent 2.9 

deposition, draft correspondence In light of same and research 
In order to get prompt depositions. 

3/13/18 KIS Prepare for second mediation; calls with clients and other 2.8 
interested parties regarding settlement authority 

3/14/18 KIS Further research regarding available remedies and precedent 6.6 
therefor in advance of second mediation, discussion with J. 
Levitt re same and L. Dilg. 

3/15/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend second day of 7.4 
mediation; team meeting with all counsel thereafter. 

3/15/18 AAA Mediation and team meeting 5.0 
3/16/18 AAA Contact M. Perez and M. Quinones-Perez to obtain 1.0 

cooperation 
3/16/18 KIS Work with D. Ely, M. Kousser and J. Levitt on respective 9.8 

opinions and reports in light of Defendant's refusal to engage 
in settlement discussions. 

3/19/18 MRH Review correspondence from K. Scolnick; research discovery 4.1 
referee authority and procedure in light of issues raised 
therein; discuss course of action with K. Shenkman 

3/19/18 KIS Work with D. Ely and M. Kousser on respective opinions and 9.2 
reports In light of Defendant's refusal to engage in settlement 
discussions. 
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3/20/18 MRH Work on demographics and election recreation report with D. 6.5 
Ely. 

3/21/18 MRH Read and summarize T. Winterer deposition transcript for 6.8 
team and seoarate summarv for cress. 

3/21/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with M. Grimes and W. Ouchi 5.4 
regarding work allocation and case generally. 

3/22/18 KIS Review correspondence from H. Galloway regarding 1.9 
deposition notices and objections, and direct action in 
response; deal with deposition scheduling and objection 
issues; draft correspondence regarding same. 

3/23/18 AAA Analysis of SM commissioners, current and historical 1.0 
3/26/18 AAA Analysis of SM commissioners, current and historical 4.4 
3/26/18 KIS Investigation for R. Cole deposition. 7.7 

3/26/18 KIS Finalize survey script and discuss samplin11 with J. Brown 0.8 
3/27/18 MRH Research and drafting ex parte application to confirm 5.3 

discovery referee rulings. 
3/27/18 KIS Investigate R. Cole role In Pasadena district election campaign, 6.9 

political career and actions in Santa Monica; begin preparing 
outline for R. Cole deposition. 

3/28/18 MRH Research and drafting ex parte application to confirm 4.9 
discovery referee rulings. 

3/28/18 AAA Analysis of SM commissioners, current and historical and 3.7 
prepare spreadsheet 

3/28/18 KIS Calls with Santa Monica activists concerning R. Cole and 4.8 
potential deposition inquiries; preparing outline for deposition 
and coordinate with W. Ouchi 

3/28/18 KIS Call with R. Rubin regarding MSJ 0.3 
3/29/18 MRH Read summary judgment papers and discuss with K. Shenkman 3.4 
3/29/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with K. Scolnlck and T. Henry 4.9 

regarding deposition scheduling and court review of discovery 
referee rulings In advance of depositions; quick review of MSJ 
and discuss with M. Hughes and A. Alarcon. 

3/30/18 MRH Review discovery referee rulings regarding subsequent 6.8 
depositions ofT. Vazquez, G. Davis and T. O'Day, and motion 
to quash deposition subpoena to M, Leon-Vazquez; research 
and drafting ex parte application to confirm discovery referee 
rulings. 

3/30/18 AAA Revise com missioner study and spreadsheet 1.7 
3/30/18 KIS Preoare for, travel to/from and take deposition of R. Cole. 9.9 
3/31/18 KIS Evaluate MSJ and associated papers, circulate to experts and 4.5 

co-counsel; discuss same and allocation of work for 
opposition. 

3/31/18 MRH Revise ex pa rte application to confirm discovery referee 3.1 
rulings in light of Defendant's counsel's indication they would 
not comply with objection deadline. 

4/1/18 MRH Research issues identified in Defendant's summary judgment 7.0 
motion, discuss with K. Shenkman 
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4/1/18 KIS Review MSJ papers; pull cases and research for opposition; 7.3 
coordinate with M. Hughes and R. Rubin. 

4/2/18 MRH Research for opposition to MSJ 5.8 

4/2/18 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser 9.2 
4/2/18 KIS Review and revise ex parte papers to confirm discovery 3.4 

referee ruling, correspondence regarding same 
4/3/18 AAA Research regarding communications to discovery referee by 4.1 

non-1:>arties in response to S .  Martini email. 
4/3/18 MRH Research for opposition to MSJ 4.8 

4/3/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on ex parte 5.9 
appllcatlon to confirm discovery referee rulings. 

4/4/18 AAA Research regarding right to distribute discovery materials and 2.6 

deposition transcripts absent a court order to the contrary and 
appropriate response to communication to discovery referee 
by S. Martini email. 

4/4/18 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser, focusing on Prop 3 and 8.5 

1975 
4/4/18 MRH Research for opposition to MSJ 6.2 

4/4/18 KIS Research and work with D. Ely and M. Kousser for opposition 7.8 

toMSJ 
4/4/18 KIS Correspondence regarding yesterday's ex parte hearing and 0.6 

order; evaluate timini:? and enforcement potential of order. 
4/5/18 MRH Research for oppasition to MSJ and draft issue memoranda 7.0 
4/5/18 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser, focusing on 1975, 9.9 

1990, 1991 and 1992, and compile documents for M. Kousser 
4/5/18 KIS Research and work with D. Ely and M. Kousser for opposition 9.2 

to MSJ 
4/5/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with M. Grimes and W. Ouchi to 4.4 

allocate work and case strategy generally 
4/6/18 MRH Research for opposition to MSJ and draft issue memoranda 7.4 

4/6/18 KIS Work on materials that will be necessary for summary 8.3 

judgment opposition, meet with M. Grimes and talk with J. 
Levitt (separately} to coordinate same. 

'4/6/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's objection to discovery referee ruling 2.9 

regarding M. Leon-Vazquez deposition; communicate with 
press regarding Defendant's complaint that we communicate 
with the press. 

4/7/18 KIS Call with R. Rubin regarding MSJ 0.3 
4/9/18 MRH Research for opposition to MSJ and draft issue memoranda 6.5 

4/9/18 AAA Compile research regarding intent analysis for M. Kousser and 4.8 
K. Shenkman

4/9/18 KIS Research and work with D. Ely and M. Kousser for opposition 8.4 

toMSJ 
4/10/18 MRH Research, draft and revise opposition to ex pa rte application. 6.7 
4/10/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to ex parte application for 7.9 

reconsideration. 
4/10/18 KIS Call with J. Levitt regarding MSJ opposition. 0.6 
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4/11/18 MRH Research for opposition to MSJ and draft issue memoranda 7.6 
and outline oooosltlon sections. 

4/11/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on ex parte 6.2 
application for reconsideration of court's confirmation of 

1--
discovery referee rulings. 

4/11/18 KIS Call with M. Kousser regarding ER and El results and RPV 0.5 
analysis and needed work on intent and lm_pact analysis 

4/12/18 MRH Research for oooosltion to MSJ and draft issue memoranda 7.8 
4/12/18 KIS Research regarding timing of MSJ and consequences of late 8.3 

filing or improper service and work on opposition to MSJ 
4/12/18 AAA Research at SM Library, focusing on 2002 and election method 7.1 

proposition 
4/13/18 AM Research at SM Library, focusing on 2002 and election method 8.9 

proposition; compfle research for M. Kousser and K. 
Shenkman; meet with potential witness regarding ballot 

I proposition 
4/13/18 MRH Research for opposition to MSJ and draft issue memoranda 7.5 
4/13/18 KIS Research regarding timing of MSJ and consequences of late 6.9 

filing or improper service and procedure for addressing same 
I without waiving defect. 
I 4/14/18 KIS Research and drafting motions in llmine 5.5 

I 4/15/18 KIS Research and draftini motions in limlne 6.3 --- -
I 4/16/18 MRH Discuss potential motions in limine with K. Shenkman and 6.8 

research for same. 
,- -

4/16/18 AM Com pile and prepare materials for meeting, meet with K. 6.7 

Shenkman and M. Kousser 
,-

4/16/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with M. Kousser and A. Alarcon 7.0 
regarding intent case 

4/16/18 KIS Research and drafting response to Defendant's objection to 6.4 
discovery referee ruling regarding M. Leon-Vazquez 
deoosition. 

4/17/18 MRH Research for potential motions in limine 7.4 
4/17/18 KIS Research and drafting response to Defendant's objection to ,--

5.5 

discovery referee ruling regarding M. Leon-Vazquez 
deposition. 

-- -- --

4/17/18 KIS Prepare sample responses to interrogatories and RFAs to PNA 2.1 

.... 
and M. Loya, and discuss same with E. Gordon . 

4/17/18 AAA Contact potential witness regarding T. Vazquez funding. 0.2 
4/17/18 AAA Review M. Kousser 1992 report and cross-reference to recent 1.7 

research and materials 
4/18/18 MRH Research for potential motions in llmlne; draft memorandum 8.9 

I summarizing potential motions in limine. 
4/18/18 KIS Research and drafting response to Defendant's objection to 3.9 

discovery referee ruling regarding M. Leon-Vazquez 
deposition. 

4/19/18 MRH Research for potential motions in limine; draft memorandum 6.6 
summarizing potential motions in limine. 
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4/19/18 AAA Research regarding 1946 SM and freeholders 2.2 

4/19/18 KIS Research and drafting response to Defendant's objection to 4.3 

discovery referee ruling regarding M. Leon-Vazquez deposition 
and associated papers. 

4/20/18 MRH Revise and finalize response papers regarding M. Leon• 2.8 

Vazauez deposition. 
4/20/18 AAA Research at SM Library, focusing on 1946 charter and source 9.7 

materials. 
4/20/18 KIS Revise response to objection to discovery referee ruling. 2.4 

4/21/18 KIS Investigate P. O'Connor votes, campaigns and finances; talk 7.3 

with constituents re same. 
4/22/18 KIS Further investigate P. O'Connor for deposition; draft outline 7.9 

for deposition. 
4/23/18 KIS Travel to/from and attend deposition of P. O'Connor, and case 10.8 

meeting thereafter. 
4/23/18 AAA Review and organize research documents from SM Library for 3.6 

M. Kousser and K. Shenkman
4/24/18 MRH Work with D. Ely on report for MSJ opposition. 7.1 

4/24/18 KIS Research and drafting opoosition to MSJ 6.9 
4/24/18 KIS Evaluate survey results and crosstabs and discuss with J. 2.9 

Brown 
4/25/18 MRH Work with M. Kousser on report for MSJ opposition. 8.7 

4/25/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MS1 7,5 

4/26/18 MRH Work with M. Kousser on report for MSJ opposition. 8.3 

4/2 6/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ 7.4 

4/27/18 MRH Work with M. Kousser on report for MSJ opposition. 8.0 

4/27/18 KIS Read and summarize transcript of O'Connor deposition, 5.9 

communicate with press regarding O'Connor business 
4/30/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with A. Sanchez, D. Ely and A. Alarcon 3.7 

in Sherman Oaks regarding Vazquez shakedown of labor 
unions and case generally. 

4/30/18 AAA Meeting with D. Ely, K. Shenkman and A. Sanchez 2.5 

5/1/18 KIS Evaluate correspondence from K, Scolnick regarding M. Leon- 3.8 

Vazquez deposition, discovery referee ruling and Defendant's 
objection; research and draft correspondence in response. 

5/2/18 KIS Deposition preparation with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya 6.6 

5/3/18 KIS Research and drafting ex pa rte application to confirm 5.2 

discovery referee ruling/ advance hearing date for objection 
regarding discovery referee ruling regarding M, Leon-Vazquez 
deposition. 

5/4/18 MRH Read Defendant's motion to stay, discuss with K. Shenkman 4.6 

and begin formulating response. 
5/4/18 KIS Deposition preparation with 0. de la Torre 4.9 

5/4/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's motion to stay deposition of M. Leon- 3.5 

Vazquez; discuss response with M. Hughes. 
S/5/18 KIS Research and drafting ex pa rte application to confirm 4.8 

discovery referee ruling/ advance hearing date for objection 
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regarding discovery referee ruling regarding M. Leon-Vazquez 
deposition. 

5/6/18 MRH Research and drafting opposition to motion to stay M. Leon- 6.1 

Vazquez deoositlon. 
5/6/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition papers to MSJ, coordinate 9.6 

with M. Kousser re same and report 
5/7/18 MRH Research and drafting opposition to motion to stay M. Leon- 4.2 

Vazouez deposition. 
5/7/18 KIS Research and drafting ex parte application to confirm 3.8 

discovery referee ruling / advance hearing date for objection 
regarding discovery referee ruling regarding M. Leon-Vazquez 
deposition. 

5/8/18 MRH Research and drafting opposition to motion to stay M. Leon- 5.1 

Vazquez deposition. 
S/8/18 KIS Deposition preparation with 0. de la Torre 4.S

5/9/18 MRH Work with D. Ely on report for MSJ opposition, review P. 6.7 

Morrison declaration and determine whether deposition is 
warranted. 

5/9/18 KIS Travel to/from and defend deposition of 0. de la Torre, 11.7 

meeting with 0. de la Torre thereafter. 
S/10/18 KIS Research and drafting ex parte application to confirm S.4

discovery referee ruling/ advance hearing date for objection 
regarding discovery referee ruling regarding M. Leon-Vazquez 
deposition. 

5/10/18 KIS Correspondence with Defendant's counsel regarding 1.0 

deposition scheduling and ex parte. 
5/11/18 MRH Research for MSJ opoosition 6.6 

S/11/18 KIS Prepare for and travel to hearing on ex parte application 4.0 

regarding discovery referee ruling and objection thereto 
S/11/18 KIS Defend PMK deposition of PNA, and travel from. 6.7 

5/12/18 MRH Work with M. Kousser on report for MSJ oooosition. 9.2 

5/12/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ and supporting 9.0 

papers. 

S/13/18 MRH Research and drafting separate statement response for 8.4 

oooosition to MSJ. 
S/13/18 K iS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ, discuss same with J. 8.3 

Levitt. 
5/14/18 MRH Research and drafting opposition and separate statement 7.5 

response for opposit ion to MSJ. 
S/14/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ, coordinate with D. 8.9 

Ely to get necessary information and analysis to J, Levitt. 
5/14/18 KIS Deposition preparation with M. Loya, and back-and-forth with 7.9 

Defendant's counsel regarding various deposition and 
discovery matters. 

5/15/18 MRH Research and drafting opposition and separate statement 7.0 

response for opposition to MSJ. 
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5/15/18 KIS Travel to/from and defend deposition of M. Loya, meeting 10.9 
with 0. de la Torre and M. Loya and call with J. Levitt 
thereafter 

5/16/18 MRH Work on MSJ opposition papers 7.7 
5/16/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ and supporting 10.4 

declarations; call with S. Farias regarding experiences in San 
Juan Capistrano and willingness to submit declaration. 

5/17/18 MRH Discuss experts with K. Shenkman and desirability of 1.0 
requesting exchange; draft expert witness exchange demand. 

5/17/18 AAA Work with M. Kousser and D. Ely on their respective reports 5.5 
5/18/1� AAA Research for M. Kousser at SM Library 4.8 
5/18/18 MRH Work on MSJ oooosltlon declarations. 10.3 
5/20/18 KlS Travel to/from and participate in tour of Santa Monica for trial 7.1 

preparation 
5/21/18 MRH Work on MSJ opposition papers 5.9 

---

5/21/18 KIS Work with M. Kousser on his report and put together source 6.2 

-- -

materials for report. 
- - --

5/21/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ 4.4 
5/22/18 MRH Work on MSJ oooosltion papers 5.7 

- ,-

5/22/18 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser 7.2 
5/22/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ and discuss same 6.5 

with J. Levitt and R. Rubin 
5/22/18 KIS Deal with various discovery Issues and correspondence 0.9 

regarding �al!le, 
5/23/18 MRH Work on MSJ oonosition papers 8.3 
5/23/18 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser 9.7 

5/23/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on Defendant's 10.3 
objection to discovery referee ruling, prepare opposition 
documents for continued hearing thereafter. 

--

5/23/18 KIS Deal with various discovery issues and correspondence 2.6 
regarding same; draft exemplary responses to RFPs regarding 
exoert survey. 

--

5/23/18 KIS Work on summary Judgment opposition and discuss with J. 1.0 
Levitt. 

5/24/18 MRH Work on MSJ opposition papers 9.5 
S/24/18 AAA Research at SM Llbrarv for M. Kousser 8.3 
S/24/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ 10.6 
5/24/18 KIS Deal with various discovery issues and correspondence 1.3 

regarding same; draft exemplary responses to Rf Ps regarding 
expert survey. 

S/25/18 MRH Work on MSJ opposition papers 7.8 
S/25/18 AAA Conference call with R. Martinez; research Prop. 14, Caucasian 6.8 

clauses in SM and newspaper evidence of racist attitudes In 
SM 

-- ---

5/25/18 KIS Call with R. Martinez for guidance on equal protection case. 1.5 
5/25/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ 7.0 
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5/25/18 KIS Deal with various discovery issues and correspondence 1.0 
regarding same; draft exemplary responses to Rf Ps regarding 
expert survey. 

5/26/18 MRH Work on MSJ opposition papers 6.9 
5/26/18 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser 5.3 
5/26/18 KIS Review FPPC issue and press coverage and G. Davis deposition 4.9 

transcript and summary; prepare outline; call regarding 

,-
questioning for deposition. 

5�26Ll8 KIS _Besearch and drafting oooosltion to MSJ 6.4 
5/27/18 MRH Work on MSJ occositlon papers 9.2 
5/27/18 KIS Research and drafting occosition to MSJ 10.5 

, 5/28/18 MRH Work on MSJ opposition papers 5.6 
5/28/18 AAA Research at SM Library for M. Kousser 5.5 

I 5/28/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to MSJ 11.2 

5/29/18 MRH Work on MSJ opposition papers 5.8 

5/29/18 AAA Work on report with M. Kousser 11.4 
5/29/18 KIS Revise opposition to MSJ and associated papers. 7.4 
5/29/18 KIS Review FPPC issue and press coverage and G. Davis deposition 3.5 

transcript and summary; prepare outline; call regarding 
questioning for deposition. 

5/30/18 MRH Work on MSJ opposition papers 10.5 
5/30/18 AAA Work on Kousser report and MSJ opposition. 15.1 
5/30/18 KIS Revise and finalize opposition to MSJ and associated papers 16.2 

and discuss with co-counsel 
---

5/31/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on Defendant's 5.0 
motion to reverse discovery referee ruling regarding M. Leon-
Vazquez. 

5/31/18 KIS Finalize and transmit (consistent with order of the court at 4.9 

hearing earlier in the day) opposition to motion for summary 
judgment. 

6/1/18 MRH Work on motions In llmlne. 7.2 
6/1/18 KIS Correspondence and deal with contlnulnQ: d�posltion issues. 0.8 
6/1/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's motion for sanctions, confer with clients 3.9 

' regarding same, address briefing schedule 
6/2/18 1 MRH Work on motions in Umine 5.3 

----

6/2/18 KIS Research and drafting oooosition to motion for sanctions. 7.6 
6/3/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion for sanctions and 8.2 

associated papers. 
6/4/18 MRH Research and drafting motions to compel: 1) deposition of M. 5.4 

Quinones-Perez, and 2) production of documents re P. 
O'Connor 

--

6/4/18 KIS Research regarding necessity of providing editable version of 0.4 
separate statement and timing for doing so. 

6/4/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion for sanctions and 6.1 
associated papers. 
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6/5/18 MRH Research regarding depositions of MSJ opposition expert 2.5 

declarants and timing thereof, discuss with K. Shenkman to 
determine response to T. Henry. 

6/5/18 KIS Deposition preparation with 0. de la Torre and gather 5.9 

documents for production at deposition 
6/5/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to sanctions motion. 4.4 

6/6/18 MRH Work on motions to compel deposition of M. Quinones-Perez 3.9 

and document production from Kaplan Chen Kaplan. 
6/6/18 KIS Travel to/from and defend deposition of PNA PMK (vol. 2) 7.0 

6/7/18 MRH Research and draft objections to reply papers on MSJ 4.3 

6/7/18 KIS Santa Monica tour with photographer, M. Grimes and 0. de la 7.1 

Torre for opening 
6/7/18 KIS Review Defendant's reply papers re MSJ; research and draft 3.8 

objection to reply separate statement and reply declaration of 
P. Morrison, and draft notice of errata

6/8/18 MRH Research and drafting trial brief; discuss with K. Shenkman 6.3 

6/8/18 KIS Formulate rough outline for trial brief and discuss allocation 2.9 

with M. Hu�hes 

6/8/18 KIS Revise and finalize notice of errata, and objections to reply 1.5 

papers on SJ motion. 
6/8/18 KIS Review, revise and flnallze motion to compel deposition of M. 3.5 

Quinones-Perez and motion to compel production of 
documents from Kaplan Chen Kaplan. 

6/9/18 MRH Work on onoositlon to motion for sanctions. 4.0 

6/9/18 KIS Research and draftim� 'bpposition to sanctions motion. 8.2 

6/10/18 MRH Work on opposition to motion for sanctions. 3.8 

6/10/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to sanctions motion. 6.6 

6/11/18 MRH Work on oooosltlon to motion for sanctions. 4.7 

6/11/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to sanctions motion. 7.5 

6/11/18 KIS Drafting expert witness exchange documents, discuss with 6.3 

experts, and reviewing same from Defendant; deal with 
Defendant's gripe about timing and manner of exchange 

6/11/18 KIS Travel to/from and speak at N.E. Neighbors meeting regarding 4.0 

case generally. 
6/12/18 MRH Research regarding need for subpoenas for non-profit board 2.2 

members of a party litigant. 
6/12/18 MRH Research and drafting trial brief 6.4 

6/12/18 KIS Review MSJ papers and prepare for hearing. 5.0 

6/12/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion for sanctions. 3.9 

6/12/18 KIS Deal with deposition notices and scheduling of PNA board 0.7 

members; discuss with M. Hughes. 
6/12/18 KIS Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for e><pert 2.0 

depositions 
6/12/18 KIS Research regarding discovery referee authority to control 1.5 

schedule; correspondence regarding motion scheduling. 
6/13/18 MRH Review and revise papers in opposition to motion for 3.3 

sanctions. 

465



6/13/18 AM Review summary judgment papers and prepare for hearing. 1.8 

6/13/18 KIS Revise and finalize opposition and supporting papers on 2.0 
sanctions motion. 

-

6/13/18 KIS Research and draftlne section of trlal bnef. 4.9 

6/13/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's response to objections to reply papers, 4.4 

and prepare for MSJ hearing. 
6/14/18 MRH Research and drafting trial brief 5.6 

-

6/14/18 AA Summary judgment hearing and conference with co-counsel. 5.0 
6/14/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from hearing on MSJ; meeting with J. 13.6 

Levitt thereafter; talk with local press, clients and community 
activists thereafter; research regarding 473 motions and 
waiver of untimely MSJ. 

-

6/14/18 KIS Prepare E. Gordon for deoosltion ofT. O'Day. 0.9 
--·----

6/14/18 KIS Correspondence regarding scheduling of motion re M. 0.3 
Quinones-Perez 

-

6/15/18 MRH Review Defendant's "motion to reject Plaintiffs' argument"; 4.5 
research for opposition; discuss with K. Shenkman 

-

6/15/18 AM Review Defendant's 473 motion and discuss with K. Shenkman 0.8 
-

6/15/18 KIS Correspondence regarding scheduling of motion re M. 2.4 
Quinones-Perez; research regarding timing and service on non-
party witness represented by counsel who has made an 
appearance 

6/15/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to Defendant's (sorta) 473 5.8 
motion 

6/15/18 KIS Research regarding expert discovery timing 0.9 
6/16/18 MRH Research and drafting section of opposition to Defendant's 6.8 

"motion to reject Plaintiffs' argument" 
6/16/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to Defendant's (sorta) 473 10.7 

motion 
6/16/18 KIS Research regarding demand for electronic files created by 2.5

attornev, in response to informal demand from K. Scolnick. 
-,-

6/17/18 AAA Research regarding Defendant's 473 motion and excusable 2.9

neglect standard, discuss with K. Shenkman 
6/17/18 MRH Research and drafting opposition to Defendant's "motion to 7.4 

reject Plalntlffs' argument" 
-

6/17/18 KIS Research, draft, revise opposition to Defendant's (sorta) 473 6.3 
motion 

6/17/18 KIS Deposition preparation with B. Onofre 4.9 
6/17/18 KIS Correspondence regarding deposition locations of B. Onofre 0.2 

an� M. Leon-Va_!que_z __ 
-,__ 

6/18/18 MRH Revise and finalize opposition to Defendant's "motion to reject 3.5 
Plaintiffs' argument''; review Adler declaration regarding 
failure to timely file 473 motion and discuss with K. Shenkman. 

6/18/18 KIS Revise opposition to Defendant's (sorta) 473 motion and 5.8 
file/deliver personally at the request of the court; review 
amusing Adler declaration about how he couldn't walk 3 
blocks to deliver 473 motion so It was not timely filed. 
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6/18/18 KIS Deposition preparation with B. Onofre 1.8 
6/18/18 KIS Correspondence regarding deposition locations of B. Onofre 0.3 

and M. Leon-Vazquez 
6/18/18 KIS Deal with expert deposition schedulin�. 0.7 
6/19/18 MRH Work on trial brief 2.5 
6/19/18 AAA Compile and summarize cases regarding 473 and SJ timing for 6.8 

hearing; attend hearinR on Defendant's 473 motion. 
6/19/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on Defendant's 8.9 

(sorta) 473 motion and deposition of B. Onofre. 
6/19/18 KIS Travel to/from and speak at Mid-City Neighborhood Assn 3.6 

meeting. 
6/19/18 KIS Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for expert 3.2 

depositions 
-

_6j20/18 MRH Work on trial brief 6.7 
6/20/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's reply in support of motion for sanctions 3.5 

and prepare for hearing. 
6/20/18 KIS Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for expert 4.1 

depositions. 
6/20/18 KIS Investigate and review materials on Vazquezes and prepare for 3.3 

deposition of T. Vazquez and M. Leon-Vazquez 
6/21/18 MRH Work on motions in limine 4.0 

,-.. ·---

6/21/18 MRH Review Defendant's reply in support of motion for sanctions; 2.5 
research prompted by reply; discuss with K. Shenkman 

6/21/18 MRH Research regarding timing and scope of supplemental expert 4.7 

_designations and discuss with K. Shenkman 
6/21/18 KIS Evaluate reply In support of sanctions motion; discuss with M. 3.8 

Hughes for hearing preparation 
6/21/18 KIS Review materials on Vazquezes and prepare for deposition of 2.3 

T. Vazauez and M. Leon_:Yazquez
6/21/18 KIS Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for expert 3.6 

depositions.
6/21/18 KIS Work on trial brief 2.0 

Evaluate "supplemental" expert designation; research 
---

6/21/18 KIS 4.1 
regarding propriety of supplementation of expert designation; 
discuss with M. Hughes. 

6/22/18 MRH Review motion to compel further responses to thousands of 2.6 

discovery requests, and associated documents; discuss with K. 
Shenkman. 

6/22/18 MRH Investigate suoolemental expert of Defendant 6.5 
6/22/18 KIS Evaluate motion to compel filed by Defendant on last set of 3.0 

discovery; discuss with E. Gordon and M. Hughes (separately); 
correspondence regarding briefing and hearing schedule. 

6/22/18 KIS Work on trial brief 2.8 
6/22/18 KIS Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare. for expert 3.1 

depositions. 
6/22/18 KIS review materials on Vazquezes and prepare for deposition of 3.2 

T. Vazquez.
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6/22/18 

6/22/18 

6/23/18 

6/23/18 

6/23/18 
6/24/18 

6/24/18 

- ---

I 6/24/18 

i 6/24/18 

� 

6/25/18 

6/25/18 

6/25/18 
6/25/18 

- . 

6/25/18 

6/25/18 
6/26/18 
6/26/18 

6/26/18 

6/26/18 

6/26/18 

6/27/18 

6/27/18 

6/27/18 

6/27/18 

6/27/18 

6/27/18 

6/27/18 

KIS 

KIS 

MRH 

KIS 

KIS 

MRH 

KIS 

KIS 
KIS 

MRH 

KIS 

KIS 

KIS 

-

KIS 

KIS 

MRH 

MRH 
KIS 

KIS 
--

KIS 

MRH 

AAA 

MRH 
KIS 
KIS 
KJS 
KIS 

Deal with/ correspondence regarding T. Vazquez refusal to 0.9 

appear for court-ordered deposition; draft and serve 
deposition notices for R. Miller and A. Sanchez to address T. 
Vazquez refusal to be deposed. 
Evaluate KCK opposition to motion to compel documents and 1.0 

discuss with E. Gordon. 
Research regarding exclusion of late-designated experts and 7.2 

scope of testimony if not excluded altogether. 
Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for expert 8.5 

depositions. 
Work on trial brief 1.7 

Research regarding exclusion of late-designated experts and 7.6 

scope of testimony if not excluded altogether; draft motion 
outline. 
Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for expert 8.8 
deoositlons. 
Work on trial brief 1.1 

-

Deal with deposition and discovery motion scheduling, 1.5 
correspondence regardln _!_ame. 

---

Investigate Defendant's experts, review prior opinions, 9.3 

testimony and reports. 
Travel to/from deposition (no-show) of T. Vazquez; meeting 8.9 
with Parris lawyers and staff regarding pretrial tasks. 
Deposition preparation with J. Blake 1.2 

Review and revise reply In support of motion to compel 4.1 
documents from KCK 
Correspondence back and forth regarding scheduling of 1.0 

Defendant's motion to compel its thousands of discovery 
requests, and the untimeliness of its motion. 
Evaluate Defendant's responses to discovery requests. 1.9 

Review expert documents and prepare for production 4.3 

Investigate Defendant's experts and suoolemental expert 5.0 

Work on trial brief 5.4 

f-Deposltion preparation with M. Kousser 5.9 
-i----·-

Correspondence regarding J. Schloss deposition untimeliness; 3.7 

research regarding consequences of untimeliness and 
procedure for addressing same; and discuss need for motion 
for e_rotei;tive order with D. Williams 
Work on trial brief 7.0 

Preparing trial exhjblts 3.8 

Review expert documents and prepare for production. 3.6 

Deposition preparation with G. de Baca 1.6 
lnvestiga� M. Leon-Vazquez and prepare for her deposition. 4.5 
Work on trial brief 4.7 

Correspondence with discovery referee regarding scheduling 0.9 

and availability of arguments on motion to compel.
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6/28/18 MRH Research and drafting motion for sanctions for T. Vazquez 8.9 
failure to appear for court-ordered deposition 

6/28/18 MRH Review expert documents and prepare for production. 2.6 

6/28/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend discovery referee 6.2 
hearing on motion for sanctions and motion to compel 
documents from KCK 

6/28/18 KIS Correspondence concerning disputes regarding Schloss, 2.0 
Sanchez and MIiier depositions, and research same. 

6/28/18 KJS Investigate M. Leon-Vazquez and prepare for her deposition; 3.9 

discuss with M. Grimes 
.----

6/29/18 MRH Research and drafting motion for sanctions for T. Vazquez 8,5 

,___ 
failure to appear for court-ordered deposition 

_
6/29/18 AAA Preparing trial exhibits 5.7 

--

6/29/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend/take deposition of M. 10.8 
Leon-Vazquez 

6/29/18 KIS Evaluate opposition to motion to compel deposition of M. 1,4 

Quinones-Per�!� discuss with �- �ordon. 
6/29/18 KIS Call with J. Levitt in preparation for deposition. 0.5 
6/30/18 MRH Research and drafting motion for sanctions for T. Vazquez 5.7 

failure to appear for court-ordered deposition 
6/30/18 MRH Review documents produced by Defendant on June 29 6.0 
6/30/18 KIS Evaluate correspondence from C. VIiiegas to discovery referee; 4,3 

research authority of discovery referee over third-parties In 
response thereto and discuss with E. Gordon how to proceed. 

6/30/18 KIS Deposition preparation with C. Mcleod 4.9 
1---

6/30/18 KIS Research and drafting part of motion to quash deposition 3.5 
subpoena of J. Schloss 

7/1/18 MRH Review documents produced by Defendant on June 29 5.0 
I-

7/1/18 MRH Research and drafting motion for sanctions for T. Vazquez 5.8 

failure to appear for court-ordered deposition 
7/1/18 KIS Work with R. Holbrook friends and family to get declaration, 2.2 

revise declaration accordi�ly_. ___ 
--

7/1/18 KIS Research and drafting motion to strike Lichtman deslgnatl� 8.4

7/1/18 KIS Review, research and revise motion to quash J. Schloss 1.9

subooena. 
7/2/18 MRH Review documents produced by Defendant on June 29 5.7 
7/2/18 MRH Research and drafting motion for sanctions for T. Vazquez 4.2 

failure to appear for court-ordered deposition 
-- ---

7/2/18 KIS Deposition preparation wlthJ. Brown 3.0 
7/2/18 KIS Travel to/from SM and procure signature on R. Holbrook 2.0 

statement. 
--

7/2/18 KIS Work on trial brief. 3.8 
7/2/18 KIS Research and drafting motion to strike Lichtman designation 4.4 
7/2/18 KIS Work on reply In support of motron to compel deposition of 1.7 

M. Quinones-Perez and discuss same with E. Gordon
7/3/18 MRH Review documents produced by Defendant on June 29 5.9 
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7/3/18 MRH Research regarding effect of motion to quash on pending 2.8 

scheduled deposition and need (or lack thereof) to specifically 
seek a stay of the deposition. 

7/3/18 MRH Research and drafting motion for sanctions for T. Vazquez 3.6 

failure to appear for court-ordered deposition 
7/3/18 AAA Gather evidence for M. Kousser and prepare exhibits. 2.1 

7/3/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with D. Ely, T. Crane and M. Grimes 6.6 

regarding remedial map etc.; review P. Morrison report with 
D. Ely and prepare outline of P. Morrison deposition.

7/3/18 KIS Research and drafting motion to strike Lichtman designation 3.8 

7/3/18 KIS Review writ petition challenging denial of MSJ, formulate 3.1 

response 
7/3/18 KIS Deal with C. Villegas refusal to attend scheduled discovery 0.3 

referee hearing. 
7/3/18 KIS Review and revise reply In support of motion to compel 2.1 

deposition of M. Quinones-Perez 
7/4/18 MRH f{evlew documents produced by Defendant on June 29 4.5 

7/4/18 KIS Research and drafting motion to strike Lichtman designation 2.9 
7/4/18 KIS Research and drafting delighted letter in response to writ 4.2 

petition challenging denial of MSJ 
7/4/18 KIS Review Morrison documents and prepare for his deposition. 5.7 

7/5/18 MRH Meeting with D .  Ely and M. Grimes 6.4 

7/5/18 MRH Review, revise motion to strike supplemental expert 2.3 

designation 
7/5/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing with discovery 7.5 

referee regarding M. Quinones-Perez motion and other 
matters such as Kousser deposition and Lichtman deposition / 
improper designation; and attend/defend deposition of J. 
Brown. 

7/5/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with 0. Ely and M. Grimes to prepare 4.5 
E!y testimony 

7/5/18 KIS Research and drafting delighted letter in opposition to writ 3.3 
petition 

7/5/18 KIS Call with R. Rubin re: trial and witnesses 0.8 

7/5/18 KIS Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for depositions. 2.9 
7/6/18 MRH Research and drafting ex pa rte to shorten time on T. Vazquez 6.8 

sanctions motion. 
7/6/18 MRH Research and drafting opposition to motion to compel 4.5 

responses to Defendant's last set of thousands of discovery 
requests. 

7/6/18 AAA Preparing trial exhibits 3.3 

7/6/18 KIS Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for depositions; 2.5 

review lewis documents 
7/6/18 KIS Research and revise ex parte applications regarding Lichtman 3.0 

and Vazquez, discuss with R. Parris 
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7/6/18 KIS 

7/7/18 MRH 

7/7/18 MRH 

7/7/18 AAA 

7/7/18 KIS 
7/7/18 KIS 

7/8/18 MRH 

7/8/18 MRH 
7/8/18 MRH 
7/8/18 AAA 

t------

7/8/18 KIS 
7/8/18 KIS 

-

7/8/18 KIS 

-- -

7/9/18 MRH 

7/9/18 MRH 
7/9/18 MRH 
7/9/18 I AAA 
7/9/18 KIS 

7/9/18 KIS 

7/10/18 MRH 

7/10/18 MRH 
---

7/10/18 AAA 

7/10/18 KIS 

7/10/18 KIS 
7/10/18 KIS 
7/10/18 KIS 
7/11/18 MRH 

7/11/18 MRH 

Research and drafting opposition to ex parte to exclude 9.6 

Kousser testimony; correspondence with K. Scolnick to figure 
out what basis for excluding Kousser might be. 

---

Research and drafting section of ex parte opposition regarding 
Kousser discriminatory intent analys_!s, 
Review documents produced by Defendant on June 29 
Preparing trlal exhibits 
Investigate Defendant's experts and prepare for depositions. 
Research and drafting opposition to ex parte to exclude 
Kousser testimony. 
Research, draft and revise opposition to motion to compel 
responses to Defendant's last set of thousands of discovery 
requests. 
Research and revise opposition to Kousser ex parte application 
Review documents produced b Defendant on June 29 
Preparing trial exhibits 

Jnvestigate Defendant's experts and prepare for depositions. 
Revise and finalize delighted letter in opposition to writ 
petition re arding denial of MSJ 
Research and drafting opposition to ex parte to exclude 
Kousser testlm_c:,ny. 
Revise and finalize opposition to motion to compel responses 
to Defendant's last set of thousands of discovery requests. 
Review documents produced by Defendant on June 29 
Prepare M. ��u�ser for deposltlo_n 
Preparing trial exhibits 
Prepare for, travel to and attend hearing on various ex parte 
acolicatlons regarding Lichtman, Vazquez and Kousser. 
Prepare for, travel to/from, attend/take deposition of P. 
Morrison. 
Review and revise motions in limlne, discuss with K. Shenkman 
advisability of multiple motions in limine 
Review documents produced by Defendant on June 29 
Final review of exhibits, work with M. Cussimonio to prepare 
for trial. 
Revise and finalize motion in llmine regarding exogenous and 
all-white elections, discuss other motions in limine with M. 
Hughes and potential for raising issues in other manners. 
Prepare for Lewis deposition, discuss with J. Levitt. 
Call with R. Rubin re: trial 
Deposition preparation with D. Ely 
Research and drafting opposition to motion to exclude Kousser 
testimony 
Read Defendant's reply in support of its writ petition and 
discuss with K. Shenkman. 

5.9 

4.8 

5.0 
4.6 
8.4 

2.8 

3.9 

2.7 
6.2 
3.5 

1.0 

7,2 

--
3.3 

4.0 
5.4 

6.9 
4.7 

10.2 

3.5 

. 
2.9 
4.8 

2.8 

7.1 
0.6 
3,5 

8.5 

0.8 

--
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7/11/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's reply to delighted letter regarding writ 1.2 
petition, discuss with M. Hughes, and research regarding 

.__ --

proprietv of reply. 
-,----

7/11/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and take deposition of Jeffrey 11.0 
Lewis, call with R. Rubin re: same thereafter 

7/11/18 KIS Research and drafting opposition to motion to exclude Kousser 4.0 
testimony 

7/12/18 MRH Research and drafting oppositions to motions in limine 7.2 
7/12/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing with discovery 9.0 

referee on Lichtman motion; attend/defend deposition of D. 
Ely 

7/12/18 KIS Research and drafting oppositions to motions in limine, 4.1 
including Kousser motion 

7/12/18 KIS Deposition preparation with M. Kousser 3.0 
.J/12/18 KIS Short call with J. Levitt to ensure preparation for deposition. 0.3 
7/12/18 KIS Evaluate 2DCA order denying Defendant's writ petition; send 0.2 

to local press 

,!Jl3/18 MRH Research and drafting oppositions to motions In limlll!_ 11.9 
7/13/18 KIS Research and drafting oppositions to motions in limine, 4.3 

Including Kousser motion; personally file Kousser op sition 
7/13/18 KIS Travel to/from and attend Levitt deposition. 6.0 
7/13/18 KIS Deposition preparation with M. Kousser 2.9 
7/13/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's replies in support of Its sanctions motion 4.4 

and motion to compel further responses to Its thousands of 
discovery requests and prepare outline of argument for 
hearing. 

7/14/18 MRH Research and drafting oppositions to motions in limlne 8.9 
7/14/18 KIS Research and drafting oppositions to motions in limine 3.5 
7/14/18 KIS Travel to/from and attend/defend Kousser deposition. 9.7 
7/14/18 KIS Investigate and prepare for deposition of A. Lichtman; review 3.3 

documents produced by Lichtman 
7/14/18 KIS Evaluate discovery referee ruling and discuss strategy in 0.3 

respons_e with M. Hu_s_hes. _ _ _ 
7/15/18 MRH Research and drafting oppositions to motions in limine 9.8 

7/15/18 KIS Research and drafting oooosltlons to motions in llmlne 8.5 

7/15/18 KIS Investigate and prepare for deposition of A. Lichtman; review 6.4 
documents produced by Lichtman 

7/16/18 MRH Revise and finalize oppositions to motions in limine 3.5 
7 /16/18 KIS Revise and research oppositions to motions in llmine, discuss 4.3 

with J. Levitt 
7/16/18 KIS Review discovery referee rulings regarding KCK documents 0.4 

and Lichtman designation, and coordinate with E. Gordon to 
get and review documents. 

7/16/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend/take deposition of A. 10.9 
Lichtman 

7/16/18 KIS Trial prep and work on witness list and exhibit list 5.5 

7/17/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 11.4 
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7/17/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend discovery referee 7.2 
hearing on Defendant's motion to compel final discovery 
request responses, Plaintiffs' motion for sanctions for T. 
Vazquez no-show, and scope of Lichtman testimony. 

7/17/18 KIS Evaluate reply in support of Defendant's motion to exclude 3.4 
Kousser Intent testimony; discuss with M. Kousser and 
deposition preparation with M. Kousser for second day of 
deposition 

7/17/18 KIS Trial preo and work on witness list and exhibit list 5.0 

7/18/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 5.7 

7/18/18 MRH Research and drafting letter brief regarding scope of Lichtman 6.1 
testimony 

7/18/18 KIS Review motions In limine and other papers and prepare for 4.5 

final status conference. 
7/18/18 KIS Calls with M. Kousser regarding deposition 0.6 

7/19/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 12.1 
7/19/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend final status conference, 8.3 

meetinfl with team thereafter. 
7/19/18 KIS Trial prep 3.9 
7/19/18 KIS Research and drafting letter brief regarding scope of Lichtman 5.8 

testimony 
7/20/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 10.6 
7/20/18 KIS Research, draft, revise letter brief regarding scope of Lichtman 5.9 

testimony 
7/20/18 KIS Trial orep 7.7 
7/20/18 KIS Review discovery referee ruling regarding M. Qulniones-Perez 0.2 

and coordinate with E. Gordon to secure deposition 
attendance. 

7/21/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 10.6 
7/21/18 KIS Prepare and deliver letter brief regarding scope of Lichtman 4.5 

testimony 
7/21/18 KIS Trial prep 9.8 
7/22/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 8.4 
7/22/18 KIS Trial prep (read depositions and prepare witness outlines} and 11.2 

revise trial brief, discuss with J. Levitt 
7/23/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 9.8 
7/23/18 AAA Review 1992 council video; prepare transcript of key portions 7.9 

and timestamps of su��ested clips for trial 
7/23/18 KIS Trial prep (read depositions, prepare witness outlines, prepare 12.6 

opening) 
7/23/18 KIS Evaluate discovery referee rulings on various issues/motions 0.9 

and coordinate appropriate response. 
7/24/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 7.6 

7/24/18 AAA Finish preparing 1992 video guidance and meet with M. 11.9 

Kousser and K. Shenkman 

473



7/24/18 I KIS Trial prep (read depositions, prepare witness outlines, prepare 5.0 
opening, revise witness list and exhibit list), discuss with J. 
Levitt. 

-

7/24/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with M. Kousser and A. Alarcon for 9.4 
trial prep 

7/24/18 KIS Deal with �ompliance of third parties regarding discovery 0.7 
referee rulings. 

7/25/18 MRH Trial preparation Including beginning investigation of 12.3

Defendant's witnesses 
7/25/18 AAA Research for M. Kousser and K. Shenkman regardlngT. 7.7 

Vazquez recent stance on minority contracting, historical 
pictures of Pico Neighborhood and city council members, 
charter advertisements and endorsements and minority 
leaders In 1940s SM. 

---- -

7/25/18 KIS Trial prep (prepare video presentation, read depositions, 13.1 
prepare witness outlines, prepare opening, revise witness list 
and exhibit list) 

7/26/18 MRH Trial preparation including investigation of Defendant's 13.0 
witnesses 

7/26/18 KIS Trial prep (read depositions, prepare witness outlines, prepare 14.1 
opening) 

7/27/18 MRH Work on trial brief and trial preparation 10.5 
7/27/18 KIS Trial prep (read depositions, prepare witness outlines, prepare 13.8 

opening) 
7/28/18 MRH Revise trial brief and discuss with K. Shenkman, and other trial 11.6 

preparation 
7/28/18 KIS Trial prep (read depositions, prepare witness outlines, prepare 12.2 

opening) 
7/28/18 KIS Revise and finalize trial �rlef, discuss with J. Levitt 3.3

7/28/18 AAA Review R. Cole deposition, summarize and prepare outline for 8.6

trial 
-- --

7/29/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and meeting with trial team at 14.6 
Grimes office for trial and opening rehearsal; and trial prep 
upon return (read depositions, prepare witness outlines, 
discuss with witnesses, prepare opening) 

7/29/18 AAA Trial opening prep meeting; research regarding hazards in Pico 13.3 
Neighborhood; draft outline of opening with stats. 

7/29/18 MRH Work on trial preparation; meeting with co-counsel to present 12.5 
and critique opening statement. 

7/30/18 MRH Trial preparation Including reading depositions, investigating 10.9 
Defendant's witnesses and preparing witness outlines. 

7/30/18 AAA Work on hazardous use portion of opening with M. Grimes; 13.6

land use and zoning research at SM library and discuss with K. 
Shenkman 

7/30/18 KIS Trial prep (read depositions, prepare witness outlines, prepare 13.3 
opening) 
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7/31/18 MRH 

7/31/18 MRH 

-

7/31/18 AAA 

7/31/18 KIS 

7/31/18 KIS 

8/1/18 KIS 
� -

8/1/18 MRH 

8/1/18 AAA 

8/2/18 KIS 
8/2/18 MRH 

8/2/18 AAA 

8/3/18 KIS 

8/3/18 MRH 

I 
8/3/18 AAA 

8/4/18 KIS 

I 
8/4/18 MRH 

8/4/18 AAA 

8/5/18 KIS 

._ 
8/5/18 KIS 

-

8/5/18 MRH 

8/5/18 AAA 

8/6/18 KIS 

8/6/18 MRH 

8/6/18 AAA 

Review Defendant's trial brief and "glossary of terms" and 
discuss with K. Shenkman 
Trial preparation including reading depositions, Investigating 
Defendant's witnesses and preparing witness outlines. 
Draft Kousser 1940s testimony outline; miscellaneous trial 
prep 
Trial prep (read depositions, prepare witness outlines, prepare 
opening) 
Evaluate Defendant's trial brief and purported glossary; 
�lscuss respon_se to glossary �Ith M. Hughes �n_� A. Alarcon. 
Trial ---
Trial support from office, including review motion to exclude S. 
Farias, S. Hoffbauer and J. carrlllo and research and draft 
opposition, and deal with purportedly Inadvertent production 
by Defendant 
Trial 
Trial 
Trial support from office, including research and draft 
opposition to motion to exclude S. Farias, S. Hoffbauer and J. 
Carrillo, and review documents produced by LACDP, Schloss 
and SMMU?P �� response to Defendant's trial subpoena 
Trial 
Trial 
Trial support from office, including revise and finalize 
opposition to motion to exclude 5. Farias, 5. Hoffbauer and J. 
Carrillo, and research issue of purportedly Inadvertent 
production and ethical obllgatlons in response. 
Trial 
Trial prep, discuss with J. Levitt, and deal with admissibility of 
Holbrook statement and emails and preparing M. Loya for 
court questioning 
Trial preparation Including research and drafting opposition to 
motion to exclude Holbrook statement 
Trial prep and draft responses to discovery requests consistent 

__ �ith discovery referee ruling
Trial prep and deal with M. loya email Issue and preparing M. 
Loya for court questioning 
Review and revise responses to discovery requests specified by 
dJsc�".'ery ref��E!'. ____ -
Trial preparatlon including research and drafting opposition to 
motion to exclude Holbrook statement 
Trial prep and draft responses to discovery requests consistent 
with discovery referee ruling 
Trial 
Trial support from office Including research and drafting 
oooosltlon to motion to exclude Holbrook statement 
Trial 
-

2.0 

9.8 

16.3 

11.s

2.4 

15.8 --·

12.6 

10.2 

17.4 
11.5 

13.8 
12.9 

10.9 

11.6 
13.1 

12.0 

12.5 

11.7 

1.9 

-

12.2 

13.3 

18.2 
11.1 

11.9 

-

- -
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8/7/18 KIS Trial and preDare for continuing deposition ofT. Vazouez 17.9 

8/7/18 MRH Trial support from office, including research and revising 10.8 

opposition to motion to exclude Holbrook statement 

8/7/18 AAA Trial 14.8 

8/8/18 KIS Trial and prepare for continuing deposition of T. VazQuez 17.8 

8/8/18 MRH Trial support from office, including investigate Defendant's 13.5 

witnesses and preparing witness outlines 

8/8/18 AAA Trial 13.2 

8/9/18 KIS Trial and deposition of T. Vazquez 19.S

8/9/18 MRH Trial support from office, including Investigate Defendant's 12.4 

witnesses and preparing witness outlines 

8/9/18 AAA Trial 14.4 

8/10/18 KIS Trial and work on response to "glossary" 15.7 

8/10/18 MRH Trial support from office. Including investigate Defendant's 12.2 

witnesses and preparing witness outlines 

8/10/18 AAA Trial 9.6 

8/11/18 KIS Trial prep and research and drafting motion regarding K. 12.9 

McDonald report, and deal with Defendant's attempt and 
correspondence to create discovery dispute. 

8/11/18 MRH Trial preparation and work on motion concerning Defendant's 9.5 

failure to disclose expert report 

8/11/18 AAA Trial prep 5.6 

8/12/18 KIS Trial prep and research and drafting motion regarding K. 11.6 

McDonald report and correspondence with K. Scolnick 
regarding Defendant's attempt to create discovery disputes to 
distract from trial 

8/12/18 MRH Trial preparation and work on motion concerning Defendant's 10.6 

failure to disclose e1<pert report 
8/12/18 AAA Trial prep 6.3 

8/13/18 KIS Trial and review/revise opposition to motion to quash 18.0 

deposition subpoena. 
8/13/18 MRH Trial support from office, including dealing with additional 12.6 

email production 
8/13/18 AAA Trial 15.2 

8/14/18 KIS Trial prep and address and coordinate opposition to motion 13.7 

for sanctions Including working with K. Scolnlck and M. Loya to 
search for em alls. 

8/14/18 MRH Trial preparation, including investigate Defendant's witnesses 9.1 

and preparing witness outlines and work on opposition to 
sanctions motion 

8/14/18 AAA Trial prep 7.9 

8/15/18 KIS Trial 16.2 

8/15/18 MRH Trial support from office, including investigate Defendant's 12.0 

witnesses and preparing witness outlines 
8/15/18 AAA Trial 12.3 

8/16/18 KIS Trial 18.9 
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- --

8/16/18 MRH Trial support from office, including work on opposition to 11.5 
sanctions motion. 

8/16/18 AAA Trial 14.0 
8/17/18 KIS Trial 12.3 
8/17/18 MRH Trial support from office, including work on reply in support of 9.3 

K. McDonald motion
8/17/18 AAA Trial 11.5 
8/18/18 KIS Trial prep and work on deposition designations 13.8 
8/18/18 MRH Trial preparation, including reading depositions and 11.7 

summaries and preparing designations and working on reply
regarding K. McDonald report not disclosed by Defendant.

8/18/18 AAA Trial pre 4.6 
8/19/18 KIS Trial prep and work on deposition designations and reply In 14.6 

support of motion to strike answer for failure to disclose 
report finding raclaltv eolarlzed votin_L ___ -

c- -1--
8/19/18 MRH Trial preparation, including reading depositions and 10.5 

- -,__ __

summaries and preparing designations. 
8/19/18 AAA Trial prep 2.8 
8/20/18 KIS Trial 17.9 
8/20/18 KIS Evaluate SMCCO's reply in support of motion to quash 0.4 

subpoena -

8/20/18 MRH Trial support from office, including reading depositions and 12.6 
summaries and preparing designations. 

8/20/18 AAA Trial 15.6 
.-!f2.1/18 KIS Trial 15.5 
8/21/18 MRH Trial support from office, including reading depositions and 10.9 

summaries and preparing designations. 
8/21/18 AAA Trial support 4.S

�1/.18 KIS Trial 19.1
8/22/18 MRH Trial support from office, including Investigate Defendant's 11.8

witnesses and re arlng witness outlines 
-- --

8/22/18 AAA Trial 13.0 
··s;2311a KIS Trial 16,3 
8/23/18 KIS Work on opposition to motion for sanctions and coordinate 2.0 

with E. Gordon. 
,_ 

8/23/18 MRH Trial support from office, including work on response to 13.5 
Defendant's purported glossary of terms 

8/23/18 AAA Trial 14.8 
8/24/18 KIS Trial 17.4 
8/24/18 MRH Trial support from office, including Investigate Defendant's 13.1 

witnesses and preparing witness outlines 
8/24/18 AAA Trial 10.2 

--

8/25/18 KIS 
�-·--

Trial prep and work on response to "glossary" 10.3 
8/25/18 MRH Trial preparation, including Investigate Defendant's witnesses 7.8 

and preparing witness outlines 
8/25/18 AAA Trial prep 2.5 
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8/26/18 KIS Trial preparation, including video review of deposition clips 12.2 
and review papers on motion to quash subpoena of M. 

�lnones·Perez for hearing on same 
,...._ 

8/26/18 MRH Trial preparation 8.4 
8/26/18 AAA Trial prep 3.8 
8/27/18 KIS Trial prep, including reading and watching deposition portions, 11.9 

discussion with J. Levitt and preparing cross exam bulletpoints, 
and correspondence with K. Scolnick regarding rule of 
completeness and what deposition clips to plav. 

8/27/18 MRH Trial preparation 6.8 
8/27/18 AAA Trial prep 4.6 

,-8/28/18 KIS Trial 15.5 
8/28/18 MRH Trial preparation, Including investigating Defendant's potential 6.5 

witnesses and develoo cross exams. 
8/28/18 AAA Trial 13.4 

·-

---·--

8/29/18 KIS Trial 17.3 
8/29/18 MRH Trial preparation, includlng investigating Defendant's potential 9.9

witnesses and develop cross exams. 
8/29/18 AAA Trial 13.1 
8/30/18 KIS Trial 19.0 
8/30/18 MRH Trial preparation, including investigating Defendant's potential 7.6 

witnesses and develop cross exams. 
8/30/18 AAA Trial 12.9 

--

8/31/18 KIS Coordinate co-counsel preoaration for trial. 2.9 
8/31/18 MRH Trial preparation, focusing on 4 witnesses identified by 10.2 

Defendant's counsel In email. 
8/31/18 AAA Trial prep 1.0 
9/1/18 KIS Coordinate co-counsel preparation for trial and work on 3.3 

witness outline 
9/1/18 MRH Trial preparation, including Investigating Defendant's potential 5.9 

-

�itnesses and develoo cross exams. 
---'-

9/1/18 AAA Trial prep and preoarinR cross exams 6.2 

9/2/18 KIS Coordinate co-counsel preparation for trial and prepare 4.6 

witness cross exam 
9/2/18 MRH Trial preparation, Including investigating Defendant's potential 7.0 

witnesses and develop cross exams. 
9/2/18 AAA Trial prep and preparini:1 cross exams 7.0 
9/3/18 KIS Trial prep and coordinate with co-counsel regarding cross 9.8 

exams 
9/3/18 MRH Trial preparation, including revising response to Defendant's 7.6 

�glossary" 
9/3/18 AAA Trial prep and preparing cross exams 10.9 
9/4/18 KIS Trial and revise and finalize response to Defendant's "glossary 15.9 

of terms," deal with Lichtman scope and exhibits outside of 
what was ready for deoosition auestionlng 
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9/4/18 MRH Trial support from office, including investigation of : 8.9 
Defendant's potential witnesses and preparing witness cross 
examination outlines 

----- - --

9/4/18 AAA Trial 14.9 
----

9/5/18 KIS Trial 16.6 
9/5/18 MRH Trial support from office, including investigation of 9.5 

Defendant's potential witnesses and preparing witness cross 
e><amination outlines 

9/5/18 AAA Trlal 12.8 
- - -- --

__ ..,_ ----

9/6/18 KIS Trial 13.3 
---

9/6/18 MRH Trlal support from office, including Investigation of 6.8 
Defendant's potential witnesses and preparing witness cross 
e><amlnation outlines 

--

� AAA Trlal prep and preparing cross exams 6.5 
9/7/18 KIS Trial prep, includmg dealin with Lichtman issue 10.9 
9/7/18 MRH Trial preparation including investigation of Defendant's 7.0 

potential witnesses and preparing witness cross e><amlnation 
outlines 

9/7/18 AAA Trial prep and preparing cross exams 6.3 
9/8/18 KIS ,__Trlal prep, including dealing with Lichtman issue 11.5 
- - --

9/8/18 MRH Trial preparation, Including investigation of Defendant's 5.5 
potential witnesses and preparing witness cross e><amination 
outlines 

9/8/18 AAA Trial prep and preparing cross exams 6.0 
---

9/9/18 KIS Trial prep, including_dealing wlth Lichtman Issue 10.6 
9/9/18 MRH Trial preparation, including investigation of Defendant's 5.2 

potential witnesses and preparing witness cross examination 
outlines 

9/9/18 AAA Trial prep and preparing cross exams 7.3 
9/10/18 KIS Trial and review papers regarding sanctions motion in 15.S

preparation for hearing 
9/10/18 MRH Trial support from office 4.7 

----

9/10/18 AAA Trial 11.7 
9/11/18 KIS Trial and research and draft response regarding Lichtman's 11.1 

testimony and documents outside the scope of deposition 
9/11/18 MRH Trial support from office, including research and drafting 6.0 

response regarding Lichtman testimony and documents 
9/11/18 AAA Trial and discuss preparation of closing brief 9.7 
9/12/18 KIS Research and drafting closing brief. 8.6 

--

9/12/18 MRH Research, draft and revise response regarding Lichtman 4.1 
testimony and documents beyond his designation and what he 
was pre ared to discuss at deposition. 

9/12/18 AAA Research for closing brief and prepare for exhibit admission 3.0 
-- - -

�ring. __ 
-- - -- - -

9/13/18 KIS Review exhibits, travel to/from and attend conference to 5.6 
address admission of trlal exhibits, debrief with A. Alarcon and 
M. Cussimonio to address trial exhibit issues.

-- - -- --
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9/13/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with M. Kousser and A. Gonzalez for 4.9 

trial debrief and thoughts on closing. 
9/13/18 MRH Research and organize closing brief and proposed verdict 4.0 

form. 
9/13/18 AAA Court conference re: trlal exhibits, conference with K. 6.7 

Shenkman thereafter and research for closing brief. 
9/14/18 KIS Research and drafting closing brief. 7.5 

9/14/18 MRH Work on closing brief 5.8 

9/14/18 AAA Research for closing brief 4.1 

9/15/18 KIS Research and drafting closing brief. 8.2 

9/15/18 MRH Worf< on closing brief 7.1 

9/15/18 AAA Research for closing brief 5.0 

9/16/18 KIS Research and drafting dosing brief and verdict form, review 10.7 

trial transcripts and exhibits 
9/16/18 MRH Work on closing brief 6.4 

9/16/18 AAA Review trial transcript for use in dosing brief 7.1 

9/17/18 KIS Research and drafting closing brief and verdict form, review 11.2 

,-
trial transcripts and exhibits 

9/17/18 MRH Work on closing brief 6.9 

9/17/18 AAA Review trial transcript for use in closing brief 4.4 

9/18/18 KIS Research and drafting closing brief and verdict form, review 9.5 

trial transcripts and exhibits 
9/18/18 MRH Drafting closing brief and verdict form 4.9 

9/18/18 AAA Review trial transcripts for inserts in closing brief 3.7 

9/19/18 KIS Research and drafting closing brief. 10.8 

9/19/18 MRH Revise oortions of closing brief 5.9 

9/19/18 AAA Review trial transcripts for inserts in closing brief 14.3 

9/20/18 KIS Research and drafting closing brief, adding evidentiary support 11.5 
9/20/18 MRH Work on dosing brief 6.2 

9/20/18 AAA Insert trial transcript and trial exhibit citations In closing brief 11.6 
and revise intent section 

9/21/18 KJS Research and drafting closing brief, adding evldentiarv support 7.4 

9/21/18 MRH Review and revise closing brief 3.2 

9/21/18 AAA Find trial transcript and exhibits for citation In closing brief and 5.5

verdict form 
9/22/18 KIS Revise closing brief, add evidentiary support 6.2 

9/22/18 I MRH Revise closing brief 1.5 

9/22/18 AAA Find trial transcript and exhibits for citation in closing brief and 3.5 

verdict form 
9/23/18 KIS Revise closing brief, add evldentiary support 5.5 

9/23/18 MRH Research and revise closing brief and verdict form 4.9 

9/23/18 AAA Find trial transcript and exhibits for citation in closing brief and 4.0 
verdict form 

9/24/18 KIS Revise closing brief, add evldentlary suppo_rt 7.2 

9/24/18 MRH Revise closing brief and verdict form 2.4 
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9/24/18 AAA Revise closing brief and verdict form with evidence support 4.7 

and deal with trial exhibit admission issue. 
9/25/18 KIS Revise and finalize closing brief and verdict form 3.8 

9/25/18 MRH Revise and finalize closing brief 1.0 

10/10/18 KIS Investigate problem with closing brief corresponding to 1.7 

admitted exhibits; research ability to introduce RFA response 
after conclusion of evidence at trial. 

10/11/18 KIS Deal with difference between closing brief, proposed verdict 2.1 

form and admitted exhibits, and draft notice of errata and 
corrected closing documents accordingly 

10/15/18 KIS Evaluate Defendant's closing brlef and verdict form, discuss 3.6 

with M. Hughes and begin formulating response 
10/15/18 KIS Travel to/from and meet with PNA board 3.5 

10/15/18 MRH Review dosing statement and proposed verdict form filed by 4.5 

Defendant and discuss same with K. Shenkman; research 
issues raised In Defendant's closing and verdict form. 

10/16/18 KIS Research and drafting reply dosing brief 8.5 

10/16/18 MRH Research and drafting response to Defendant's closing 6.7 

statement. 
10/17/18 KIS Research and drafting reply closing brief 9.2 

10/17/18 AAA Review correspondence from T. Henry and review trial notes 1.8 

to determine admission of exhibits 
10/17/18 KIS Review correspondence from T. Henry regarding exhibits and 0.7 

coordinate with A. Alarcon and M. Cusslmonio 
10/17/18 MRH Research and drafting response to Defendant's dosing 5.5 

statement. 
10/18/18 KIS Research and drafting reply dosing brief 7.3 

10/18/18 MRH Research and drafting response to Defendant's closing 5.8 

statement. 
10/18/18 AAA Review trial transcripts for response to T. Henry regarding 7.4 

admission of exhibits 
10/19/18 KIS Research and drafting reply closing brief, discuss with J. Levitt 8.3 
10/19/18 KIS Deal with inquiries from press and public regarding allegations 2.5 

of PAL sex abuse and discussion of same at depositions of 
Winterer, Cole, et al. in advance of revelations of rampant sex 
abuse of Latino children in the Pico Neighborhood; draft 
statement concerning same. 

10/19/18 MRH Research and drafting response to Defendant's closing 4.0 

statement. 
10/20/18 KIS Research and drafting reply closing brief 9.3 

10/20/18 MRH Research and drafting response to Defendant's closing 2.6 
statement. 

10/21/18 KIS Research and drafting reply closin11 brief 8.7 

10/21/18 MRH Research and drafting response to Defendant's closing 4.4 
statement. 

10/22/18 KIS Research and drafting reply closing brief 10.4 
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10/22/18 MRH Research and drafting response to Defendant's closing 4.8 

statement. 

10/23/18 KIS Research and drafting reply closing brief 7.8 

10/23/18 MRH Research and drafting response to Defendant's closing 5.9 

statement. 

10/23/18 AAA Work on rebuttal closim! brief and find trial citations 9.1 

10/24/18 KIS Research and revising reply closing brief s.o

10/24/18 MRH Revise response to Defendant's closing statement and discuss 2.3 
with K. Shenkman 

10/24/18 AAA Work on rebuttal closing brief and find trial citations 5.8 

10/25/18 KIS Revise and finalize reply closing brief 3.0 

10/25/18 MRH Revise response to Defendant's closing statement. 1.2 

10/25/18 AAA Review T. Henry objections to exhibit binders and coordinate 1.3 
with K. Shenkman and M. Cussimonio 

10/26/18 KIS Investigate, research and drafting response to objections to 2.0 
exhibit binders 

10/26/18 AAA Review trial transcripts for exhibit admissions to deal with 10.5 
Defendant's objections; draft sections for response to 
objections 

10/27/18 KIS Investigate, research and drafting response to objections to 3.1 
exhibit binders 

10/27/18 AAA Work on response to objection to exhibit binders and 6.5 
declaration 

10/28/18 KIS Investigate, research and drafting response to objections to 3.6 
exhibit binders 

10/28/18 AAA Revise and coordinate response to objection to trial exhibit 1.7 

binders and call with E. Gordon 
10/29/18 KIS Draft, revise and finalize response to objections to exhibit 2.5 

binders and associated papers. 
10/29/18 AAA Review transcripts for citations reQuested bv K. Shenkman. 3.2 
10/30/18 KIS Travel to/from and speak at N.E. Neighbors meeting 3.9 

11/9/18 AAA Monitor LASC Electronic filing system for ruling throughout the 1.0 
day; Email Exchange w team. 

11/10/18 KIS Deal with press and clients and community activists regarding 1.8 

unavailability of court decision on case and story about 
monetary sanctions 

11/13/18 KIS Evaluate court tentative decision, deal with press regarding 3.7 
same, communicate with co-counsel and experts regarding 
ruling. 

11/13/18 MRH Review court decision; discuss timing of remedies briefing with 5.2 
K. Shenkman; research and drafting ex parte application to
modify briefing schedule as an impossibility.

11/13/18 AAA Speak with K. Shenkman re ruling and briefing schedule; 2.0 
review ruling; call Dept. 28 regarding briefing schedule and
receipt of ruling; conduct press search; Email team re SM Press
Statement.
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11/14/18 KIS Correspondence with K. Scolnick and coordinate with E. 0.6 
Gordon regarding briefing schedule and stipulation, avoiding 
need for ex parte application. 

11/14/18 KIS Research and drafting remedies brief 7.3 
11/14/18 MRH Research and drafting opening remedies brief 4.5 
11/15/18 KIS Correspondence with K. Scolnlck regarding effect of court 0.3 

decision on 2018 election. 
-- -

--

11/15/18 KIS Evaluate request for statement of decision, discuss with M. 3.8 
Hughes, and research regarding level of harassment by 

1----
Defendant's reQuest for statement of decision 

11/15/18 MRH Research regarding inquisition through request for statement 4.9 
of decision. 

11/15/�
!
__ KIS Travel to/from and meet with G. Morena and 0. de la Torre 3.0 

11/15/18 KIS Travel to/from and participate in local cable news story 3.3 

I-
regarding Plaintiffs' victory. 

11/15/18 KIS Begin formulating remedies brief and strategy, discuss with J. 1.5 
Levitt. 

11/16/18 KIS Research and drafting remedies brief 7.6 
11/16/18 MRH Research and draftin� opening remedies brief 5.8 

11/17/18 KIS Research and drafting remedies brief and associated papers 6.9 

._!1/17/18 MRH Research for opening remedies brief 4.1 

11/18/18 KIS Research and drafting remedies brief and associated papers 9.2 
11/18/18 MRH Research and revise ope�-� remedies brief 3.7 

- ---

11/19/18 KIS Revise and finalize remedies brief and associated papers, 3.8 

discuss with J. Levitt; discuss path to stop certification of 2018 
election 

11/19/18 KIS Explain to local press Defendant's request for statement of 0.6 
-

decision, and how it is not newsworthy 
11/19/18 MRH Research regarding procedure for expedited injunction, 3.4 

discuss with K. Shenkman. 
11/19/18 AAA Read and suggest revisions to remedies brief and associated 1.3 

declarations 
11/20/18 KIS Research and drafting TRO / OSC application to prohibit 7.1 

certification of 2018 election, discuss with R. Rubin 
11/20/18 MRH Research forTRO and preliminary injunction motion regarding 3.6 

certification of 2018 election. 
11/21/18 KIS Research and drafting TRO / DSC application to prohibit 

--

4.9 
certification of 2018 election. 

11/21/18 MRH Research for TRO and preliminary injunction motion regarding 3.0 
certification of 2018 election. 

· -

11/23/18 KIS Research and drafting TRO / OSC application to prohibit 8.5 

certification of 2018 election. 
11/23/18 1--

MRH Research for TRO and preliminary injunction motion regarding 5.1 

certification of 2018 election. 
11/24/18 KIS Research and drafting TRO / OSC application to prohibit 6.2 

certification of 2018 election. 
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11/24/18 l MRH Research and drafting section of TRO and preliminary 2.9 
lniunction motion regarding certification of 2018 election. 

11/25/18 KIS Research, draft and revise objection to request for statement 6.5 
of decision; coordinate with E. Gordon regarding same. 

11/25/18 MRH Revise TRO and preliminary injunction motion. 2.5 
11/26/18 KIS Research and revise objection to request for statement of 3.9 

decision 
>- -- ---

11/26/18 MRH Revise and finalize TRO and preliminary injunction motion 1.8 
11/26/18 AAA Review ex parte application and declarations and suggest 1.4 

edits. 
11/27/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on TRO / OSC 5.8 

apolicatlon to prohibit certification of 2018 election 
11/27/18 KIS Travel to/from and attend rally at city council meeting and city 5.1 

council meeting, then meet with clients and local activists. 
11127/18 AAA HearinR on ex parte aoclicatlon of stop certific�tlon of election 4.9 
11/30/18 KIS Evaluate order directing Plaintiffs to prepare proposed 6.6 

statement of decision and proposed judgment, and 
Defendant's remedies brief, discuss with M. Hughes and R. 
Rubin, and begin formulating reply regarding remedies. 

11/30/18 MRH Review Defendant's remedies brief, discuss with K. Shenkman, 5.2 
research Issues raised in Defendant's brief. 

12/1/18 KiS Research and drafting reply remedies brief 6.5 
12/1/18 MRH Work on response to Defendant's brief and failure to actually 4.4 

propose a remedy 
12/2/18 KIS Research and drafting reply remedies brief 8.1 
12/2/18 MRH Work on response to Defendant's brief and failure to actually 5.3 

propose a remedy 
12/3/18 KIS Research and draftlnA: reply remedies brief 7.6 
12/3/18 MRH Work on response to Defendant's brief and failure to actually 4.9 

propose a remedy 
12/4/18 KIS Revise and finalize reply remedies brief, discuss with R. Rubin 6.6 
12/4/18 MRH Revise response to Defendant's brief and failure to actually 2.8 

propose a remedy 
12/7/18 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on selection of 5.5 

appropriate remedies, conference with co-counsel thereafter. 
12/7/18 AAA Hearing on aocropriate remedies and team meeting. 4.8 
12/14/18 KIS Evaluate remedies order and decision, respond to press 2.9 
- -

Inquiries re: same, discuss response with A. Alarcon. 
12/14/18 AAA Review court tentative decision and discuss response to court 0.4 

tentative decision on remedies with K. Shenkman. 
--

12/15/18 KIS Research and drafting ex parte for clarification. 2.6 
12/15/18 MRH Work on ex parte application In response to remedies ruling 3.5 

12/16/18 KIS Research and drafting ex parte for clarification. 1.9 
12/17/18 KIS Research and drafting ex parte for clarification, discuss with R. 4.0 

Parris. 
12/17/18 MRH Revise ex parte application for clarification of remedies ruling 2.2 
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12/18/18 KIS 

----

12/18/18 MRH 
12/18/18 AAA 

12/19/18 KIS 

12/19/18 
,__ ___ 

AAA 
12/20/18 KIS 

12/21/18 KIS 

12/22/18 KIS 

12/23/18 KIS 

12/24/18 KIS 

12/24/18 KIS 

12/26/18 KIS 

12/26/18 MRH 

12/27/18 MRH 
-

12/27/18 AAA 
12/29/18 AAA 

12/29/18 KIS 

--

12/30/18 KIS 

12/31/18 KIS 
.__ 

12/31/18 KIS 

1/1/19 KIS 

1/1/19 MRH 

Revise and finalize ex pa rte for clarificatlon and draft 
associated papers, Incorporate revisions from colleagues; 
correspondence with K. Scolnick regarding same. 
Revise ex carte aoollcation for clarification. 
Review and revise ex parte application 
Prepare for, travel to/from ex parte application hearing and 
confer with G. Cardona regarding rescheduling and potential 
agreement on seeking clarlflcation and draft correspondence 
re: same. 
Travel to/from ex parte application hearing 
Drafting proposed statement of decision and proposed 
iudgment. 
Drafting proposed statement of decision and proposed 
judgment. 
Drafting proposed statement of decision and proposed 
judgment. 
Drafting proposed statement of decision and proposed 
Judgment. 
Revise ex parte application and associated papers accounting 
for date change and additional relief necessitated by date 
change, and correspondence with opposing counsel regarding 
same. 
Drafting proposed statement of decision and proposed 
judgment. 
Drafting proposed statement of decision and proposed 
Judgment. 
Review and revise proposed statement of decision and 
proposed judgment 
Review and revise proposed statement of decision and 
proposed ·ud ment 

� _, , 

·---- --- - --

Review and revise draft _prooosed Judgment 
---

Review and suggest revisions to draft proposed statement of 
decision 
Compiling revisions and further research and drafting 
proposed statement of decision and reposed judgment 
Compiling revisions and further research and drafting 
proposed statement of decision and proposed udgment 
Revise and finalize ex carte for ctarlficatlon pa ers. 
Compiling revisions and further research and drafting 
proposed statement of decision and proposed Judgment 
Review remedies briefing and case law and applicable sections 
of Elections Code to prepare for hearing on ex pa rte 
application for clarification; review mandatory e-flllng rules to 
determine applicability to 1-2-19 ex parte and coordinate 
filing. 

-- --

Revise proposed statement of decision. 

4.9 

1.6 
0.8 
3.7 

2.8 
5.4 

6.3 

7.5 

S.2

2.2 

4.9 

6.5 

3.7 

3.0 

0.6 
- -

1.4 

5.0 

4.5 

- -

1.8 
5.3 

4.7 

3.6 
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1/2/19 KIS Prepare for, travel to/from and attend hearing on ex pa rte for 8.2 
clarification, debrief clients and then debrief M. Hughes and R. 
Rubin, respond to press Inquiries re: same 

1/2/19 KIS Draft and revise proposed statement of decision and proposed 4.9 
judgment based on court's direction and suggestions of 
colleagues. 

1/2/19 MRH Debrief with K. Shenkman regarding hearing on ex parte 2.5 
application for clarification and further work on proposed 
statement of decision and proposed judgment In accordance 
with court's instruction. 

1/2/19 AM Review previous remedies briefing and ex parte application; 5.2 
travel to/from and attend hearing on ex parte application for 
clarification. 

1/3/19 KIS Research, revise and finalize proposed statement of decision 4.8 

and proposed judgment consistent with court's direction, and 
draft notice of lodging 

1/3/19 MRH Review and revise proposed statement of decision and 1.9 
proposed Judgment. 

1/7/19 KIS Prepare materials for neighborhood / civic organization 5.9 
meetings; travel to/from and speak at N.E. Neighbors meeting 
and Apartment Owners' group meeting. 

1/8/19 KIS Travel to/from and meet with PNA board 4.0 

1/12/19 KIS Travel to/from and speak at Neighborhood Council meeting. 4.5 

1/18/19 KIS Evaluate objections to proposed statement of decision and 4.9 

proposed judgment, coordinate with D. Ely regarding district 
boundary descriptions in Judgment 

1/18/19 MRH Review Defendant's objections to proposed statement of 3.5 

decision and proposed judgment. 
1/21/19 KIS Evaluate objections to proposed statement of decision and 2.0 

proposed judgment; discuss appropriate response with M. 
Hughes. 

1/24/19 KIS Draft responses to Defendant's objections to proposed 4.4 
statement of decision and proposed judgment, and corrected 
proposed jud�ment. 

1/31/19 AAA Address case reassignment with Dept. 28/9; draft declaration 2.9 

as directed by clerk; discuss with K. Shenkman 
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Fwd: Department 15 Tentative Ruling - OSCAR DE LA TORRE and ELIAS SERNA v. CITY OF 
SANTA MONICA, Case No. 21 STCV08597; 12/17 /21 at 10:00 a.m. 

From; W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. (wtpesq(Qlginail.rn111) 

To. shenl<man@sbcglobal llE't 

Date: Th1Jrsday, December 16, 202 I, 03 08 PM PST 

------ For,,varded message -------
From: SMCDEPT15 <� MC DEPT I 'i@jc1cwr1, '\I;,
Date: Thu, Dec 16, 2021 at 3:04 PM 
Subject: Department 15 Tentative Ruling · OSCAR DE LA TORRE and ELIAS SERNA v. CITY OF SANTA MONICA, 
Case No. 21STCV08597: 12/17/21 al 10:00 a.,n. 
To: Carol Silberberg <c;sjlberberg@bem;.c:.1lb1;1rb "fQ .. .:0111::.-, W. Trivino-Perez. Esq. <wResq@gmarl.com>, Kirsten Galler 
<liil:filfil1gs11ter@sanIamornca.qQ:1.> 

Good afternoon, 

# 4 TENTATIVE RULING 10:00 a.m., Friday, December 17, 2021 
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and do not waive any privileges or confidentiality of this message or the attachments. Please reply to the sender that 
you have received the message in error, then delete it. Thank you. 
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# 4 TENTATIVE RULING 10:00 a.m., Friday, December 17, 2021 

OSCAR DE LA TORRE and ELIAS SERNA v. CITY OF SANTA MONICA, Case No. 
21STCV08597 

Plaintiff Oscar De La Torre was elected at large to the 7-member Santa Monica 
City Council in November 2020 and took office in December 2020. His spouse 
is Maria Loya. She is is a member of the Pico Neighborhood Association (PNA). 

Loya and PNA are plaintiffs/respondents in an appeal pending before the 
California Supreme Court, titled Pico Neighborhood Association, et al v. City of 
Santa Monica, LASC Case No. BCG 16804, and known as the CVRA action. In the 
CVRA action the trial court held that the City's at large election for Council 
Members violates California Voting Rights Act, Elections Code §§ 14025 et seq. 

The operative complaint is the verified Second "Amended Complaint filed on 
August 10, 2021. Plaintiffs therein allege that a majority of the Santa Monica 
City Council voted to exclude De La Torre from all "discussions, meetings and 
votes relating to the Voting Rights Case." 2AC, para. 35. The only reason 
alleged for De La Torre's exclusion is that he had a "conflict of interest." 2AC, 
para. 40. The Second Amended Complaint alleges causes of action for 
declaratory relief and violation Ralph M. Brown Act, Government Code § 4950 

and seeks declaratory and injunctive relief and attorney's fees under the Brown 
Act and CCP § 1021.5. The City filed an answer that responded specifically to 
each paragraph alleged in the verified 2AC and pied various affirmative 
defenses. The City alleged in its 14'h affirmative defense that: 

"[A]ny alleged harm to Plaintiffs has been brought about wholly and solely 
by reason of the acts and conduct of Plaintiffs and without any unlawful 
or wrongful conduct whatsoever on the part of Defendant .... [S]uch 
conduct, includes, but is not limited to, a disqualifying conflict of interest 
under the Political Reform Act, Government Code Section 1090, or the 
common-law conflict of interest. Plaintiff de la Torre was the designated 
representative and former co-chair of the PNA, a party to the CVRA 
Action, and his wife is also a party to that action and a board member of 
the PNA. Defendant has been awarded costs on appeal in the CVRA 
Action, and may be able to seek additional costs as a prevailing party 
from the CVRA Plaintiffs, which includes de la Torre's wife. Plaintiff de la 
Torre's wife purports to receive free legal services from counsel who 
represents plaintiffs in the CVRA Action, and, on information and belief, 
since taking his oath as a councilmember, Plaintiff de la Torre has 
received legal advice from counsel who represents plaintiffs in the CVRA 
Action. Ans., para. 14. 
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A. RULING ON CITY'S MOTION TO COMPEL PLAINTIFF DE LA TORRE TO

PROVIDE FURTHER RESPONSE TO SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES

The Court has grouped the special interrogatories by subject matter for 
convenient discussion. 

GROUP 1: 

1. IDENTIFY all PERSONS with whom YOU conferred or consulted in deciding
to file THIS ACTION.

2. IDENTIFY all PERSONS with whom YOU conferred or consulted in
preparing YOUR COMPLAINT filed THIS ACTION.

3. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and the
SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING TO THIS ACTION.

4. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and the
SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION for the time
period following YOUR (sic) being sworn in as a CITY Councilmember on
about December 8, 2020 to the present.

Answering Special Interrogatory No. 1, De La Torre after interposing 
objections said as follows: 

"Responding Party recalls Council members Gleam Davis and Sue 
Himmerlrich encouraging him to file the instant action in order to test 
whether he has a ·common law conflict of interest' that precludes him 
from fulfilling his duties as an elected member of the Santa Monica City 
Council in connection with votes, decisions and deliberations regarding 
Pico Neighborhood Association, et al v. City of Santa Monica." 

De La Torre is ordered to provide the information required in the instructions as 
to his communications with Councilmember Gleam Davis and now Mayor Sue 
Himmerlrich within 10 days. As to the balance of Special Interrogatory No. 1, 
the motion to compel is denied because the information sought is not relevant 
nor reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence, 
invades the privacy rights of De La Torre, and unnecessarily burdens him in 
performing his responsibilities as an elected councilmember. The special 
interrogatory, besides that, is vague, uncertain, overbroad and, because of its 
breadth and uncertainty, imposes unnecessary and unreasonable burden on De 
La Torre's rights of petition to the public courts. In addition, MP's separate 
statement provides no argument that this particular interrogatory seeks 
information that is relevant or reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of 
admissible evidence. 

Answering Special Interrogatory No. 2, De La Torre after interposing 
objections said as follows: 

'The Complaint in this action was not prepared by Responding Party," 
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This interrogatory was not written to ask what the City probably wanted to 
know. De La Torre's answer is sufficient to respond to the interrogatory as 
written. The term YOU is defined to include agents and attorneys of De La 
Torre. Requiring Mr. Trivino-Perez to answer would invade his attorney work­
product privilege. The Court denies the motion to compel as to Special 
Interrogatory No. 2. 

Answering Special Interrogatory No. 3, De La Torre after interposing 
objections said as follows: 

"Responding Party has had no public communications with Shenkman & 
Hughes PC regarding the above captioned case." 

This is an incomplete response. Did De La Torre have any communications with 
the Shenkman Law Firm about this case during the relevant period? The Court 
orders a further response from De La Torre to Special Interrogatory No. 3

including for any actual communication the detail required by the instructions. 
The further verified answer is due within 10 days from this date. 

Answering Special Interrogatory No. 4, De La Torre after interposing 
objections said in part as follows: 

j'As more fully discussed in Plaintiffs' Verified Second Amended 
Complaint and Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendants' Demurrer to the 
Second Amended Complaint: Responding Party has no 'personal interest' 
in Pico Neighborhood Association, et al v. City of Santa Monica different 
than (sic) a large number of constituents ... " 

This answer evades Special Interrogatory No. 7 by answering some other 
imagined question. However, De La Torre answered this interrogatory in his 
declaration dated December 6, 2021 wherein he testified (page 6, lines 9-11): 

"Since becoming an elected member of the Santa Monica City Council, I 
have, on a couple of occasions, asked Kevin Shenkman to provide me 
with an update on the progress of the Voting Rights Case, which he has 
done." 

The motion to compel is granted to Special Interrogatory No. 4. De La Torre 
must provide a complete and verified response to Special Interrogatory No. 4 
within 10 days from this date. 

GROUP 2: 

6. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts that YOU contend support YOUR position
alleged in THIS ACTION that the CITY violated the Ralph M. Brown Act.

Plaintiff's De. La Torre's response, after objections are interposed, to Special 

Interrogatory #6 is: 
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"Responding Party has no 'personal interest' in Pico Neighborhood 
Association, et. al. v. City of Santa Monica different than a large number 
of constituents; and Defendant threatens to unlawfully hold closed 
session meetings of a majority, but not all, of its city council, to discuss, 
deliberate, and provide direction concerning Pico Neighborhood 
Association, et. al. v. City of Santa Monica by excluding Responding Party, 
an elected member of the Santa Monica City Council, from such meeting.'' 

The Court is unable from the City's motion to determine in what way the City 
thinks the response is inadequate. If exclusion of an elected Council member 
from a closed meeting is a violation of the Brown Act, what additional facts 
must be described? The Court does not construe the special interrogatory to

require De La Torre to identify facts to show the City's reasons (whatever they 
are) for excluding him from Council meetings do not violate the Brown Act. 

7. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts that YOU contend support YOUR position
alleged in THIS ACTION that the CITY lacks authority to exclude YOU from
closed session CITY council meetings RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION.

De La Torre's response to Special Interrogatory# 7 is a longer version of his 
response to# 6 and ends with this statement: "and the authority to determine 
issues of conflict of interest lies with the California courts and Fair Political 
Practices Commission, not political subdivisions of their governing boards." 

California law allows political bodies to establish procedures to exclude 
participation by its members for good reason, although such exclusion is 
challengeable in court and possibly by the FPPC. But the legal correctness of De 
La Torre's contention is not the issue: the issue is whether De La Torre has 
provided all the facts for his allegation. The City argues in its motion that the 
interrogatory "Seeks Important, Relevant Information'' but the motion fails to 
identify what further facts would provide relevant information. 

GROUP 3: 

8. For the period beginning on November 20, 2020, identify all legal-related
matters including, without limitation, legal proceedings, non-litigation
proceedings, lawsuits, and arbitrations, in which YOU have received legal
advice from the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM.

De La Torre's response, after objections, is: "Responding Party has had no 
public communications with Shenkman & Hughes PC regarding legal 
proceedings since November 20, 2020." This is non-responsive. De La Torre 
seems to be making a distinction between "public communications" and some 
other type of communications. If he has received legal advice on any level from 
the Shenkman Law Firm since November 20, 2020 he must describe when, how, 
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with whom the contact was made. The Court orders De La Torre to provide a 
complete and verified response within 10 days. 

Moreover, in his answer to this interrogatory and others, De La Torre asserts 
that he is not required to answer because he is ''protected from disclosure by 
the deliberative process privilege.'' No such privilege exists to block relevant 
discovery inquiry in this case. Evid. Code § 911 provides in relevant part: 
"[e]xcept as otherwise provided by statute [.] .. [n]o person has a privilege to 
refuse to disclose any matter or to refuse to produce any writing, object, or 
other thing." It has long been held, "[t]he courts of this state ... are not free to 
create new privileges as a matter of Judicial policy and must apply only those 
which have been created by statute." OXY Resources California, LLC v. Superior 
Court (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 874, 888-889. The deliberative process privilege 
to which plaintiffs refer is found in cases that involve requests made under the 
Public Records Act. That Act contains exceptions from which a deliberative 
process privilege has been developed, see, Labor and Workforce Development 
Agency v. Superior Court (2018) 19 Cal.App.Su, 12, but that does not mean that 
in a case not involving the Public Records Act a privilege called the deliberative 
process privilege exists to object to discovery demands served on a city 
councilmember who is suing the municipality he is serving. The Court notes, 
moreover, that De La Torre has not made the slightest effort to establish any 
facts that would support an argument that his conversations outside council 
meetings fulfills any purpose that might support the existence in this context of 
a deliberative process privilege. 

The Court disagrees and overrules De. La Torre's assertion that "[t]o the extent 
Shenkman & Hughes PC attorneys communicate with Ms. Loya, those 
communications may be privileged even if such communications are in the 
presence of Responding Party." The Court understands that Ms. Loya and PNA 
are plaintiffs in the CVRA action brought against the City of Santa Monica. De La 
Torre, Loya's husband, is a member of the City Council. Were he present during 
attorney-client communications involving plaintiffs' representation by the 
Shenkman Law Firm that would waive the attorney client privilege between the 
CVRA and the Shenkman Law Firm. De La Torre might have to answer discovery 
about any such "meetings" in which he was present. However, even so, that 
hypothetical situation would not suggest that De La Torre was "receiving legal 
advice" from the Shenkman Law Firm. 

9. For the period beginning on November 20, 2020, identify all legal­
related matters Including, without limitation, legal proceedings, non­
litigation proceedings, lawsuits, and arbitrations, in which MARIA LOYA has
received legal advice from the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM.

De La Torre answered Special Interrogatory No. 9 as follows: "Responding Party 
believes that Shenkman & Hughes PC has provided legal advice to Maria Loya 
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concerning Pico Neighborhood Association v. City of Santa Monica at various 
times over the past 5 +years." To the extent that Loya received legal advice from 
an attorney acting for the Shenkman Law Firm in the presence of De La Torre 
since November 20, 2020 De La Torre must provide a further full, complete and 
verified response to the special interrogatory within 10 days. There is no 
attorney-client privilege under Evid. Code 952 if another person was present 
during the communication unless that person was present to further the 
interest of the client. If such communications occurred between plaintiffs in the 
CVRA action and the Shenkman Law Firm De La Torre cannot object on 
attorney-client privilege grounds unless he is conceding he was present to 
further the interests of the client(s) of the Shenkman Law Firm. If he is asserting 
that position De La Torre must say so, and, if such is the case, the Court orders 
De La Torre to provide a privilege log for any such communications when he 
was present when the Shenkman Law Firm provided advice to Loya or PNA. 

GROUP 4: 

12. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts that YOU contend support YOUR position
that communications between YOU and the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING
TO THE CVRA ACTION, for the period following YOUR being sworn in as a
CITY Councilmember on or about December I, 2020 to the present, are
subject to the deliberative process privilege.

This is what De La Torre said in response to Special Interrogatory No. 12 (after 
skipping all the nonwaived objections): 

"His communications with others concerning matters that are, have been, 
or may be the subject of action by him as an elected members of the 
Santa Monica City Council are thus protected from disclosure by the 
deliberative process privilege." 

The Court disagrees with this assertion an many grounds. The deliberative 
process privilege has been raised in cases involving the Public Records Act and 
that Act contains exceptions that, in those cases, exempted the sought-after 
records from the disclosure provisions of the Act. This case does not seek 
documents under the Public Records Act. Second, trial courts are not permitted 
to create privileges that override discovery requests outside the Evidence Code. 
OXY Resources California, LLC v. Superior Court (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 874, 
888-889. Plaintiffs have no ability to refuse to produce otherwise relevant
discovery on a claim of deliberative process privilege. Third, any claim of a
deliberative process privilege would apply to predetermination in the process of
rule-making; it has never applied to the thoughts or conduct of individual
legislators and certainly not to shield a legislator who himself is suing the rule­
making body. See generally, Labor and Workforce Development Agency v.
Superior Court (2018) 19 Cal.App.S'h 12.
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Even though the Court finds the deliberative process privilege does not apply in 
the context of this case, plaintiffs are entitled to argue the contrary. Therefore, 
De La Torre should answer this interrogatory to identify every fact upon which 
he relies to his argument that a deliberative process privilege applies to block 
the discovery demanded by the City. The motion to compel is granted, with 
complete and verified answers to be served within 10 days. 

Group 5: 

8. DESCRIBE JN DETAIL all facts that YOU contend support YOUR position
alleged in THIS ACTION that YOU do not have a conflict of interest
concernin�J the CVRA ACTION as CITY councilmernber.

Special Interrogatory No. 8 fits in Group 5 with respect to the answers
De La Torre gives to Special Interrogatory No. 16. The conflict of interest that 
the CITY is referring to is a common law or financial conflict of interest. The 
City states: 

'The [SAC] alleges that De la Torre has no conflict of interest-whether 
common law or financial-with the City and is seeking to participate in 
closed sessions that include the City's counsel in the CVRA Action. This 
Request explicitly seeks documents related to these allegations." 

De La Torre's answer, after the nonwaived objections, is: 

"Responding Party has no · personal interest' in Pico Neighborhood 
Association, et al. v. City of Sant,1 Monica different than a large number of 
constituents." 

De La Torre in other answers and in his declaration states he has no financial 
interest in the outcome of the CVRA action, nor does his wife or PNA (the 
organization founded by De La Torre and which his wife now leads). Mr. 
Shenkman as counsel for PNA in the CVRA action has stated the same thing. 
There is nothing more De La Torre can say to respond to Special Interrogatory 
No. 5. The Court denies the motion to compel a further response. 

13. With the exception of the CITY'S Attorneys' Office, IDENTIFY all attorneys
who have represented YOU in any capacity since YOU were sworn in as a
CITY councilmember on or about December 8, 2020, such representation
includes but is not limited to receiving legal advice, representations in legal
proceedings, non-litigation proceedings, lawsuits, and arbitrations.

Special Interrogatory No. 13 is unclear. What is legal "representation"? 
Attorney representation in California requires a retainer agreement. Bus. & Prof. 
Code __ . De La Torre, apparently adopts that definition in answering: 
"Responding Party has been, and is currently, represented by Wilfredo Trivino­
Perez." De La Torre in his declaration also states that he filed an amicus brief to 
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the California Supreme CoLirt in the CVRA action, and he adds: "Attorney Todd 
Bonder assisted me with the preparation of that amicus brief." De La Torre decl, 
p.4: 25-p. 5:3.

De La Torre's answer to Special Interrogatory 13 also refers to "representation 
of, or legal advice to, ... in the public and thus not subject to the deliberative 
process privilege." His assumption seems to be that advice he received from 
lawyers about the law does not have to be disclosed under the deliberative 
process privilege. He did testify in his declaration to having consulted other 
attorneys, saying (p. 6:6-9):

"At various times, I have consulted several trusted attorneys regarding a 
wide variety of topics impacting the City of Santa Monica-housing, 
crime, homelessness and district-based elections, to name a few. Those 
attorneys include, but are not necessarily limited to, Dan Ambrose, R. Rex 
Parris, Wilfredo Trivino-Perez, Kevin Shenkman and Todd Bonder." 

De La Torre's answer appears to respond to the definition implied in the 
special interrogatory for ''representation." The Court declines to order any 
further answer. The City can itself obtain addresses/telephone numbers of 
those attorneys. Perhaps the identification of the attorneys De La Torre has 
spoken with (even though the date of the contacts is not provided) is sufficient 
for the City. If not please advise the Court at the hearing that the City needs a 
further response to this particular interrogatory. 

14. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and MARIA
LOYA RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION for the time period following YOUR
(sic) sworn in as a OTY Councilmember on or about December 8, 2020 to
present.

De La Torre objects on the grounds the interrogatory seeks a disclosure 
protected by the deliberative process privilege and "seeks to invade the marital 
communication privilege." There is no basis for a deliberative process privilege. 
Evid. Code §911. However, the objection based on the marital communication 
is sufficient. See, Evid. Code §980. MP seems to argue that De La Torre has not 
said that his communications to his wife were hmade in confidence." The City 
should assume that De La Torre, if asked, will say that he had an expectation 
that his communications with his wife about the CVRA litigation were private; 
and that his wife, who separately holds the privilege, will testify that she had an 
expectation that the communications were private. The Court will not order a 
further response. 

16. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts supporting YOUR assertion in YOUR
November 30, 2020 letter to the FPPC that "my wife and PNA both agreed
that they have no right to any attorney's fees or costs recovered in that case.
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De La Torre's response to Special Interrogatory No. 16, besides adopting the 
statement in his November 30, 2020 letter to the FPPC, is: 

" ... neither Responding Party, nor Responding Party's wife, nor the Pico 
Neighborhood Association has any financial interest in Pico 
Neighborhood Association, et. al v. City of Santa Monica." 

City does not explain why that answer is insufficient. The City makes this 
argument: 

"Plaintiff has alleged a lack of financial conflict. This interrogatory seeks 
information utilized to test that allegation, but De La Torre essentially 
repeated prior statements without providing supporting information." 

De La Torre repeats his prior statements but this time under oath. De La Torre 
denies that he, his wife or PNA has now or has had in the past a financial 
interest in legal fees or costs that have been awarded in the CVRA litigation. Mr. 
Shenkman likewise said in his decl. (p. 5: 25-27) that: 

''Our CVRA clients do not pay us or anyone else any money in connection 
with those cases. They have no prospect tor any financial gain or financial 
loss from those cases. 

Special Interrogatory No. 16 has been answered. The Court denies the motion 
to compel any further response. 

B. RULING ON CITY'S MOTION TO COMPEL PLAINTIFF ELIAS SERNA TO

PROVIDE FURTHER RESPONSE TO SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES:

Moving Party's separate statement seeks further response to three special 
interrogatories, to wit: Nos 1, 3 and 7, as quoted below: 

3. IDENTIFY all PERSONS with whom YOU conferred or consulted in deciding
to file THIS ACTION.

9. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and the
SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING TO THIS ACTION.

10. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and the
SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION from December 8,

2020 to the present.

Serna's response to Special Interrogatory No. 1, apart from objections, is 
"Nobody." The Court denies MP's motion to compel further response because 
the information sought is not relevant nor reasonably calculated to lead to the 
discovery of admissible evidence, invades the privacy rights of Serna, and, 
besides that, is vague, uncertain, overbroad and due to its breadth and 
vagueness imposes unnecessary and unreasonable burden on plaintiff. 
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MP's separate statement provides no argument that this particular interrogatory 
seeks information that is relevant or reasonably calculated to lead to the 
discovery of admissible evidence. MP's intention seems to be to cast a broad 
net and decide once Serna answers by naming everyone he talked to about 
participating in this suit to describe what if anything is relevant. The 
interrogatory is intended to be overbroad and burdensome. 

MP argues the interrogatory is relevant because: 

"This interrogatory seeks to understand how Serna came to file this 
action, which ties into his alleged harm. Moreover, people who influenced 
Serna to file this action and their motivations also may reveal a conflict of 
interest." 

MP's explanation demonstrates that Special Interrogatory No. 1 invades Serna's 
privacy interests, and, given that defendant is a public entity, arguably burdens 
and, therefore, threatens Serna constitutional right to petition his government. 
[citations) 

The interrogatory is framed to obtain an identification of everyone Serna talked 
to before signing on as a co-plaintiff including family and friends (depending 
how the words "conferred" and "consulted'' are defined) and predictably include 
his attorneys. While a contact with one's own attorney may be discoverable, 
assuming it passes the relevancy test, that would not include communications 
within the attorney-client privilege. How are communications between a co­
plaintiff and his counsel, whether or not within the attorney-client privilege, 
relevant? If MP had a legitimate purpose in propounding this interrogatory, it 
should have been framed with that purpose in mind. 

The Court need not rule on Serna's claim of the deliberative process privilege 
because other objections to the interrogatory are sufficient to deny the motion. 
The motion to compel is denied as to this interrogatory. 

Special Interrogatory No. 3 indicates what MP was aiming at in Interrogatory 
No. 1-Sernas "communications" with the Shenkman Law Firm. MP apparently 
regards the Shenkman Law Firm as adverse to the best interests of the Santa 
Monica City Council because it represents plaintiffs in the CVRA action. The 
CVRA action raises a political issue-whether the City's at large councilmanic 
elections violate the California Voting Rights Act. MP views the litigation as 
antagonistic to the City's interest because, apparently, plaintiffs' counsel in the 
CVRA action, if successful, wi II make an attorneys' fee claim as permitted by the 
statute. 

The term "communications'' would require an answering party to specify with 
particularity time, place, manner and identity of the persons involved. 

Serna's response to Special Interrogatory No. 3 is: 
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"Responding Party has had no non-privileged communications with 
Shenkman & Hughes PC regarding the above-captioned case." 

This response is inadequate. However, Serna has waived any objection to the 
form of the special interrogatory by providing a substantive answer. The issue 
is whether a further response should be required. Serna's answer suggests that 
he has had communications with the Shenkman Law Firm that he claims to be 
privileged before the complaint was filed. The Court concludes to ORDER Serna 
to provide a further response within ten days from this hearing date to list the 
date(s), place(s), manner(s) and identifies of persons at the Shenkman Law Firm 
that he had contact. The Court does not find that any further information that 
Serna provides is relevant to any issue in this action. 

Serna gave this response to Special fnterrogatory No. 7: 

"Responding Party expressed general encouragement to one of he 
attorneys of Shenkman & Hughes concerning the (CVRA] action." 

Serna otherwise said he had no recollection of any communication with 
attorneys of the Shenkman Law Firm and the CVRA action. 

Since plaintiff answered without objection the interrogatory about his "general 
encouragement" communication with an attorney from Shenkman & Hughes he 
should answer the remaining part of the interrogatory: when, whether, how and 
with whom this communication occurred. No documents are mentioned as 
being part of the communication but if there were documents they should be 
identified. The Court will order the further response be made within 10 days 
from this hearing date. 

C. RULING ON CITY'S MOTION TO COMPEL PLAINTIFF ELIAS SERNA TO

PROVIDE FURTHER RESPONSE TO REQUESTS FOR DOCUMENTS (RFD):

The City's Motion to Compel in its Separate Statement identifies these 5 RFDs 
as requiring further response from plaintiff Serna. For those 5 RFDs the Court 
quotes the response Serna makes after he asserts objections and states that his 
further response is without waive of the objections. 

2. Produce all DOCUMENTS between YOU and the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM
RELATING TO THIS ACTION.

"Responding Party has conducted a diligent search and has no non­
privileged responsive documents in his possession, custody or control.'' 

Serna does not say he has no such documents: he says he has no privileged 
documents. The term YOU is defined to include agents and attorneys of Serna, 
so as to include all actions taken on behalf of Serna. The Court rules that the 
term YOU to the extent it includes agents or attorneys of Serna is appropriately 
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defined for discovery purposes, and overrules Serna's objections to the term 
YOU being incomprehensible. 

Serna is ordered to provide a further response that complies with all parts of 
CCP 2031.230 including the sentence that mandates: "This statement shall also 
specify whether the inability to comply is because the particular item ... has 
never existed, has been destroyed, has been lost, misplaced, or stolen, or has 
never been, or is no longer in the possession, custody or control of the 
responding party." If Serna and/or his agents or attorneys have documents 
responsive to RFD# 2 that are privileged a privilege log is to be provided that 
identifies the privilege claim, identifies the document(s) that are privileged by 
title, date, author and recipient. The further response is to be given within 10 
days from the hearing on the motion. 

3. Produce all DOCUMENTS between YOU and the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM
RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION from December 8, 2020 to the present.

"Responding Party has conducted a diligent search and has no non­
privileged responsive documents in his possession, custody or control." 

Serna's response is identical to his response to RFD# 2. The Court's order to 
RFD #2 is incorporated by reference and is the order with respect to the RFD 
#3. The further response is to be given within 10 days from the hearing on the 
motion. 

4.Produce all DOCUMENTS that YOU contend support YOUR position in this
ACTION that the City has violated the Ralph M. Brown Act.

"Responding Party will attempt to provide a reasonable interpretation of 
this request, and will produce any non-privileged responsive documents 
in his possession, custody or control." 

Discovery requests such as may be construed to invade the attorney work 
product privilege because it requires an attorney to disclose the documents 
he/she believes will prove the case. This RFD is different from a contention 
Interrogatory, as Request 4 requires the attorney to examine an undefined 
universe of documents to select those support a particular legal position. The 
Court requests the City to provide authority such as from the California Practice 
Guide, Civil Trials and Evidence that support the propriety of this RFD. 

5 .Produce all DOCUMENTS that YOU referred to or relied upon in preparing any 
COMPLAINT in THIS ACTION. 

"Responding Party did not 'prepare[e] any COMPLAINT in THIS ACTION.' 
and therefore this request is incomprehensible." 

Even assuming that YOU includes Serna's attorney this RFD does not meet the 
standard of CCP 2031.3 lO(b)(l) to "set forth specific facts showing good cause 
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justifying the discovery sought by the demand." The motion to compel is 
denied. 

8.Produce all DOCUMENTS supporting or undermining your assertion that you
have suffered harm as a result of the allegations set forth in the COMPLAINT.

"Responding Party will attempt to provide a reasonable interpretation of 
this request, and will produce any non-privileged responsive documents 
in his possession, custody or control." 

Like RFD# 4 this is subject to a privilege objection. This is not a contention 
interrogatory, asking ''Do you contend that you were harmed by ... " and "What 
harm do you contend that you suffered by ... "The request asks Serna's counsel 
to disclose his thought processes to identify documents pertinent to plaintiff's 
harm. Given that plaintiffs are bringing the action in the public interest there 
are an infinite number of documents that could be identified even though 
plaintiff's counsel may have no intention of identifying them as trial exhibits. 
The Court will not require further response to the RFD. 

D. RULING ON CITY'S MOTION TO COMPEL PLAINTIFF OSCAR DE LA

TORRE TO PROVIDE FURTHER RESPONSE TO SPECIAL

INTERROGATORIES:

The City's Motion to Compel in its Separate Statement identifies these llRFDs 
as requiring further response from plaintiff De La Torre. For those RFDs the 
Court quotes De La Torre's response after his preamble in which De La Torre 
interposes objections and asserts that his further response is not a waiver of 
the objections. 

2. Produce all DOCUMENTS between YOU and the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM
RELATING TO THIS ACTION.

"Responding Party has conducted a diligent search and has no non­
privileged responsive documents in his possession, custody or control.'' 

Plaintiff De La Torre does not say he has no such documents: he says he has no 
privileged documents. The term YOU is defined to include agents and attorneys 
of Serna, so as to include all actions taken on behalf of this plaintiff. The Court 
rules that the term YOU to the extent it includes agents or attorneys of De La 
Torre is appropriately defined for discovery purposes, and overrules De La 
Torre's objections to the term YOU being incomprehensible. 

De La Torre is ordered to provide a further response that complies with all parts 
of CCP 2031.230 including the sentence that mandates: "This statement shall 
also specify whether the inability to comply is because the particular item ... 
has never existed, has been destroyed, has been lost, misplaced, or stolen, or 
has never been, or is no longer in the possession, custody or control of the 
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responding party.'' If De La Torre and/or his agents or attorneys have 
documents responsive to RFD# 2 that are privileged a privilege log is to be 
provided that identifies the privilege claim, identifies the document(s) that are 
privileged by title, date, author and recipient. The further response is to be 
given within 10 days from the hearing on the motion. Plaintiff in its response 
cites Labor and Workforce Development Agency v. Superior Court (2018) 19 
Cal.App.S'h 12 as a basis to object to preparing a privilege log. The Court of 
Appeal in the LWDA case issued its writ to protect from disclosure under the 
deliberative process and attorney work product privileges communications that 
were confidential between the LWDA and a farm workers union and that related 
to the LWDA's drafting of proposed legislation. The appellate court held the 
Public Records Act did not require production because Gov. Code section 6254 
exempts records that are made confidential under the Evidence Code. The 
Evidence Code exemptions that applied were the official information privilege 
and the attorney mental process privilege. Id. at 28. De La Torre does not cite 
to any privilege that applies to communications between himself and the 
Shenkman Law Firm. 

3. Produce all DOCUMENTS between YOU and the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM
RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION from December 8, 2020 to the present .

"Responding Party has conducted a diligent search and has no non­
privileged responsive documents in his possession, custody or control." 

De La Torre's response is identical to his response to RFD# 2. The Court's 
order to RFD #2 is incorporated by reference and it shall be the order as to this 
RFD #3. The further response is to be made within 10 days from December 17. 

5. Produce all DOCUMENTS that you contend support YOUR position alleged
in this action that YOU do not have a conflict of interest concerning the
CVRA ACTION as a CITY councilmember.

Parties are required to produce documents that support their allegations. The 
Court is unaware of any part of CCP 2031 that requires a party to produce 
documents that support a "position." Moreover, the "position" that the De La 
Torre has a conflict is the City's position. It is the City that knows what 
documents support that position, not De La Torre. Document requests, 
furthermore, require a specific description of the documents demanded, see 
CCP 2031.030(c)(l), and, if the documents are not provided, a motion to 
compel must "set forth specific facts showing good cause for the documents 
sought by the demand." How is the City going to do that if it does not know 
what documents are requested? The Court denies the motion to compel as to 
this RFD. 

ADDITIONAL REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS 
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6. Produce all DOCUMENTS that YOU contend support YOUR position alleged
in this ACTION that the CITY has violated the Ralph M. Brown Act.

7. Produce all DOCUMENTS that YOU contend support YOUR position alleged
in this ACTION that the CITY lacks authority to exclude YOU from closed
session CITY council meetings RELATING TO the CVRA ACTION.

8. Produce all DOCUMENTS that YOU contend support YOUR position alleged
in this ACTION that YOU referred to or relied upon in preparing the
COMPLAINT in THIS ACTION.

9. Produce all DOCUMENTS sufficient to show the amount of money YOU or
MARIA LOYA have received since the filing of the CVRA ACTION (whether
as compensation or otherwise) from Holistic Strategies Consulting
Services, LLC.

The Court orders De La Torre to serve a full and verified response within 10

days. Referencing "Responding Party's 'Form 700s" is not a response, even if 
the Court assumes that the Form 700 discloses monies received from the 
Holistic Strategies Consulting Services, LLC. 

10. Produce all DOCUMENTS RELATING TO YOUR November 30, 2020
correspondence to the FPPC.

De La Torre is ordered to provide any document mentioned in the November 
30, 2020 letter within 10 days. 

11.Produce all DOCUMENTS that YOU referred to or relied upon in
preparing YOUR November 30, 2020 correspondence to the FPPC.

12.Produce all DOCUMENTS between YOU and MARIA LOYA RELATING TO
THE CVRA ACTION for the time period following YOUR being sworn in as
a CITY councilmember on or about December 8, 2020 to the present.

13.Produce all DOCUMENTS relating to the FPPC's letter, attached as
Exhibit A, to your Second Amended Complaint in THIS ACTION, including
but not limited to DOCUMENTS that YOU sent to or received from the
FPPC regarding the CVRA ACTION or YOUR potential conflict of interest,
drafts of the same, and/or communications about such DOCUMENTS.
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Tentative 

From: Wilfredo Trivino-Perez (wtpesq@grnail.rnm) 

To: shenkman@sbcglobal.net 

Date: Monday, December I 3, 2021, 09:28 AM PS1 

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES ¥ 
10940 Wilshire Blvd, 16th Floor 

Tel: (310) 443-4251 I Fax: (310) 443-4252 
wtR.@�yersl.com I ��yers.corn
h.lto:1101. fac;el>ook,c:om/IEALAW 

Wilfredo Trivino-Perez I Attorney at Law 
Los Angeles, CA 90024 

NOTICE; This e-mail and any attachments contain information from the law firm of TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
and are intended solely for the use of the named recipient or recipients. This e-mail may contain privileged 
attorney/client communications or work product. Any dissemination of this e-mail by anyone other than an Intended 
recipient is strictly prohibited. If you are not a named recipienl. you are prohibited from any further viewing of the e-mail 
or any attachments or from making any use ol lhe e-mail or allachmenls. If you believe you have received this e-mail in 
error, please notify the sender immediately and permanently delete the e-mail, any attachments, and all copies thereof 
from any drives or storage media and destroy any printouts of the e-mail or attachments. 

De la Torre 12-9-21.pdf 
1.9MB 
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# 4 TENTATIVE RULING 8:45 a.m., Monday, December 13, 2021 

OSCAR DE LA TORRE and ELIAS SERNA v. CITY OF SANTA MONICA, Case No. 
21STCV08597 

Plaintiff De La Torre is an elected member of the Santa Monica City Council, and 
the spouse of Maria Loya. Loya is currently the president of the Pico 
Neighborhood Association (PNA). Loya and PNA are plaintiffs/respondents in an 
appeal pending before the California Supreme Court, Pico Neighborhood 
Association, et al v. City of Santa Monica, LASC Case No. BC616804 (CVRA 
action). In the CVRA action the trial court held that Santa Monica's at large 
election for City Council Members violates the California Voting Rights Act. 

A. RULING ON CITY'S MOTION TO COMPEL PLAINTIFF DE LA TORRE TO
PROVIDE FURTHER RESPONSE TO SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES

The Court has grouped the special interrogatories by subject matter for 
convenient discussion. 

GROUP 1: 

1. IDENTIFY all PERSONS with whom YOU conferred or consulted in deciding
to file THIS ACTION.

2. IDENTIFY all PERSONS with whom YOU conferred or consulted in
preparing YOUR COMPLAINT filed THIS ACTION.

3. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and the
SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING TO THIS ACTION.

4. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and the
SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION for the time
period following YOUR (sic) being sworn in as a CITY Councilmember on
about December 8, 2020 to the present.

Answering Special Interrogatory No. 1, De La Torre after interposing 
objections said as follows: 

"Responding Party recalls Councilmembers Gleam Davis and Sue 
Himmerlrich encouraging him to file the instant action in order to test 
whether he has a 'common law conflict of interest' that precludes him 
from fulfilling his duties as an elected member of the Santa Monica City 
Council in connection with votes, decisions and deliberations regarding 
Pico Neighborhood Association, et al v. City of Santa Monica." 

De La Torre is ordered to provide the information required in the instructions as 
to his communications with Councilmernber Gleam Davis and now Mayor Sue 
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Himmerlich within 10 days. As to the balance of Special Interrogatory No. 1, the 
motion to compel is denied because the information sought is not relevant nor 
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence, invades 
the privacy rights of De La Torre, burdens him in performing his responsibilities 
as an elected councilmember, and, besides that, is vague, uncertain, overbroad 
and, because of its breadth and uncertainty, imposes unnecessary and 
unreasonable burden on De La Torre's rights of petition to the public courts. 

MP's separate statement provides no argument that this particular interrogatory 
seeks information that is relevant or reasonably calculated to lead to the 
discovery of admissible evidence. 

Answering Special Interrogatory No. 2, De La Torre after interposing 
objections said as follows: 

"The Complaint in this action was not prepared by Responding Party." 

The interrogatory is not written to ask what the City probably wanted to know. 
The answer given is sufficient to respond to the interrogatory as written. The 
Court denies the motion to compel as to Special Interrogatory No. 2. 

Answering Special Interrogatory No. 3, De La Torre after interposing 
objections said as follows: 

"Responding Party has had no public communications with Shenkman & 

Hughes PC regarding the above captioned case.'' 

This is an incomplete response. Did De La Torre have any communications with 
the Shenkman Law Firm about this case during the relevant period? The Court 
orders a further response from De La Torre to Special Interrogatory No. 3 
including for any actual communication the detail required by the instructions. 
The further verified answer is due within 10 days from this date. 

Answering Special Interrogatory No. 4, De La Torre after interposing 
objections said in part as follows: 

"As more fully discussed in Plaintiffs' Verified Second Amended 
Complaint and Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendants' Demurrer to the 
Second Amended Complaint: Responding Party has no 'personal interest' 
in Pico Neighborhood Association, et al v. City of Santa Monica different 
than (sic) a large number of constituents ... " 

This answer evades Special Interrogatory No. 7 by answering some other 
imagined question. However, De La Torre answered this interrogatory in his 
declaration dated December 6, 2021 wherein he testified (page 6, lines 9-11): 

"Since becoming an elected member of the Santa Monica City Council, I 
have, on a couple of occasions, asked Kevin Shenkman to provide me 
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with an update on the progress of the Voting Rights Case, which he has 
done." 

The motion to compel is granted at to Special Interrogatory No. 4. De La Torre 
must provide a complete and verified response to Special Interrogatory No. 4 
within 10 days from this date. 

GROUP 2: 

6. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts that YOU contend support YOUR position
alleged in THIS ACTION that the CITY violated the Ralph M. Brown Act.

7. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts that YOU contend support YOUR position
alleged in THIS ACTION that the CITY lacks authority to exclude YOU from
closed session CITY council meetings RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION.

GROUP 3: 

8. For the period beginning on November 20, 2020, identify all legal-related
matters including, without limitation, legal proceedings, non-litigation
proceedings, lawsuits, and arbitrations, in which YOU have received legal
advice from the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM.

De La Torre's response, after objections, is: "Responding Party has had no 
public communications with Shenkman & Hughes PC regarding legal 
proceedings since November 20, 2020." This is non-responsive. De La Torre is 
making a distinction between "public communications" and some other type of 
communications. If he has received legal advice on any level from the 
Shenkman Law Firm since November 20, 2020 he must describe when, how, 
with whom the contact was made. The Court orders De La Torre to provide a 
complete and verified response within 10 days. 

The Court disagrees and overrules De. La Torre's assertion that "[t]o the extent 
Shenkman & Hughes PC attorneys communicate with Ms. Loya, those 
communications may be privileged even if such communications are in the 
presence of Responding Party." The Court understands that Ms. Loya and PNA 
are plaintiffs in the CVRA action brought against the City of Santa Monica. De La 
Torre, Loya's husband, is an member of the City Council. His presence during 
attorney-client communications involving plaintiffs represented by the 
Shenkman Law Firm would waive the attorney client relationship. However, even 
so, that hypothetical situation would not suggest that De La Torre was receiving 
advice from the Shenkman Law Firm. 

9. For the period beginning on November 20, 2020, identify all legal­
related matters including, without limitation, legal proceedings, non-
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litigation proceedings, lawsuits, and arbitrations, in which MARIA LOYA has 
received legal advice from the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM. 

De La Torre answered Special Interrogatory No. 9 as follows: ''Responding Party 
believes that Shenkman & Hughes PC has provided legal advice to Maria Loya 
concerning Pico Neighborhood Association v. City of Santa Monica at various 
times over the past 5 +years." To the extent that Loya received legal advice from 
an attorney acting for the Shenkman Law Firm in the presence of De La Torre 
since November 20, 2020 De La Torre must provide a further full, complete and 
verified response to the special interrogatory within 10 days. There is no 
attorney-client privilege under Evid. Code 952 if another person was present 
during the communication unless that person was present to further the 
interest of the client. If such communications occurred between plaintiffs in the 
CVRA action and the Shenkman Law Firm De La Torre cannot object on 
attorney-client privilege grounds unless he is conceding he was present to 
further the interests of the client(s) of the Shenkman Law Firm. If he is asserting 
that position De La Torre must say so, and, if such is the case, the Court orders 
De La Torre to provide a privilege log for any such communications when he 
was present when the Shenkman Law Firm provided advice to Loya or PNA. 

GROUP 4: 

10.Describe in detail the specific relief you are requesting in prayer.

12. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts that YOU contend support YOUR position
that communications between YOU and the SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING
TO THE CVRA ACTION, for the period following YOUR being sworn in as a

CITY Councilmember on or about December I, 2020 to the present, are
subject to the deliberative process privilege

Group 5: 

5. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts that YOU contend support YOUR position
alleged in THIS ACTION that YOU do not have a conflict of interest
concerning the CVRA ACTION as CITY councilmember.

Special Interrogatory No. 5 fits in this grouping particularly with respect
to the answers De La Torre gives to Special Interrogatory No. 16. The conflict of 
interest that the CITY is referring to is a common law or financial conflict of 
interest. The City states: 

"The [SAC] alleges that De la Torre has no conflict of interest-whether 
common law or financial-with the City and is seeking to participate in 
closed sessions that include the City's counsel in the CVRA Action. This 
Request explicitly seek documents related to these allegations. 
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De La Torre's answer, after the objections, is: 

"Responding Party has no 'personal interest' in Pico Neighborhood 
Association, et al. v. City of Santa Monica different than a large number of 
constituents." 

De La Torre in other answers and his declaration states he has no financial 
interest in the outcome of the CVRA action, nor does his wife, nor does PNA. 
Mr. Shenkman counsel for PNA in the CVRA action has stated the same thing. 
There is nothing more De La Torre can say to respond to Special Interrogatory 
No. 5. The Court denies the motion to compel a further response. 

13. With the exception of the CITY'S Attorneys' Office, INDENTIFY all
attorneys who have represented YOU in any capacity since YOU were sworn
in as a CITY councilmember on or about December 8, 2020, such
representation includes but is not limited to receiving legal advice,
representations in legal proceedings, non-litigation proceedings, lawsuits,
and arbitrations.

Special Interrogatory No. 13 is unclear. What is legal "representation"? 
Attorney representation in California requires a retainer agreement. Bus. & Prof. 
Code __ . De La Torre, apparently adopts that definition in answering: 
"Responding Party has been, and is currently, represented by Wilfredo Trivino­
Perez." 

De La Torre in his declaration also states that he filed an amicus brief to the 
California Supreme Court in the CVRA action. He adds: "Attorney Todd Bonder 
assisted me with the preparation of that amicus brief.'' De La Torre decl, p.4: 
25-p. 5:3.

De La Torre's answer to Special Interrogatory 13 also refers to "representation 
of, or legal advice to, ... in the public and thus not subject to the deliberative 
process privilege.'' His assumption seems to be that advice he received from 
lawyers about the law does not have to be disclosed under the deliberative 
process privilege. He did testify in his declaration to having consulted other 
attorneys, saying (p. 6:6-9): 

.. At various times, I have consulted several trusted attorneys regarding a 
wide variety of topics impacting the City of Santa Monica-housing, 
crime, homelessness and district-based elections, to name a few. Those 
attorneys include, but are not necessarily limited to, Dan Ambrose, R. Rex 
Parris, Wilfredo Trivino-Perez, Kevin Shenkman and Todd Bonder." 

De La Torre's answer appears to respond to the definition implied in the 
special interrogatory for "representation." The Court declines to order any 
further answer. 
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14. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and MARIA
LOYA RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION for the time period following YOUR
(sic) sworn in as a CITY Councilmember on or about December 8, 2020 to
present.

De La Torre objects on the grounds the interrogatory seeks a disclosure 
protected by the deliberative process privilege and "seeks to invade the marital 
communication privilege.'' The Court makes no decision as to the applicability 
of the deliberative process privilege. However, the objection based on the 
marital communication is sufficient. See, Evid. Code 980. MP seems to argue 
that De La Torre has not said that his communications to his wife were "made in 
confidence." The City should assume that De La Torre, if asked, will say that he 
had an expectation that his communications with his wife about the CVRA 
litigation were private; and that his wife, who separately holds the privilege will 
testify that she had an expectation that the communications were private. The 
Court will not order a further response. 

16. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all facts supporting YOUR assertion in YOUR
November 30, 2020 letter to the FPPC that "my wife and PNA both agreed
that they have no right to any attorney's fees or costs recovered in that case.

De La Torre's response to Special Interrogatory No. 16, besides adopting the 
statement in his November 30, 2020 letter to the FPPC, is: 

" ... neither Responding Party, nor Responding Party's wife, nor the Pico 
Neighborhood Association has any financial interest in Pico 
Neighborhood Association, et. al v. City of Santa Monica." 

City does not explain why that answer is insufficient. Plaintiff makes this 
argument: 

"Plaintiff has alleged a lack of financial conflict. This interrogatory seeks 
information utilized to test that allegation, but De La Torre essentially 
repeated prior statements without providing supporting information." 

De La Torre repeats his prior statements but this time under oath. De La Torre 
denies that he, his wife or PNA has now or has had in the past a financial 
interest in legal fees or costs that have been awarded in the CVRA litigation. Mr. 
Shenkman likewise said in his decl. (p. 5: 25-27) that: 

"Our CVRA clients do not pay us or anyone else any money in connection 
with those cases. They have no prospect for any financial gain or financial 
loss from those cases. 

Special Interrogatory No. 16 has been answered. The Court denies the motion 
to compel any further response. 
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A. RULING ON CITY'S MOTION TO COMPEL PLAINTIFF ELIAS SERNA TO

PROVIDE FURTHER RESPONSE TO SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES:

Moving Party's separate statement seeks further response to three special 
interrogatories, to wit: Nos 1, 3 and 7,as quoted below: 

3. IDENTIFY all PERSONS with whom YOU conferred or consulted in deciding
to file THIS ACTION.

6. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and the
SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING TO THIS ACTION.

7. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL all COMMUNICATIONS between YOU and the
SHENKMAN LAW FIRM RELATING TO THE CVRA ACTION from December 8,
2020 to the present.

Serna's response to Special Interrogatory No. 1, apart from objections, is 
"Nobody." The Court denies MP's motion to compel further response because 
the information sought is not relevant nor reasonably calculated to lead to the 
discovery of admissible evidence, invades the privacy rights of Serna, and, 
besides that, is vague, uncertain, overbroad and due to its breadth and 
vagueness imposes unnecessary and unreasonable burden on plaintiff. 

MP's separate statement provides no argument that this particular interrogatory 
seeks information that is relevant or reasonably calculated to lead to the 
discovery of admissible evidence. MP's intention seems to be to cast a broad 
net and decide once Serna answers by naming everyone he talked to about 
participating in this suit what if anything is relevant. The interrogatory is 
intended to be overbroad and burdensome. 

MP argues the interrogatory is relevant because: 

"This interrogatory seeks to understand how Serna came to file this 
action, which ties into his alleged harm. Moreover, people who influenced 
Serna to file this action and their motivations also may reveal a conflict of 
interest." 

MP's explanation demonstrates that Special Interrogatory No. 1 invades Serna's 
privacy interests, and, given that defendant is a public entity, arguably burdens 
and, therefore, threatens Serna constitutional right to petition his government. 
[citations] 

The interrogatory is framed to obtain an identification of everyone Serna talked 
to before signing on as a co-plaintiff including family and friends (depending 
how the words "conferred" and ''consulted" are defined) and predictably include 
his attorneys. While a contact with one's own attorney may be discoverable, 
assuming it passes the relevancy test, that would not include communications 
within the attorney-client privilege. How are communications between a co­
plaintiff and his counsel, whether or not within the attorney-client privilege, 
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relevant? If MP had a legitimate purpose in propounding this interrogatory, it 
should have been framed with that purpose in mind. 

The Court need not rule on Serna's claim of the deliberative process privilege 
because other objections to the interrogatory are sufficient to deny the motion. 
The motion to compel is denied as to this interrogatory. 

Special Interrogatory No. 3 indicates what MP was aiming at in Interrogatory 
No. 1-Sernas "communications" with the Shenkman Law Firm. MP apparently 
regards the Shenkman Law Firm as adverse to the best interests of the Santa 
Monica City Council because it represents plaintiffs in the CVRA action. The 
CVRA action raises a political issue-whether the City's at large councilmanic 
elections violate the California Voting Rights Act. MP views the litigation as 
antagonistic to the City's interest because, apparently, plaintiffs' counsel in the 
CVRA action, if successful, will make an attorneys' fee claim as permitted by the 
statute. 

The term "communications" would require an answering party to specify with 
particularity time, place, manner and identity of the persons involved. 

Serna's response to Special Interrogatory No. 3 is: 

"Responding Party has had no non-privileged communications with 
Shenkman & Hughes PC regarding the above-captioned case." 

This response is inadequate. However, Serna has waived any objection to the 
form of the special interrogatory by providing a substantive answer. The issue 
is whether a further response should be required. Serna's answer suggests that 
he has had communications with the Shenkman Law Firm that he claims to be 
privileged before the complaint was filed. The Court concludes to ORDER Serna 
to provide a further response within four days from this hearing date to list the 
date(s), place(s), manner(s) and identifies of persons at the Shenkman Law Firm 
that he had contact. The Coun does not find that any further information that 
Serna provides is relevant to any issue in this action. 

Serna gave this response to Special Interrogatory No. 7: 

"Responding Party expressed general encouragement to one of he 
attorneys of Shenkman & Hughes concerning the [CVRA] action." 

Serna otherwise said he had no recollection of any communication with 
attorneys of the Shenkman Law Firm and the CVRA action. 

Since plaintiff answered without objection the interrogatory about his "general 
encouragement" communication with an attorney from Shenkman & Hughes he 
should answer the remaining part of the interrogatory: when, whether, how and 
with whom this communication occurred. No documents are mentioned as 
being part of the communication but if there were documents they should be 
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identified. The Court will order the further response be made within 10 days 
from this hearing date. 
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(No Subject) 

From: Kevin Shenkman (shenkman@sbcglobal.net) 

To: ode1atorre16@yahoo.com 

Date: Saturday, January 23, 2021, 06:34 PM PST 

Below is a link to the SM councfl rules. Cardona references Rule 18, and claims that means you should not be allowed 
to vote regarding whether you have a conflict. It says no such thing. 

R-II106 CouI cil Rules,P-Qf..(�.mgIDillfil)

It also does not provide thal the council can declare that one of its members has a conflict of interest. 
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Fwd: Department 15 Tentative Ruling - OSCAR Dela TORRE v. CITY OF SANTA MONICA, et 
al. [21 STCV08597] ; 07 /23/21 at 9:15 a.m. 

Frorn: W. Trivino-Perez. Esq.(wtpes4@gmail.com) 

fo: shenkman@sbcglobal.net 

Date Frid;iy, July 23, 2021, 09:47 AM PDT 

NO US MAIL AT THIS TIME - ELECTRONIC ONLY: 

To promote public health, and in hopes of doing our part to slow the spread of Coronavirus (Covid-19L 

our office is immediately transitioning to remote worl< for all of our staff until further notice. This will no 

doubt complicate our usual workflow in several ways, some foreseeable and some not. 

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES I Attorneys at Law 

Wilfredo Trivino-Perez I Attorney at Law 
10940 Wilshire Blvd., ·16th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90024 
Tel: (310) 443-4251 I Fax: (310) 443-4252 
!IY!il@lruilllWYecsl.co111 I
wwwJO.illfilYYQrs .com
http://rn,fai;;el,ook.con l'PALAW 

NOTICE: This email and any attachments contain information from the law firm of TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
and are intended solely for the use of the named recipient or redp1 "nts. hi!. �111;.iiJ m;.-iy r.onta1n privileged r'lltorney/client 
communications or work product. Any dlssemin,ition of this eniall by anyone other than an intended recipient is stnctly 
prohibited. If you are not a named recipient. you are prohibited rrorn. ny further viewing of lhe e-mail or any attachments 
or from making any use of the email or attachments. If you believe you tiave received this email in error, please notify 
the sender Immediately and permanently delete the email. any a11aclm1 ,nt., and all copies thereof from any drives or 
storage media and destroy any p1·intouts of the email or attachments. 

--·--·---- Forwarded message ---------
From: SMCDEPT15 <SMCDFPT I �1@l.a.!.:!J.ill.L2.i:c1 :> 

Date: Fri. Jul 23, 2021 at 8:38 AM 
Subject: Department 15 Tentative Ruling - OSCAR Dela TORRE v. CITY OF SANTA MONICA. et al. [21STCV08597]; 
07/23/21 at 9:15 a.m. 
To: Jti!Qsili..n@gmail. -001 <wQ.illiQ@g.llli!!l...!xm1:>, su .,.,h1·nnwlru;:11<&.fil!lww. ne\ <.,pe,pimmPlrll:h@.filDgov.net>. 
branclo11.w�1rd@filIJ9� <t1randon.ward@srngov.net> 

Good morning, 

...._#...,.9'---...... 1 .... Eu..N .... I'-"-A..,..T�IV�E'------�9-=�15�a_, m_, -E�ti=d-ay, July�, 2021 
-

OSCAR Dela TORRE v. CITY OF SANTA MONICA,..fil..fil:. [21STCV08597] 
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RULING ON DEMURRER OF DEFENDANT CITY OF SANTA MONICA TO PLAINTIFF'S FAC 

***Do not replay to this email*** 

Thank you 

),.. 
De La Torre 7-23-21.prlf 
7.6MB 
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# 9 TENTATIVE 9:15 a.m. Frida 

OSCA ela TORRE v. CITY OF SANTA MONICA et al. [21STCV08597] 

RULING ON DEMURRER OF DEFENDANT CITY OF SANTA MONICA TO 
PLAINTIFF'S FAC 

MEET & CONFER: DEFECTIVE - CITY 1s counsel declares that Plaintifrs

Counsel didn't respond to MP's efforts to meet & confer 

BACKGROUND: Action for declaratory relief; violation of the Brown Act -
TIMELINE: 
"For several decades" Plaintiff De La Torre has allegedly "advocated for the 

implementation of district-based elections, both in Santa Monica and 
throughout California." He has taken the position that Defendant 
CITY's "at-large system" of electing its city council 0dilutes Latino votes, 
and has caused Defendant's city council to be unresponsive, even 
hostile, to Latino voters and the Pico Neighborhood where they are most 
concentrated." 

Beginning around 2015: De La Torre and others, including Plaintiff Elias Serna, 
allegedly "focused their efforts on changing the at-large election system 
employed by Defendant City of Santa Monica"; however, the CITY was 
allegedly non-responsive 

April 2016: the Pico Neighborhood Association and Maria Loya allegedly filed 
suit to compel Defendant CITY "to comply with the California Voting 
Rights Act"; that case [Pico Neighborhood Association, et al. v. City of 
Santa Monica, LASC Case No. BC616804] went to trial in August 2018, 
and a judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiffs; Defendant 
appealed, and the intermediate appellate court reversed; the California 
Supreme Court granted review and, on its own motion, depublished the 
intermediate appellate court's decision. The "Voting Rights Case" is 
currently pending in the California Supreme Court. 

November 2020: Plaintiff De La Torre sought election to Defendant's city 
council; Plaintiff alleges that "the system of election employed by 
Defendant, and relatedly the Voting Rights Case, was a significant issue 
in the campaign," and that all of the incumbents "opposed any change to 
the at-large election system, while De La Torre and his "Change Slate" all 
professed their support for district elections and an end to Defendant's 
wasteful fight against the Voting Rights Case"; Plaintiff and two of his 
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colleagues were elected, and were sworn into office in December 2020. 
Plaintiff alleges that before he took his seat on the Santa Monica City 
Council, he resigned from the Pico Neighborhood Association board. 

November 25, 2020: the interim city attorney, who had allegedly actively 
participated in the defense of the Voting Rights Case, allegedly sought 
advice from the FPPC "on whether Councilmember de la Torre had a 
conflict of interest that prevented him from lawfully participating in 
council deliberations and decisions regarding the Voting Rights Case." 

January 26, 2021: the interim city attorney allegedly placed an item on the City 
Council's next meeting agenda, for a council vote to declare that De La 
Torre has a conflict of interest and exclude him from all council 
meetings concerning the Voting Rights Case. Plaintiff claims that, 
"presented with only the interim city attorney's one-sided report, and 
though some members of Defendant's city council expressed a desire to 
obtain legal advice from the FPPC, they ultimately did not wait for 
guidance from the FPPC or any court. Instead, a bare majority (4 of 7) 
voted to declare that De La Torre has a conflict of interest and to exclude 
Plaintiff from all discussions, meetings and decisions concerning the 
Voting Rights Case .... ," and that "later that same evening, Defendant 
excluded De La Torre from a closed session meeting,"" out of which 
no actions were reported 

February 4, 2021: the FPPC allegedly "responded to Defendant's inquiry 
whether De La Torre has a conflict of interest," and "definitively 
concluded that Plaintiff does not have a conflict of interest that would 
prohibit him from participating in meetings and decisions concerning 
the Voting Rights Case." De La Torre then allegedly "requested that, in 
light of the FPPC's determination, Defendant reverse its previous action 
excluding him from meetings and decisions concerning the Voting 
Rights Case," but Defendant refused. 

3/4/21: Plaintiff filed the verified Complaint herein 
3/12/21: the case was re-assigned to 015 
5/25/21: Plaintiff filed the verified FAC, asserting 2 C/As v. all defs: 
1. declaratory relief
2. violation of the Ralph M. Brown Act [GC 54950]

6/24/21: Moving defendant filed these general demurrers to C/As 1-2

TENTATIVE RULING: RE THE GENERAL DEMURRERS OF DEFENDANT CITY 
OF SANTA MONICA TO CAUSES OF ACTION 1-2 OF PLAINTIFF'S FAC, THE 
COURT RULES AS FOLLOWS: 

A) REC/A 1 [DECLARATORY RELIEF]: SUSTAINED WITH 20 DAYS' LEAVE TO
AMEND. While it is true that an action for declaratory relief requires that

, 
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there be an "actual controversy" between the parties [see CCP 1060], and 
the parties here clearly have opposing positions in regard to whether 
Plaintiff can and/or should be disqualified from taking part in City Council 
discussions involving the "Voting Rights Case" ["CVRA"], that doesn't end 
the inquiry here. In order for there to be an "actual controversy" here, 
the Court would have to find that the CITY acted outside of its authority in 
disqualifying Plaintiff from participating in Council meetings where the 
CVRA was the subject of discussion. 

It is undisputed that the Council acted to disqualify Plaintiff based on a 
finding that he had a conflict of interest under the common law. The 
demurrer, and the opposition thereto, ask the Court to resolve two issues: 
first, whether the Council had the authority to disqualify Plaintiff; and 
second, whether the Council properly found that Plaintiff has a 
disqualifying conflict of interest. The Court agrees with the CITY on both 
of these issues. 

Preliminarily, the Court finds that the common-law conflict of interest 
doctrine remains viable. See, e.g., Clark v. City of Hermosa Beach (1996) 48 
CA4th 1152 [cited by CITY for the proposition that common-law conflicts 
0are separate and distinct from financial conflicts under the Political 
Reform Act and extend to nonfinancial interests"]. Also, the Court finds 
merit in Defendant's argument to the effect that the common-law conflict 
of interest doctrine has been the subject of opinion letters issued by the 
Office of the Attorney General. One of those opinion letters included a 
statement that the "temptation to act for personal or private reasons" 
presents a potential conflict of interest. See 92 Ops, Cal. Atty. Gen. 19, 
2009 WL 129874, *5. While not directly on point, these authorities support 
the position that the common-law doctrine is still in force, and Plaintiff 
cites no authority to the contrary. 

In fact, citing the Clark case [supra], Plaintiff concedes that "some courts 
have acknowledged a common-law doctrine" which "prohibits public 
officials from placing themselves in a position where their private, 
personal interests may conflict with their official duties." Plaintiff then 
attempts to limit application of the common-law doctrine in two ways. 
First, Plaintiff submits that "courts are reluctant to find a conflict of 
interest under the common law where no conflict exists under the PRA or 
Section 1090," citing Breakzone Billiards v. City of Torrance (2000) 81 
CA4th 1205 and All Towing Services LLC v. City of Orange (2013) 220 
CA4th 946. That there may be judicial 11reluctance," however, is far from 
saying that the Court lacks the power to make findings as to whether a 
disqualifying common-law conflict exists. 

3 
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Second, Plaintiff argues that while common-law conflicts may arise in the 
absence of a financial interest, "there must still be some personal 
advantage or disadvantage at stake for the public officer" [citing 88 Ops. 
Cal. Atty. Gen. 32 (2005), at p.8]. Plaintiff goes on to argue that he has no 
personal stake, financial or otherwise, in the Voting Rights Case. He posits 
that if the plaintiffs in that case prevail, he will simply gain the benefit of 
an "undiluted vote," like "thousands of other Latino residents of Santa 
Monica." His argument, however, glosses over some important facts, 
which are undisputed here, e.g.: Plaintiffs parents founded the Pico 
Neighborhood Association [PNA]. which is one of the plaintiffs in the 
CVRA case, and he served as its chair until shortly after his election as a 
Councilmember; Plaintiff's wife is the other named plaintiff in the CVRA 
Action; Plaintiff was involved with developing the claims and litigation 
strategy for the plaintiffs in the CVRA case; Plaintiff testified on the 
plaintiffs' behalf in deposition and in the CVRA trial; and Plaintiff 
continued to be involved in the case until at least 6/11/21, when he filed 
an amicus brief in support of the plaintiffs. As the Reply points out, 
these facts raise questions as to whether Plaintiff can "exercise the 
powers conferred on him with disinterested skill, zeal, and diligence and 
primarily for the benefit of the public.'' See Noble v. City of Palo Alto 
(1928) 89 Cal.App. 4 7, 50. 

As to whether the City Council had the authority to disqualify Plaintiff, the 
CITY cites Simons v. City of Los Angeles (1976) 63 CA3d 455, 468, for the 
propositions that a charter city's power over municipal affairs is "all 
embracing.,, and limited only by the city's charter," and that a charter city 
"has plenary powers with respect to municipal affairs not expressly 
forbidden to it by the state Constitution or the terms of the charter.'' In 
opposition, Plaintiff first cites Lockyer v. City and County of San Francisco 
(2004) 33 C4th 1055 for the rule that "a local administrative agency has 
no authority under the California Constitution to exercise judicial power." 
Even if the Court were to agree that the City Council qualifies as a 
11local administrative agency," there is nothing before the Court to 
demonstrate that, by disqualifying Plaintiff, the Council is exercising 
'Judicial power." More importantly, however, the argument ignores that 
CITY's charter gives the Council plenary powers re "municipal affairs not 
expressly forbidden to it.,." 

Plaintiff next argues that the authority to disqualify "has been expressly 
conferred on the courts and the FPPC ... .'' In support, Plaintiff cites Gov't 
Code 91003, which allows any person residing in the jurisdiction to "sue 
for injunctive relief to enjoin violations or to compel compliance with the 

•l
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provisions of the Political Reform Act ... ," and which states that the court 
has discretion to require any plaintiff other than the FPPC .. to file a 
complaint with the FPPC prior to seeking injunctive relief," etc. Plaintiff 
complains that CITY didn't sue for injunctive relief, and didn't wait for the 
FPPC to respond to its inquiry before it excluded Plaintiff from a Council 
meeting; therefore, Plaintiff argues, Defendant has usurped the role of the 
Court. Further, Plaintiff submits that the Simons case doesn't help CITY, 
because "any charter city authority must yield to the California 
Constitution, which ... vests the interpretation of the law in the judicial 
branch," and that city charters must yield on issues such as "the right to 
vote and the integrity of the judicial process" [citing Jauregui v. City of 
Palmdale (2014) 226 CA4th 781]. 

The Reply addresses Plaintif s arguments persuasively, pointing out that 
a fundamental principle underlying the separation of powers doctrine is 
that all "'questions of policy and wisdom concerning matters of municipal 
affairs are for the determination of the legislative governing body of the 
municipality and not for the courts.'" See People ex rel. Harris v. 
Rizzo (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 921, 940. The Reply points out that 
Plaintiffs reliance on PRA provisions is misplaced, as such provisions 
"have no application to the common-law doctrine." Further, the Reply 
rightly notes that Plaintiffs argument that he has no personal interest in 
the CVRA Action "is further undermined by his Brown Act claim 
arguments, in which he contends that he has a 'personal stake in the 
outcome of the relief sought'-participation in discussions on the CVRA 
Action." [While the Reply doesn't address Jauregui, that case is inapposite, 
as the gravamen of the instant case isn't "the right to vote and the 
integrity of the judicial process." Rather, this case is about the CITY's 
authority to control its own internal processes.] 

To summarize, the Court agrees with Defendant's arguments that: 
1) the decision whether to disqualify Plaintiff "was a determination
properly made by the City Council in the first instance, subject to
potential court review"; and 2) the decision made by the Council- that
Plaintiff had a disqualifying conflict of interest- was correct, and Plaintiff
was properly excluded from participating in meetings in which the CVRA
litigation was discussed. Therefore, there is no "actual controversy"
remaining for judicial determination, and the demurrer to cause of action
1 must be sustained.

C/A 2 [VIOLATION OF THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT - GOV'T CODE 54950]: 
OVERRULED. Plaintiff's 2AC asserts that the Brown Act [Government Code 
§ 54953] requires, with only specified exceptions, that "all persons shall
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be permitted to attend'' meetings of all or a majority of any city council, 
and that by excluding him from future Council meetings, defendant CITY 
threatens to violate the Act. Plaintiff cites Gov. Code, § 54960, subdivision 
(a), for the proposition that "any interested person may commence an 
action by mandamus, injunction or declaratory relief for the purpose of 
stopping or preventing violations or threatened violations of [the Brown 
Act] by members of the legislative body .... "; and §54960.1, subdivision (a), 
for the proposition that "any interested person" may "commence an action 
by mandamus or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial 
determination that an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency 
in violation of [specified sections of the Brown Act] is null and void under 
this section." 

Defendant raises two arguments in support of its general demurrer: 
a) Plaintiff lacks standing to assert this cause of action; and b) Plaintiff
"failed to exhaust all remedies" before bringing his claim.

Re lack of standing to sue: Defendant cites Holbrook v. City of Santa 
Monica (2006) 144 CA4th 1242 for the proposition that public officials, 
including councilpersons, don't qualify as "interested persons" under 
Gov't Code S4960(a). Plaintiff, however, is persuasive in arguing that the 
Holbrook case is both limited In its holding and distinguishable on its 
facts. The court in Holbrook recognized that councilmembers would have 
standing to sue under the Brown Act if they were "barred from 
participating in council business ... [or) deprived of the ability to 
participate in the proceedings of the city council. .. " Also, in Galbiso v. 
Orosi Pub. Util. Dist. (2010) 182 CA4th 652, the court allowed a Brown Act 
claim to proceed where the plaintiff sued not only as a Board member, but 
also on her own behalf because she had a personal stake in the outcome 
of the relief sought. Here, Plaintiff DelaTORRE alleges that he has a 
personal stake in the relief sought because the Council's action in 
threatening closed meetings is directed at Plaintiff DelaTORRE. While not 
argued here, it cannot be said that the Council's action doesn't impact Mr. 
DelaTORRE's ability to perform his function on the Council. 

Re the "failure to exhaust all remedies" argument: Defendant contends 
that Plaintiff's "request for a determination that the past action of the 
Counsel at the Jan. 26 meeting violated the Brown Act would be subject to 
either Gov't Code sec. 54960.2 or 54960.1, both of which set out either 
demand or cease and desist prerequisites that Plaintiff never satisfied ... " 
Plaintiff does not dispute that he didn't submit any cease & desist letter to 
the CITY. and he didn't allege compliance with any such "requirement." 
Instead, he argues that there is no such pre-lawsuit presentation 
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requirement where, as here, Plaintiff contends that the prospect of future 
closed session meetings of a majority, but not all, of the CITY council is a 
threatened violation of the Brown Act by members of the legislative body. 
Plaintiff submits that Gov't Code secs. 54960.1 and 54960.2 authorize 
retrospective relief - a determination that an action already taken by a 
legislative body of a local agency is null and void; and that while the 
1/26/21 closed session meeting of the Council was a violation of the Act, 
there was no action reported out of that session, and therefore there is 
nothing to declare 11null and void." He argues that Plaintiffs aren't seeking 
a judgment that the 1/26/21 meeting violated the Act, but instead that 
the 2nd cause of action is only directed to future meetings and that no 
notice and opportunity to cure is required where Plaintiff seeks only 
"prospective relief," consistent with Gov't Code sec. 54960. See the FAC, 
p.16:para.5.

MP is to serve notice of ruling. This TR shall be the order of the Court, unless 
changed at the hearing, and shall by this reference be incorporated into the 
Minute Order. TR E-MAILED TO COUNSEL ON 7/23/21 AT 8:30 a.m,

7 
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Fwd: De la Torre v. City - Initial Draft Statement of Undisputed Facts 

From: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq.(wtpesq@gma,l.com) 

To shenkman@slxglobal.net 

Dc1te Tuesday, October 12, 2021. 04:06 PM PDT 

------- Forwarded message -------
From: Kirsten Galler <K1rstt:n.(,j;-i!IA: 1_cg,-;r1nt,1'1H)r1u1.go·.-> 
Date: Tue. Oct 12, 2021 at 4:00 PM 
Subject: De la Torre v. City - Initial Draft Statement of Undispuled Facts 
To: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <wtR..Q.fil.1@9111, ii 1n1c> 
CC: Brandon Ward <Brandon.W;;1 y(OJSi'I I , 0111 .n11)Q_I£>, Carol Silberberg <c:•-1he•bi::r(Jtt'.l)berry·,1berlJ ig.corn> 

Will, 

Attached please tind the City's lnitia! Drc1fl Statement of Undisputed Facts t<lr Pu1voscs of the 
Octoher 19. 2021 Status Conlerenci.:. Tn the extent there arc any Cat'.!'.- lo which Plaintiff� will agree 
to stipulate to admit for all purposes of rhis casr or oppose stipulating. please enter "Y" or "J',.;" in 
the "PlainLiffs Stipulate Y N" column. Pleast> provick any response hy no later than 3 pm on 
.Thursday, October 14 so that the City may note Plaintiffs' position and fik this Initial Draft 
Statement before close of hu:-.ines�. If Plaintiffs do nnl ha,·e a position on a particular !"act prior to 
the October 14th filing deadline, the entry can be lcrt blank. If you would like to set up a call to 
discuss. please kl us know. 

I have nlso attached a cou1'lcsy copy ui" the Nutil.'I.' or Appearance tor our co-counsel in this matter, 
Carol Silberberg. who l han: also cupi1:d on this rnmil. ThL' Notic� of /\ppearancc was filed today 
and you should have already het.'n served clectroniL'ally or will be shor1\y. 

Best regards. 

Kirsten 

Ctty of 

Santa 
Monica 
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Kirsten Galler 

Deputy City Attorney 

(310) 458-8340

Trivino Perez & Associates is operating virtually with full access 10 phone and email communication during our regular 
business hours. Our physical office is currently closed in adherence to Governor Newsom's March 19, 2020 Order N-33-
20. Please refrain from communication by mail In order lo redL1ce the spread of viruses and other illnesses being
transmitted on physical documents.

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
Trial Attorneys 
10940 Wilshire Blvd., 16lh FL 
Los Angeles, CA 90024 
Tel: 310.443.4251 
'mR@.tpalaY'Ners.com 
www.tP.ala�yYers.com 
hUP:(lm,facP.book.conVlpalcM 

Ii\ Thank you for considering the environmental impact of r1rinting emails. 

NOTICE: Trivino Perez & Associates 1s a law firm and therefore this me sage, Including al1achments. is covered by lhe 
Electronic Communication Privacy Act. 16 U.S.C .. seclions 2510-2521. 1s CONFIDENTIAL and may also be protected 
by ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE. If you oetfeve you received tlli e-mail in error. do not read It. If you are not the 
intended recipient. you are hereby notified thal any retention, dissemination, distribution, or copying of this 
communication is strictly proh b1ted. If th reader or this message is not the intended recipient, I did not intend to waive 
and do not waive any privileges or confid1:mtiality of this message or the attachments. Please reply to the sender that 
you have received the mf!ssage in error, then delete it. ht1nk you. 

Oscar de la Torre. et al. v. City of Santa Monica - Notice of Appearance 10.12.21.pdf 
6.3kB 

2021.10.12_1nitial Draft Statement of Undisputed Facts .clocx 
90.4kB 
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JO 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

JO' .PH LAWRE 'E (SON 99039) 
lnt,;;rim City Att<,rn 
Jl,:::cph.lc1wrcncc(ig�antamon1c.1.g1)v 
Kf_R'T[: R.G LL•lq.O _ 7171) 
Depul Cit t\llom 
kirslen. •alh!r(flJSilnlarn mica.gm 
BRANDON D. WARD (SBN 259375) 
Deputy City Attorney 
brandou.ward@santamo11ica.gov 
1685 Main Street, Room 310 
Santa Monica, California 90401 
Tdcphonc: (310) 458-8336 
Facsimile: (310) 395-6727 

CAROL M. SILBERHl:.RG (. I 2176S8) 
B .:RRY SlLB :RBL::RG ST( KL PC 
csill erb rg(tljberrysi lberbcrg.com 
155 orth Lake Avr:nuc, Suite 800 
Pasadena, CA 9110 l 
Telephone: (213) 986-26RR 
Facsimile: (213) 986-2677 

Attorneys for Defendant 
CITY OF SANTA MONICA 

f.'xe111p1.fi'rm1.filillgfee pursua1't u, 
fiovemmenl ·ode !i 6103 

SUPERIOR COURT Of THE STATE OF CALIFORNLA 

FOR THE COUNTY Of LOS ANGELES 

OSCAR DE LA TORRE and ELIAS SERNA, Case No.: 21 STCV08597

Plaintiffs, 

V, 

Assigned 10 Hon. Rit:hard L. Fruin 

�OTTCE OF APPEARA�CE 

20 CITY OF SANT A MONf CA, and 
DOES I through 10, i11clusivc Trial Date: 

A1.:tio11 Filed: 
NIA 

March 4. 2021 21 

22 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Odcndant. 

--------

----------

NOTICE OF Al'PJ.:J\RANCE, 

Ca�.: :-Jo 21 STCVOR5'l7 
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9 

IO 

11 

PLEASE TAKE NOTJCE that C.:urol M. Silberberg hereby enters her appearance as 

additional counsel for Dcfendanl City of Santa Monica. This Nolicc l!onstitutcs the first 

appearance in this case of Ms. Silberberg. Ms. Silberberg is a member of the Slate Bar of 

California. Her contact information ls as follows: 

BERRY SILBERBERG STOKES re 

'ARO M. SILBERBERG, (SnN 217658) 
155 orth Lake A venue 
Suite 800 
Pasadena, CA 91101 
Telephone: (21 J) 986-2688 
csilberberg@benysilberberg.com 

By way of this Notice. Ms. Silberberg requests that the Clerk update the docket as 

indicated herein. 

12 October 12. 2021 CAROL M. SILRERBERG 
BERRY SILBERBERG STOKES PC 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Allorneysfi,r /Jcfnul 1111 
CITY OF /\ 1T NICA 

-------

NOTICE OF /\l'PEARANCE 

Case :--.In. 21 STCV085CJ7 
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JOSEPH LAWRENCE (SBN 99039) 
lnt�rim Cit 1 /\ll me· 
joseph.luwrencc(q;santumonic t. 1 0 

KJRSTE R. 'ALL.,R SB 1227171) 
Dcput 'ity /\Ltorncy 
kin.it n.gnller@santamonica.gov 
BRANDON D. WARD (SBN 2593 75) 
Deputy City Attorney 
brandon. ward@santamonica. gov 
1685 Main Street, Room 310 
Santa Monica, California 90401 
Telephone: (310) 458-8336 
Facsimile: (310) 395-6727 

BERRY SILBERBERG STOKES PC 
L M. ILBl�RHFk . (.'I 217658) 

•. ilb rberg(�bt!rr silberhcrg. l m 
, - · 1th akc emu.: ... 'uile Ron 
Pasadena. CA 91 I O I 
Telephone: (2 l 3) 986-2688 

Attomcvs for Defendant 
13 CITY OF SANTA MONICA 

Exempt.fromfilin° fee purs11a11/ to 
G,wer11me11t Code§ 6/03 

14 

IS 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

-,­.. ) 

26 

27 

28 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

OSCAR DE LA TORRE and ELIAS SERNA. CASE NO.: 21STCV08597 

Plaintiffs. 

V. 

CITY OF SANTA MONICA. 
and DOES I through 10, inclusive. 

Defendants. 

Assigned lo Hon. Richard L. Fruin 

DEFENDANT CITY OF SANTA 

MONICA'S INITIAL DRAFT 

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED 

FACTS FOR OCTOBER 19, 2021 

STATUS CONFERENCE 

Hearing Date: 
Heuring Time: 
Department: 

October I 9. 2021 
9:15 a.m. 
I 5 

_______________ j Action Filed: March 4. 2021 

DEFENDANTS INI T'IAL �,4bgS�'A_'_f'_E:\l!J· -·�" OF UNDISPUTED FACTS.
Ct�;. �o. �IS I l V08.'I )7 
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On September 30. 2021. tht Court overruk<l the City of Santa Monica·s Demurrers to 

2 Plaintiff.· Second Amended Complain\. The Court. thereafter, directed the City of Santa Monica 

3 (the •'City") to rile a draft .. Statement of Undisputed Facts'' or memorandum relating to facts for 

4 summary judgment by October 14. 2021. so that the Court may evaluate whid1 facts Plaintiff 

5 might dispute. as well as address rnse scheduling. including a trial date. 

6 Pursuant to the Court's din:ction. the City has preliminarily sought to identify facts that 

7 might be parl of the City's summary judgmelll motion (or otherwise used in this action, including 

8 trial). The City has 1101 taken any depositions (or other discovery). As such, there may be 

9 additional issues and facts about which LIK· City has no current knowledge or has yet to identify. 

10 This filing is made without prejudice to its right to wnduct discovery and/or to utilize additional 

I I facts in the future in any :mmmary judgment motion or otherwise in this action. 

12 On O<.'.tober 12. 2021. the City pwvidcd this Initial Oran Statement of Undisputed Facts 

13 for October 19. 201 I Status Conlt:rem:c to counsd for Plaintiffs so that Plaintiffs have an 

14 opportunity to identify their pl1sition on any facts to which they will or will not agree lo stipulate 

15 to admit for all purposes in this action. Plaintiff·,' response, to the extent it was provided for each 

16 proposed fact by the time of this filing. is indicated in the ··Plaintiffs Stipulate YIN., rnlumn. 

17 

l8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

I. 

2. 

J. 

4. 

5. 

--

Plaintiffs 
Fact 

Stipulate Y /N 

Ddcndant City or Santa Monica (the .. City'') is a charter city
existing under the Con:-aitution and the laws of the State of 
California and the provisions or its Charter. 

Plaintiff Elias Serna is a resident of Santa Monica. California. 
-

Plaintiff Oscar ck la ·1 orrc is a resident of Santa Monica. California. 

On April 12. 2016. th 1 i ·o Nc:::ighborlio 71\s. 1.,;ic.11ion ( .. PNA .. ) 
Maria Loya (Plaintiff Oscar de la l'orrc · s wife l, and Advocates fbr 
Malibu Public Schools flied a complaint against the City in the Los 
Angeles Superior Court. styleJ l'ico Neighhorlwod ,1/.1·sodation, er 
al. 1

1

• Cin.· o/Sw1w Monica. Case No. AC6 I 6804 (the "'CVRA 
Action'·). 
That original complaint alleg •d that the City'. at-large election:::; fi r 
Council and the Santa Moni<.·u Malibu Unifi ·d School District 
("SMMUSD"') Board violated both the CVR.A and the California 
Constitution's Equal Protection Clause. 

DlfTNDANT'S INI l'IAI f3,t,�'7bS
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6. 

Fact 

A first amended comp I 1int was liled on�hn1a1 23.2017 b Ms. 
l.oya and the PNA only and dropped any claims relating to Lhe
SMMUSD Board.

Phlintiffs 
Stipulate Y /N 

------------ - - ----- ---------+-------� 

7. 

8. 

9. 

t--

10. 

11. 

12. 

13. 

14. 
-

15. 

16. 

17. 

18. 

19. 

20. 

21. 

22. 

The Fir. t Am nded C mplaint abo alh:gcd a violation of the 
Calir rnia Equal Protc.:ction Clause 

-----------------------! 

Kevin Shenkman ·md Mar Hughes of 'h ·nkman & Hughes LLP 
represented PNA and M . Loya in the R ,· ction. 

----------------------! 

Mr. de la Torre has spent more Lhan a hundrc.:d hours pat1icipating 
in the CVRA Action as a party representative nf P 
Mr. de la Torre met Mr. Sh 'nkman while Mr. de la Torre was a 
member oC SMMUSD Board and in rnnnection \Vith Mr. 
Sbenkman·s advocacy for the establishment ofan independent 
Malibu school district. 

---

The CVRA Action proceeded Lu trial. judgment, and appeal on the 
first amended complaint. 
At the time 1hc original and first ·11111.:nded compluint were fil din 
the CVR/\ Action. Mr. de la Torre was the co-chair of CVRA 
Action plaintiff PNA. 
Mr. de la"[ orrc has been a member ol' tJ1e PNA Board sinci.: at least 
2005. 
As of 2018, there were four oflicer positions for the PNA Board: 
chair. co-chair. secretary. and treasurer. 
Under PNA's bvlaws, the chair or co-chair is the chief executive 
officer or PNA." 

-----------------------------1

Mr. de la ·r orre·s mother and father W'\::rc involved in founding the 
PNA in 1979. 
Mr. de la Tnrrc has a long history or family involvement in the 
PNA. 
Mr. de la Torre started volunteering for the PNA in or around 1988 
and 1989. 

------ --------------+--------

Mr. de la Tll1TC is married to Ms. Luya. 

Ms. Loya is also a member of the PNA board. 

Ms. Loya became a PNA board member in either 2002 or 2003. 

In 2010. Ms. Loya ldl the PNA for family aml ,,vork reasons. 
1-----l----- --

23. 

24. 

In 2013. Ms. Loya rd urned to the PNA and was elected to be a 
board mem bcr. 

-

From at lc,1st 2016 to 2018, Ms. Loya served as the PNA ·s 
treasurer. 

--1-------------------------- - -·---------1

25. 
As of January 22, 2021, the PNA · s website I istcd Ms. Loya as a 
hoard rnemh�r who serves as the PNA 's communications officer 

J
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11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

26 

27 

28 

26. 

27. 

28. 

29. 

30. 

J l. 

32. 

33. 

34. 

35. 

36. 

37. 

38, 

39. 

40. 

41. 

42. 

43. 

Fact 
Plaintiffs 

Stipulate YIN 

Ms. Loya is thi: founder and Cl·'.O nf a consulting business entitled 
Holistic Strategies Con!-iulting Services. LLC. 
llolistic .·trnt _!ii::s onsulling Services. LLC pro id· services that 
includes ·trat 'gil: J tunning. media relations. government affairs. 
capacity building. and leadership development skills to take a 
campaign or bm,incss/or�anization to the next level. 
As of October I I. 202 L The fiol istic Strategies website I ists both 
Ms. Loya and Mr. de la Torre as the "team. ., 

Mr. de la Torrc·s niece served as the agent for service of process 
for the PN!\ --
As recently as his November 2020 t.:ampaign for City Council, 
Mr. de la Torre continlll:<l to serve m, chair or the PNA board. 
Mr. de la Torre only resigned f'rorn the PN/\ board aller his election 
to the City Council. 
Mr. de la Torre encouraged PNA and his wik. Ms. Loya. to tilt: the 
CVRA Action. 
On f th · n:asons Mr. de la ·1 orrc su r,ports district-ba cl dcctions 
is because of his belief that a citywide election is more expensive 
than a districtwid�· election. 
Mr. de la Torre had an uctive role in preparing the original 
complaint and first amended complaint in the CYRA Action. 
Other than attornevs. Mr. de la Torrl? is not aware of anyone else 
who contributed t,1 the complaint in the CVR/\ 1\ction. · 
Mr. de la Torre rca<lthe First mn -ndcd complaint b· for it was fik-d 
and conlinned the accuracy of eacb alk:gation in the first amended 
complaint before it was filed. 
On June 26, 2015, Mr. c.le la Torre had a telephone call with 
Mr. Shenkman regarding the potemial CVRA Action. 
011 June JO. 2015. Mr. Shenkman met with Mr. de la Torri:: and 
Ms. Loya regarding a pokntial case against the Ctty under the
Califrirnin Votinu Rill.his Cl ,--cvRA"' ),_

On July JO.2015. Mr. Shenkman. Mr. de la Torre, and Ms. Loya 
pmtici pated in a cal I regarding '·progress and potential case." 
On September 9, 2015. Mr. Shenkman met with Mr. de la Torre 
and Ms. Loyu again to discuss the potential CVR!\ Action. 
A few \, eeks lak�r. on Scpt('mbcr 29. 2015. Mr. Shenkman met 
with Mr. de la Torre regarding the --santa Monica campaign and
potential case and outreach 1u Latino k, d1.:•r ·.·· 
Those discussions continut•d and. the next m mlh. on October 16. 
2015. Mr. Shenkman again met with Plaintiff de la Torre and Ms. 
Loya about. "Santa Monica case and public campaign" and "to 
discuss initial findill)J(S and potential case''. 
On O t b 'r 30.2015 Mr. Sil nkrnan again met with Mr. de la Torre 
and Ms. Loya "to prepare materials for community activist 
\\IOrkshc,n·· relating to potential CVRA Action. 

-- .. 
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44. 

45. 

46. 

47. 

48. 

49. 

50. 

51. 

Fact 

On Novemhcr 17. 2015, Mr. Shenkman again met with Mr. d la 
Torre (along , itb T. Vazquez) and with the Pico Center Staff 
relating Lo the pot�ntial CVR.A Action. 
On Novcmb<.:r 25. 1015. Mr. Shenkman again met with Mr. de la 
Torre to discuss "report of police misconduct of SMPD" against 
Mr. de la Torre. 
On Dccemb r 14.-])15, Mr. Shenkman had discussi ns with Mr. ck 
la Torre and Ms. Loya regarding a revised press release relating to 
the ootemial CVR.A Action. 
On or around December 15.2015, Shen I man & Hughes Ll.P sent a 
letter to the Santa Moniea City Council and the Santa Monica City 
Manager asserting that Santa Monica's at-large election violates the 
CVRA and intentionalh discriminates against Latinos. 
The December 15. 2015 letter from Shenkman & Hughes was 
written at the request of Mr. de la Torre and Ms. Loya. 
On December 28 2015. Mr. Shenkman discussed .. n xl steps'', ilh
Mr. de la Torre regarding correspondence from the Santa Monica 
City Attorney concerning January l2 meeting. 
On January 4. 2016, Mr. Sh ·nkman again met ,�·ith Mr. de la Tom:: 
and Ms. Loya ··regarding Santa Monica, efforts to obtain districts. 
and tJOICnLial case." 

Plaintiffs 
Stipulate Y /N 

On January I 2, 1016, Mr. Shenkman again met with Mr. de la 
Torr1: relating lo th(;! potential CVRA Action atld attended a Santa 
Monica Citv Council mc�tinf!. 

-1---------"------------�----------f----------1

On March 15, 2016. Mary llughcs of Shenkman & llugh � LLP 
52. 

53. 

54. 

55. 

56. 

57. 
,___ _ _, 

58. 

59. 

60. 

had a discussion witll Mr. de la TotTe '"concerning Pico 
Neil.!.hborhood Association membership and interests." 
On April 14. 2016, Mr. Shenkman had discu ·:ions v, 'th Mr. d la 
Torr and others regarding "retaliation by Santa Monica for case 
tiling." 
On August 8. 20 I 6. Mr. Shenkman met with Mr. de la ·r orre and R. 
Rubin 
On August 9. 20 I (1. Mr. de la Torn: atlcnd •cl a meeting with Mr. 
Shenkman and Ms. I-lughes on deposition investigation. 
preparation. and general story/theme for CVRA Aetion. 

----------

On Augusl 11, 2016 Mr. de la Torre met with Mr. Shenkman 
"regarding case ..ind upcoming depositions"' in the CVRA Action. 
On September 2J, 2016. in his capacity as a party representative, 
Mr. de la Torre attcmkJ the deposition nf (now former) 
collncilmembcr T1.:rry O'Day in the CVRA Action. 
On Oct iber 14. 2016, k la Torre had a discussion with 
Ms. Hughes on preparation for a councilrm:mher's deposition 
(Kevin McKeownJ. 

-�---------------------------!

On November 2, 2016, Mr. de la Torre had ,mother meeting wilh 
Mr. Shenkman regarding potential discrimination expert. 
On November "'(), 20 I (i, Mr. d la T HT· again met with 

--------------1 

Mr. Shenkman '-regarding T. Yazq,rl.!z an M. Leon-Vazquez 
transgressions.·· 

5 
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61. 

62. 

63. 

64. 

65. 

66. 

67. 

68. 

69. 

70. 
t---· 

7 t. 

T2. 

73. 

74. 

75. 

76. 

77. 

78. 

Plaintiffs 
Fact 

Stipulate Y /N 

On December 5 20 I 6, Mr. Sbl:nkman discussed ''dt umcnt request 
re µon 1;s and production and implications'· with Mr. de la Torre 
and Ms. Loya. 
On December 13, 2016, Mr. de la Torre again met wilh 
Mr. Shenkman ''regarding case generally. dm:ument production,
clc. ., 

On Dec· mhcr Io, 2016. Mr. d l,1 Tmrc, in his capacity as a party 
representative, attended the deposition of (now former) 
councilmcmbcr Kevin McKcO\vn in Lho: CVR/\ Aclion 
On D 'Ccmhcr I 9. 20 IO. Mr. de la Torre a.nd Ms. Loya met with 
Mr. Shenkman ··regarding case generally. discovery and logistics 
and gathering of documents for protluctiun.'' 
On January 25. 2017, Mr. de la Torre again met with 
Mr. Shenkman relating to the CVRA Action. 
On May "'O, 2017. in his c· pacit · as a p,irl representative. Mr. de 
la Torre attended the dcpo iti n llf coun ·ii member Sue 
J fimmclrich. 
On i\ugust 11.2017, Mr. de la Torre md ith Mr. Sh nknrnn 
r ganling th..:: deposition or (now former) coum:ilm1::mlx:r Pam 
O'Connor. 
On Augus1 18.2017, Mr. <le Ia Torre again met with Mr. Shenkman 
in Oceanside regarding public outreach on voting rights. among 
other issues. 
On August 18.2017. Mr. de la Torre had discussions with 
Ms. Hughes regarding discovery requests to PNA. 
On January 2, 2018. Plaintiff ck la Torre and his ,.,.ile met wilh 
Mr. Shenkman ··regarding the case generally. settlement idea. and 
how to pursue resolution, "

-

On February 3. 2018, Mr. de la Torrc met with Mr. Shenkman 
--regarding c.:ouncil member misconduct and campaign finance." 
L ss 1ha11 a week later. on February 9. 1018. Mr. Shenkman met 
with Mr. de la Torre. mnong others. '·regarding campaign finance 
and council member dealinl!s."' 
On february 26. 2018. in his capacil_ us a pa1ty represcntati ve. 
Mr. de la Torre attended the deposition or (now [onm:r) 
councilmembcr Ted Winterer. 
To prepare for his dcp sition iii 1he CVR.A Action. Mr. de la Torre 
met with Mr. Shenkman three separate times (May 2. 4. and 8, 
2018). 
On May 9. 2018. Mr. de la Torre was deposed in the CVRA Action 
in his individual capacity. 
Mr. de la Torre provided hours or d1:pnsition testimony in his 
individual capacity in the CVRA Action. as the deposition began at 
aooroximatelv 9:43 a.m. and ended at approximately 6:48 n.m. 
During his individual depositi n. r Ir. de la Torre. in his individual 
capacity. wns represented by Mr. Shenkman. 

Mr. Je la To1Tc invokl..!<l spousal privilege in the CVR.A Action to 
prevent disl�Overy into conversations with his wife. Ms. Loya. 

- -

6 
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79. 

80. 

81. 

82. 

-

83. 

84. 

85. 

86. 

87. 

Fact 

Mr. de la Torre mel with Mr. Shenkman following the deposition. 

\1/h n tvlr. d la Torre was deposed in the CVRA Acti n as the 
PNA Person Most ualitkd. he was defended by Mr. Shenkman. 
who repr�sentc:d both PNA and Ms. Lo\'a. 
Mr. de la Torre v,,•ts ckp scd rn lay I 0, 2018 as the Person Most 
Qualified to testify on bchnlr !'the PNA on specified topics. 

Mr. de la T m: pr vid •<l hours ol'dcposition testimony as the 
person most qualified to testify on behalf of PNA in the CVRA 
Action, as the Jcp) ·ition began at approximately l 0:07 a.m. and 
enued al approximate!\· 3 :56 p.m. 

At the time he ccstilied in his deposition on behalf of the PNA, he 
was th(' hair ol'the PT\A. 

Mr. de la Torre had served us the PNA drnir a! various limes. 

On May 15, 2018, Ms. Loya was deposed in the CVRA Action. 

During Ms. Loya's deposition, she invoked Sf) usal pri ilege lo 
prevent any testimony into discussion. " ith Mr. de lu Torre. 

Plaintiffs 

Stipulate Y /N 

-------------11----------1 
Mr. de la Torre met with Mr. Shenkman following Ms. Loya·s 
deposition. 

.----+------- -- -- ----------11----------

88. 

89. 

90. 
--

91. 

92. 

93. 

94. 

95. 

96. 

l)7, 

-

On June 5, 2018, Mr. de la Torre met with Mr. Shenkman for 
deposilion preparation. 

� --,---_..,...---,.----,--...,----,,-------,:-----+----------1 
On June 7. 2018, Mr. SIPnkman ha I a SHnta Monica "tour with 
photographer. M. Grimes:· and Mr. de la Torre for preparation of 
onenin}! statements in the CVRA Action. 
Mr. de la Torre also testifted on !he CVRA plaintitl:"i· behalf at the 
trial on August 22 anu 2.1. 2018. 

---------

Ms. Loya tcslified at trial in the CVRA Action on August 2, 20 I 8. 

Ms. Loya testified at trial that Mr. de la Torre is the representative 
for PNA. 
On November f:.2018. the trial court in th· CVRA Action l)rd�reu 
PNA. Ms. Loya, and their counsel ol'rccord,jointly anJ severally. 
to pay monetary sanctions in tht: amount of $21.612.60 for misuse 
ot' thl' discov1.:rv process._ 

-----------------------

O n November 15. 2018. Mr. de la Torre again met \Vith 
Mr. Shenkman. 

Aft r extt!nsiw post-tri'tl hrieling, on f ebruar 13, 2019. the trial 
coutt issued judgment in favor of the CVRA plaintiffs on both of 
their causes of action. 
The CVRA plaintiffs', ll rneys tiled motions seeking 
approximately $23 million in at1umeys' r ·sand c} ·ts. 

or Lh1.: approximately $.D million in allnrncys· li.:c. and costs, 
sought by mullipk plaintiff attorneys in !he CVRA Action, 
Shenkman & l lughes LLP seeks to ret:nver $l3.419.398.25 in 
attorneys' foes and $633.221.04 iu expi.::nscs. exclusive of costs. 

------------- -----------------
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98. 

99, 

100. 

10 I. 

102. 

103. 

104. 

105. 

106. 

107. 

108. 

109. 

110 .
,_ -

111. 

112. 

113. 

114. 

Plaintiffs 
Fact 

Stipulate Y /N 

Neither Ms. Loya. Mr. de la Torre. nor the PNA paid leg,11 fees to 
Mr. Shenkman or his firm for their legal representation in the 
CVRA Action. 
Plll' uant to an agreement between the parties, the City'� response 
to the fee motion and the hearings regarding costs and fees in the 
CVRA Action have been continued to follow· the resolution of 
proceedings in the Court of Appeal and the California Supreme 
Court. 
Th Cit appeal ·d th jutl •mcnt in th' CVRA Action and. on July 
9, 2020, the:: ·ourlcf. ppeal issued an ipinion h >lding that the ity 
did n I violat • eith�r th1:: 'YR or the Equal Prol 'cti 11 laus or

the C:.tliforniu Constitution and reversed the trial court·sju<luml!nL. 
ln its July 9. 2020 opinion, the C u1t of Appeal awarded the costs 
of appeal to the City of Santa fonka. 
On Oct bcr 21. 2020. in response to the CVR/\ plaintitls· p tition. 
the California Supreme Court granted review uf the limited 
question on what a plaintiff must prove in order to establish voter 
dilution under the CVRA. 
The Supr m · (' url dcpublished but did not vacate the Court or

I p�al's pinion. lcHving intact its rnling in the City"s favor on the 
EQLial Protc:ction claim. 
On or around .lune 1 I. 2021. Councilmember de la Torre filed an 
amicus brief in suppo11 of the plaintiffs in rhe CVRA Action. 
Oral argumt:nt before the Supreme Cou11 in the CVR/\ Action has 
not yet been set. 
Mr. Shenkm n has dcs�ribed thc City Council as a .. bitter enemy:• 
stated he tried to inflit:l pain on the City ('"the other side'') wherever 
he could, and has "'no love" for City councilrncmbers. 
Mr. de la 'l orrc has appeared at protests regarding lhe CVR/\ 
Action to "suprmrC his wife. Ms. I .oya. 
On November], 2020. Mr. de lu Torre was elected to serve as a 
member of the Santa Monica City Council. 
On December 8. 2020. Mr. de la Torre took his oath and assumed 
his duties as a councilmc:mbcr. 
Since taking his oath as a councilmcmbcr. Mr. de la Torre has 
attended city council meetings with Mr. Shenkman. 
-- ---

Since taking his oath as a councilmember. Mr. Jc la Tone has been 
represented by Mr. Shenkman. 
Since takinll. his oath as a councilmembcr. Mr. tie la Torre has 
discussed tl;c CVRA Action with Mr. Shenkman. 
Since taking his oath as a councilmember, Mr. de la Torre has had 
numerous conversations with Mr. Shenkman about this action. 
In De: ·mber 2020. after taking his oath as a councilmcmber. 
Mr. de la Torre refused lo resign from th<.: SMMUSD Board and 
claimed that the SMMlJSD Board did not have the authority lo 
remove him from the SMMUSD Board. 

--
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115. 

116. 

I 17. 

118. 

Fact 

In December 2020. aflc::r Mr. de la Torre lo�lk his oath as a 
cow1cilmembcr, SMMUSD BoarJ found that Mr. de la Torre 
forfeited his position as an SMMUSO Board member due to the 
connict pr :Pntcd b hi. a sumption of a public ofticc (City 
cotmcihwmber) that i. incompatible with the position Mr. de la 
Torre h kl as. 'M�11U.'D Bo·IJ(I mc::mber. 
At the December 17. 2020 SMMU. D Board meeting, 
Mr. Shenkman spoke in support o!' Mr. de la Torre during public 
comment. 

Plaintiffs 
Stipulate YIN

- - - ----------+---------,

Mr. Shenkman is a friend of Mr. ck la Torre. 

At lh1: I 1.::ccmb�·r 17, 11)20 SMMUSD Board meeting, 
Mr. Shenkman offered his legal opinion lhat SMMUSD Board
Jad:cd authoritv to remove Mr. de la Tom: and that onlv the 
Alt lrne · 'enei·,d r th c urls hav� such authorit '·

---1-cA · or .hnuary 2021. the P1 ebsitc iucntifics Mr. de la Torre as 
119. 

120. 

12 l. 

122. 

123. 

124. 
1---1 

I 25. 

126. 

127. 

128. 

·•. 'anta Monica 'nun ·ilor since December 2020: previously a board
mcmher."
.'cction 600 of the Santa Mo11ica it) Clrnrkr provides that ""l tlhc 
City Council shall ennsist of seven members elected from the City 
at lmge. at the times and in the manner in this Charter provided. 
and who shall serve for a term of'fuur eurs." 
Section 605 otth ·. anta Monica City Chart ·r provides that "fall! 
powers f the City shall be vested in the ity C"oun ·ii, sub_jct:t to 
the prnvi::-ions of this Chartcr and lo the Constitution of the State of 
Califrm1ia:· 
Rule l 8 of the Santa onica Citv Council'· Rules or Order and 
Procedure for the Conduct of City Counc i I Meetings provides that 
"lc]very councilmembcr is entitkd to vote unless disqualifieJ by 
reason of a conflict of interest.· 
It is common that ,.vhen a councilm mber has an actual financial 
ecmllict H" ther1,; i: an appearance of'�1 pt!rceived ·onilict (fimu, ial 
or c mm >n law), he or she,. ill r�cuse (hl.!1nsdve:. 

n JHnuary 22. 2 )21. the < flice fthe 'ily lcrk lc)r thl:! "ily of 
. nla 1ni ·o pn:H • I the ag 'Ilda lor the spe ial and r 'gular 
me ·ting. r Lh,. ·a11tt M011ic}1 iiv '@n ii on .lum1c1rv 26. 2021. 
( n January 16. 2021, the 'ity �ow1cil h...:ld a ·pccial 111�eting prior 
to it. regular m ct.ing, ht.re the ·ol il ru for ·11nsi I ·ration \ as 
· un ilm(:tnb rde la T rre'. c nun rn-la"" conllicl r interest and

diSl ual i fication. 
Although other new councilmembcrs have similar views lo Mr. de 
la Torre regarding the CVRA Action. they were not parties to the 
CVRA Action (nor had spouses who were pa11ics to the CVRA 
Action) and thus were not asked to recuse themselves. 
Mr. de la Torre's conflict is not hased upon his general political 
position with respect to the CVRA Aclion. 

s detail J in the staff report, tlH:: 'it_ Au rncy rec mmcn<lccl that 
the Council determine that Councilmember le la J'orre had a 
common-law conflict of interest and should therefore be 
disqualified from pnrtil-ipuling in or aLkmpting t\) influence 
discussions or decisions rdatin , to t!w CVR.A Action. 

_____ ...._ ______ _., 

9 
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13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

24 

26 

27 

28 

129. 

!JO.

131. 

132. 

I 33. 

134. 

I .35. 

136. 

137. 

D8. 

139. 

140. 

141. 

Fact 
Plaintiffs 

Stipulate YIN

The City ·oum:il recd ed written public comment on the January 
26,2021 ·p cial meeting. 
Written public comment in I uded various comments raising 
concerns with Mr. de la Torre's perceived conflict rdating to the 
CVRA Action. 
/\s part or the written public comment on the January 26. 2021 
special meeting. the l .cague of Women Voters or Santa Monica and 
Santa Monicans f<..)r Int· grit 111 1ovcrnmenl urged tbe City Council 
to determine that Mr. d la I' wre has a disqualif: ing cunffo.:t or 
interest relating to th1.: CVR.A Action 
/\s part of rhe \i riuc.:n public comment on the .January 26. 2021 
special meeting. Santa Monicans for Integrity in Government 
threatened kgal action agaiJ1St the City should it not disqualify 
Mr. de la Torre for havinl! a common-law conflict of interest. 
Al the special m ·eting. tl1t: City Coum:il n.:vic\ cd tl,e slal'f report. 
received lht: City Attorney's oral report, heard public comment. and 
heard from de la Torre 1·e1.wrdini2 the contl ict of interest. 
At the special meeting, council1rn:mb rs expressed conl'.crn about 
Mr. de la Torre being present when pri ilcgcd litigation discussions 
occurred on the CVRA Action. 
Al lh special meeting. Courn.:ilrnemhcr de la Torre declined to 
answer a question posed by Councilmember Kristin McCowan on 
,vhether he had a conversation on rccusal \.Yith Mr. Shenkman. 
stutim.!. instead that it is ··nrivileged information.'· 
When presented by his City Council coll ·t 1 ues with the 
opportunity to recuse himself prinr to a disqualification vote. 
Mr. dc la Torre chose not to do sn. 
Mr. de la Torre was one of only two councilmcmbcrs, ho voted 
against linding that a common-law conllicl of interest exists. One 
councilmembcr abstained. and Lhe remaining four voted to 
determine that Councilmember De la Torre had a common-law 
conflict of interest un<l. therefore, would be disqualified from 
participating in. voting, or attempting to in11ucnce discussion or 
decisions rclatinl! to lhc CVRA Action. 
;\ majority or the councilmcmbc.:r. ,;otcd1hat Cou11 ·ilmcmbcr dL: la 
. orrt! had a common-law ·onf1ic1 r intt:n.;st and, then:fon.:. was 
disqualil'i d fr Hn partici ating in. 101ing. or att�mptim.! to intluence 
the closed sc.:. sion dis ·u sion nr ck:cisi ns r ·lati ng to lh Rf\ 
Action. 
City Council': di:-;1.1ualili ·ution orCoun ·il1111.:mber de la Torre docs 
not pr1.:venl him from advocating for district-based elections or 
p.micipating in City Council policy discussions of whether the City
should pursue district-based elections. 
The C'it) Coun it's n� ·d to vole to disqualify a councilmember due 
lo a conl1ict of intcresl and a failure to re use is wry unusual as 
counc i I members generally se\;k lo avoid cv ·n the appcarance of a 
conflict. 
The Regular and Special Joint Meeting Agenda tor the January 26. 
2021 meeting described the closed sessions that \Vould occur at the 
meeting. publicly stating the Litle of ancl spe<.:ifically identifying the 
Ii ligation to be discussed. /\mong othtr closed session items 
conc:crninl!. ncndin14 litigation. th�_/\ •�nsl� provided: 

1n 
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10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

I 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

'),, 
..,.} 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

142. 

143. 

144. 

Fact 

··Conference with Legal ·oun. el - Exi. ting Liti ation -
Litigation has been initiated formally pur ·uant to Government

ode ··ection 54956.9(d)(1 ): Pico ei hborhood A ·socintion 
and Maria Lo. av. ity of San tu Monica, Los Angeles Superior 
Court, ·asc No. B 6 l6804, Second District Court of Appeal 

ase o. 8295935, alifornia 'uprcm ourt, Cc\ 'No . 

Plaintiffs 
Stipulate Y/N 

• 263972.'' 0m hasis in origina!) ________ ___,,...---,.--+---------1
The City Council proc� ded to it regular meeting, here it met in
closed session, with >Ul Mr. de la Torre, to <.:onfcr with and receive 
advice from its counsel r 1ardin the CVR.A Action. 
To date. the City Council has not hdd a closed session discussion 
of the CVRA Action since January 26. 2021. 
Plaintiff Elias Serna has no injury as a result of the City Council's 
disqualification of Plaintif

f 

de la Torre from par1icipating in closed 
session discussions of the CVR/\ Action. 

DATED: October 14. 2021 Respectfully submitted, 

JOSEPH LA WR ENCE 
Interim City Attorney 

By: _____________ _ 
KIRSTEN R. GALLER 
Deputy City Attorney 

/\tlnrneys for Defendant 
CITY OF SANTA MONICA 

11 
DU·'ENDAN·r 'S INITIAi ��",gSTATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS, 

C.Wic No. 21 STC\108)97 
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Fwd: Court Reporter Transcript 

From: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. (wtpesq@gmail.com) 

To: shenkman@sbcglobal.net 

Date. Tuesday, November 9, 2021, 05:48 PM PST 

---- Forwarded message ------
From: Carol Silberberg <csilbe ·12erg.@QfilfY.siloerb rg.cgn,> 
Date: Tue, Nov 9, 2021 at 5:42 PM 
Subject: RE: Court Reporter Transcript 
To: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <.w!�@gmail,corn> 
CC: Brandon Ward <Br ndon.W?rd@santa11omq,.gmt>, Kirsten Galler< 1rste11.G, ller@santan 0111ca.gQY> 

wm. 

As it appears you are not available to meet amj confer before Thursday afternoon, we thought it might be helpful lo set 
forth a few Issues in advance. To that end, please see attached, and we look forward to discussing the discovery 
issues with you on Thursday. 

Best regards, 

Carol 

Carol M. Silberberg 

Berry Silberberg Stokes PC 

Los Angeles Office 

155 Norll1 LakfJ Ay ; . 

Suite BOO

Pasadena. CA 91101 

213-986-2688 - telephone

213-986-2677 - facsimile

St. Louis Office 

16150 Main Circle Drive 

Suite 1 0 

St. Loujs, Ml5S0ll[t s:m 17 

P0447 
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314-480-5822 - telephone

314-480-5884 - facsimile

LOS ANGELES • ST. LOUIS 

From: Carol Silberberg <s:s1lborberg.@lll:.Lrvs1!l)0fl1ergmm,> 
Sent: Tuesday, November 9, 2021 1:01 PM 
To� W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <:mn .sri@9m;1il.com> 
Cc: Brandon Ward <Brandon.\/1/arll@s�nta non1cc1.ggy>; Kirsten Galler <Kirsten .... r1llP.r@sanlamon1ca.gQY> 
Subject: RE: Court Reporter Transcript 

WIii. 

As mentioned below - we are not available lo meet at your office Thursday aHemoon. We can either meet via 
telephone or video-conference. Please let us know If you would like us to circulate a conference line number or a 
zoom/teams meeting Invitation. 

Best regards, 

Carol 

Carol M. Silberberg 

Berry Silberberg Stokes PC 

Los Angeles Office 

1 S5 Noah I a1<e Avr;. 

Suite 800 

Pasadena. GA 9110} 

213-986-2688 - telephone

213-986-2677 - facsimile

St. Louis Office 

16150 Main Circle Dr 1ve 

su,te 120 

St. Louis. M,. sowi 63011 

314-480-5822 - telephone

314-480-5884 - facsimile

P0448 
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LOS ANGELES • ST. LOUIS

From: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <wflllfil1@911H1l.1,x,ri1> 
Sent: Monday, November B, 2021 2: 18 PM 
To: Carol Silberberg <cs1lhert1erg.@berrY.slr>F:rht'lrg.r.om> 
Cc: Brandon Ward <Br ndon.Ward(@s�nlrmm ic;:i.gov>; Kirsten Galler <K1rsten.Gat1er@sr10tamon1 ;:i.gQ.1!> 
Subject: Re: Court Reporter Transcript 

That is also our goal. Are you coming into our office or ,s this a telephonic meet and confer? 

On Mon, Nov B, 2021 at 12:58 PM Carol Silberberg <r:s1lbe1br;.rg,<g)t1enysilbFirb�lrg.con1> wrote: 

I Will, 

We are disappointed there is no lime before Thursday to start this meet and confer. But with that said, let's plan for 
1 :30 PM. Do you have a con!erence number you want to use or do you want to use zoom? 

As I mentioned below but got, no response, OLH Intent in meeting with you (now on Thursday afternoon) Is to discuss 
Plaintiffs' concerns and s e f we can figure out a way to agree to the scope_,mc! nature of each re9L1esl. If that is not 

; also your understanding. please let us know. 

Best regards, 

Carol 

Carol M. Silberberg 

Berry SIiberberg Stokes PC 

Los Angeles Office 

55 Nonh L ke Ave. 

Suite 800 

Pasadena. CA 91101 

213-986--2688 - telephone

213-986-2677 - facsimile

St. Louis Office 

16150 Main Cucle Dri\e 

Suite 120 

St. LotJis, Missouri 63017 

314-480-5822 - telephone

314-480-5884 - facsimile

P0449 
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LOS ANGELES • ST. LOUlS 

From: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <Jti1�@gma1l&!IBP 
Sent: Monday, November 8, 2021 12:24 PM 
To: Carol SIiberberg <csjlberllerg@.b.filry�r.bfilg&O.J.1P 
Cc: Brandon Ward <BraMon.Ward@sontomornca.gm:>; Kirsten Galler <Kirsten.Galler@s,;1n(amonica.gov> 
Subject: Re: Court Reporter Transcript 

Carol, 

Looks like it will have to be Thursday afternoon, My office is available ror our meeting on Thursday; if some 
members of your legal team can't be here then we can patch them in via telephone. 

Please confirm time. 

WIii 

On Mon, Nov 8, 2021 at 11 :50 AM Carol Silberberg < .:ql::,'"'rt>ergM"r.>IJfHP{.� lherh .rgJillill> wrote: 

Will, 

We really think ll ls Important to begin any rneet and confer before Thursday afternoon. We are stlll available to 
meet tomorrow at 12:30 in person. Otherwise, we are available on Tuesday after 12:30 until about 5:00 and on 
Wednesday before 10 or after-noon until about 4:00 to discuss telephonically. If none of those time frames work, 
please let us know if other times might work and we can see if we can shift things around. Otherwise, we can be 
available after 1 :00 PM on Thursday. but would not be able to meet in person - only telephonically. 

Please let us know when you might be ;:ivailable. 

Best regards, 

Carol 

Carol M. Silberberg 

Berry SIiberberg Stokes PC 

Los Angeles Office 

Suite aoo

P0450 
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Pasadena. CA 9111 I 

213-986-2688 - telephone

213-986-2677 - facsimlle

St. Louis Office 

16150 Main C1rcll, rive 

s Jile 120 

SI. Lo tif., Missouri 6�t 17 

314-480-5822 - telephone

314-480-5884 - facsimile

LOS ANGELES · ST. LOUIS 

From: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <��1@91110d.cwn> 
Sent: Monday, November 8, 2021 9:21 AM 
To: Carol Silberberg <c. ii ,erberg@lliillY.fil�9,.Qf2ffi> 
Cc: Brandon Ward <Brandcm.Ward@sl'lnt�1110,,1c;1.i;;�>: Kirsten Galler <Kirsten.Gnller@sa11\amornca.gm!> 
Subject: Re: Court Reporter Transcripl 

Wednesday no longer works as I will be in Victorville. How does Thursday sound at 12:30pm 

On Fri, Nov 5, 2021 at 8:47 PM Carol Silberberg< .s1lb -.r e:rg@11errys,llmrl)E:rgJWJJ> wrote: 

Will, 

We are willing to meet you at your offices at 12:30 pm on Wednesday. Please provide the address, as well as 
any relevant information regarding parking, etc. 

I'm a bit confuse<j about your com1nenL regc:1rding your client. We understood rhe Courl lo be saying that the 
meet and confer would he usecl to clarify. al times narr w and make sure everyone understood the requests and 
burdens (hence his suggestion to have your client present). Wilh that said, our intent in meeting with you on 
Wednesday (whether or not Mr. De la Torre attends) Is to discuss Plaintiffs· concerns and see if we can ngure 
out a way to agree to the scope and nature or each request. If that is nol also your unrterstanding. please tel us 
know as we want our lime to be as productive as possible. 

Carol 

Carol M. SIiberberg 

Berry Silberberg Stokes PC 

P0451 
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Los Angeles Office 

155 North Lake Ave. 

Suite soo 

P<tSfldeoa, CA 91 l OJ 

213--986-2688 - telephone 

213-986-2677 - facsimile 

St. Louis Office 

6·1so Main Circle Drive 

Slllle 120 

St, Louis. Ml&sourl 63017 

314-480-5822 - telephone

314-480-5884 - facsimile

LOS ANGELES - ST. LOUIS 

From: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <oop...!afill@go,ail ro11 
Sent: Friday, November 5, 2021 8:12 PM 
To: Carol SIiberberg <csifberllerg@l.ill.(fyc;1l1Jerberg£.ill> 
Cc: Brandon Ward <Brandon,Warcl@.,antamonJil!..gQY>; Kirsten Galler <Kirsten.Galle @santamo1 1c�

1
g.QY> 

Subject: Re: Court Reporter Transcript 

Thank you. 

We can meet on Wednesday in my office in Westwood. Otherwise we can meet and confer via telephone. 
Before we meet with my client, ii is important that the discovery request defects are cured and the new requests 
are not so broad and overreaching, We can assist in formulating better responses. 

Thank you, 

I Will 

On Fri, Nov 5, 2021 at 7:41 PM Carol Silberberg <1:s1l ,�rl nrg@J.....£y�IIMrb .rg.cmn> wrote: 

Will, 

We are happy to get you the court reporter Information on Monday. We do not currently have a transcript. 

P0452 
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Also. we wanted to follow up to arrange a meel and confer regarding the discovery. We are available to meat 
in person at the City 011 Tuesday at 2:30 pm or Wedn sday at 12:30 pm. Mr. De la Torre is welcome to join 
as per lhe Court's suggestion, but tha1 1s obviously you nd your client's choice. Please let us know if you 
would like to meet in person and if e1ll1er of those days/limes will work for you. 

Have a nice weekend, 

Carol 

Carol M. Silberberg 

Berry Silberberg Stokes PC 

Los Angeles Office 

155 Nortt1 La�e Av. 

P;:isadena. CA 91101 

213-986-2688 - telephone

213-986-2677 - facsimile

St. Louis Office 

16150 Mau, Circla Drive 

Suue, 120 

SL Louis. Mi soun ti3C1 ! 7 

314-480-5822 - telephone

314-480-5884 - facsimile

LOS ANGELES · ST. LOUIS 

From: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <wl�@gm;;i1l.com> 
Sent: Friday, November 5, 2021 4:22 PM 
To; Carol Silberberg< sUberberg@ht,!r,ys1ll�erh.-:rg&QW>: Kirsten Galler <Kir. ten.Gal!er@sanlamon1cp.gQY> 

, Subject: Court Reporter Transcript 

Hello, 

Please sell us a copy of today's Court Transcript please. Thank you. 
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WIii 

Trivino Perez & Associates fs operating virtually wilh full acce s to phone and email communication during 
our regular business hours. Our physical office is currently closed in.adherence to Governor Newsom's 
March 19. 2020 Order N-33-20. Please refrain from co111munlcallon by mail in order lo reduce the spread of 
viruses and other illnesses being trnnsrnilted on physical documents. 

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
Trial Attorneys 
1 940 lls 1lre Blvd., 16th FL 
�gm. CA 900211 
Tel: 310.443.4251 
�12@.tQsllfilyyers,com 
WI/\/W truim.Y.•"Yer ·.r,or,1 
hltp://rri.racebook.cmr1/\pGlew 

Ci Thank you for considering the environmental impact of printing emails. 

NOTICE. Trivino Perez & Associates is a law firm and therefore this message, including attachments, is 
covered hy the Electronic Communicalion Priv cy Act. 18 U.S.C .. sections 2510-2521, is CONFIDENTIAL 
and may also be protected by An'ORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE. Ir you believe you received this e-mail in 
error. do not read it. If yO\i are nol lht'? intended recipient. you are hereby notified that any retention, 
dissemination. distribution. or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If the reader of lhls 
message is not the Intended recipient. I dicJ 1101 intend lo waive and do not waive any privileges or 
confidentiality of U1is message or Iha attachments. Please reply to the sender that you have received the 
message In error, lhen delete it. Thank you. 

Trivino Perez & Associates Is opera ing virtually wiu, full access to phone and email cornn1unica11on during our 
regular business hours. Our physir.al office is currently closed in adherer,ce lo Governor Newsom's March 19, 
2020 Order N-33-20. Please refrain from communication by mail 1n order to reduce the spread of viruses and 
other illnesses being transmitted on physical documents. 

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
Trial Attorneys 
10940 Wilshire Blvd, 16t I FL 
�gfllfl§, CA 900211

Tel: 310.443.4251 
mR@lQllli:I.WYers.com 

�RillilliY�l! 
llllp:/Jm.facebook.con,/tp_a!.a.� 

,")Thank you for considering the environmental Impact of printing emails, 

NOTICE: Trivino Perez & Associates is a law firn1 and therefore this rnessage, including attachments, is covered 
by the Electronic Communication Privacy Act, 18 U.S.C., s ctions 2510-2521, is CONFIDENTIAL and may also 
be protected by ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE. If you b hev you received this e-mail in error, do not read 
it If you are not the int ndec1 recipient. you ;.1re hereby notified that any retention, dissemination. c1istribulion, or 
copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If the reader of this message is not lhe intended recipient. I 
did not intend to waive and do not waive any privileges or confidenlialily of lhis message or the attachments. 
Please reply lo the sender Iha! you hav0 r-c:eivod the 1110ssage in er·ror, then delete il. Thank you, 
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Trivino Perez & Associates is opera1ing virtua iy v1th foll r1cce s to pr1one and email communication during our 
regular business hours. Our physic<'!! office is c11rrently closed in adherenc. to Governor Newsom's March 19, 
2020 Order N-33-20. Please refrain from communication by mail in order to reduce the spread of viruses and other 
illnesses being transmitted on physical c1ocuments. 

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
Trial Attorneys 
10940 Wilshire Blvd,. 16tl) FL 
12i.8rJg�. CA 90024 
Tel: 310.443.4251 
wtp.@!P.alaY{Yers.com 
www.tpalawyers.co11 
n.LIP 11m,raceboob,co1 1/1gnli1w 

c")Thank you for considering tile environmental impact of printing emails. 

NOTICE: Trivino Perez & Associates Is a [aw fin and therefore this message, including allachments, is covered by 
the Electronic Communication Privacy Act, 18 U.S.C .. sections 2510-2521. Is CONFIDENTIAL and may also be 
protected by ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE. II you believe you received this e-mail in error, do nol read it. If 
you are not the intended recipient. you are l1ereby no 1h0d that any retention, dissemination. distribution, or copying 
of this communication s strictly prohibited. If the rec1der of lhi::; message is nol lhe intended recipient. I did not 
intend lo waive and do not waive any prlvlleg s or confideintiality of this message or the attachments. Please reply 
to the sender that you have received the message 1n error. 111en delete it. Thank you. 

Trivino Perez & Associates is operating virtually witt'i full 8ccess to phone and email communication during our regular 
business hours. Our physical office is currently closed in adl1crence to Governor Newsom's March 19. 2020 Order N-
33.20. Please refrain from communication by mail in order to reduce t11e spread of viruses and other Illnesses being 
transmitted on physical documents. 

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
Trial Attorneys 
10940 Wilshire Blvd,. ]olh -L 
�geles, CA 90024 
Tel: 310.443.4251 
mR.@ma1;:iwyers.co111
�p;:itawyers,com 
h.UP:1/m. racet>oo1<...com/1µilli'!w 

c":, Thank you for considering tt-,a environmental impact of printing emails. 

NOTICE: Trivino Perez & Associates 1s a law firm and therefore lli1s message. including attachments, is covered by 
the Electronic Communication Pnvacy Act. 18 U.S.C .. se lions 2510-2521, is CONFIDENTIAL and may also be 
protected by ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE. II you t.>elieve you received this e-mail in error, do not read ii. If you 
are not the intended recipient. you are 11ereby notified lhal any retention, dissemination, distribution, or copying of this 
communication Is strictly prohibited. If the reeder of this message is not the intended recipient, I did not intend to 
waive and do not waive any privileges or confidentiality of this message or the attachments. Please reply to the 
sender that you have received the message 1n error, then delete it. Thank you. 

Trivino Perez & Associates is operating virtually with full access to phone and email communication during OlJr regular 
business hours. Our physical office is currently closed in t1dllerence to Governor Newsorn's March 19, 2020 Order N-33-
20. Please refrain from communication by mail in order to reduce the spread of viruses and other illnesses being
transmitted on physical documents.
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TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
Trial Attorneys 
10940 Wi!shlr Blvd •. 1 t1·1 FL 
�g�. CA 9002"-
Tel: 310.443.4251 
.'ii!R@l�yers.com 
��ye rs. coru 
w.tp://m. facebook.cqm/lp� 

«')Thank you for considering the environmental impact of printing emails. 

NOTICE: Trivino Perez & Associates ls a !aw firm and 1herefore this message, Including attachments, is covered by the 
Electronic Communication Privacy Act. 18 U.S,C .. sections 2510-2521, is CONFIDENTIAL and 111ay also be protected 
by ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE. If you believe you received this e-mail in error, do not read It. If you are not the 
Intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any retention, dissemination, distribution, or copying of this 
communication is strictly prohibited. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, I did not intend to waive 
and do not waive any privileges or confidentiality of this message or the attachments. Please reply to the sender that 
you have received the message in error, lhen delete it. Thank you. 

Trfvino Perez & Associates is operating virtually with full access lo phone and email communication during our regular 
business hours. Our physical office is currently closed in adherence to Governor Newsom's March 19, 2020 Order N-33-
20. Please refrain from communication by mall In order to reduce the spread of viruses and other illnesses being
transmitted on physical documents.

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
Trial Attorneys 
10940 Wilshire Blvd., 16th FL 
Los Angeles, CA 90024 
Tel: 310.443.4251 
w.LR@!�yers.com 
��yecs.com 
h1lP .ftm.faceboqk,co, oltp� 

@Thank you for considering the environmental impact of printing emails. 

NOTICE: Trivino Perez & Associates is a law firm and therefore this me sage, including attachments, is covered by the 
Electronic Comrnunication Pnvacy Act. 18 U.S.C .. seclinn 2510-2521, is CONFIDENTIAL ancl may also he protected 
by ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE. If you believe you received this e-mail in error, do riot read it. If you are not the 
intended recipient. you are hereby notified that any retention. dissemination, distribution. or copying of this 
communication is strictly prohibited. If lhe reader of this message is not the intended recipient, I did nol intend to waive 
and do not waive any privileges or confidentiality of this message or the attachments. Please reply to the sender that 
you have received the message in error, then delete 1t. Thank you. 

p .. 
Con'eSpondence 11 9 2 Lpdf 

84kB 
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�·11 I r /\
) BERRY 

' T SILBERBERG 
� STOKES 

I)_ 'J:'.1•il-llA' ;.,, NIE ;;LJI f IJUt; 
1 •\·-,;.i�r ,A ,;.iJ� n1<111i 11 tn 

-------- 1,..rf,",,J!-(1,::.,s .,., ! ,,,,. 

November 9, 2021 

Senf via emuil 

Wilfredo Albc1to Trivino-Perez, Esq 
Trivino-Perez & AssL>ciatcs 
I 0940 Wilshire BlvcJ., 16th Flour 
Los Angeles, CA 90024 

\ Professional Curpor;-ition 

Cami lvl. Silberberg 
Dim:l: (213 i CJ86-.'.l68fi 

Focsimik: (� 1.3) 986-2677 
csilbcrbt:rg\i)Jt:1Ty�i lberbcrg.rnm 

Rt!: Mee/ and Co,!f'er- De La Tom:: ct al. v, City of Santa Monica ct al., Los 
Angeles Superior Court case 11w11bc1· 2/STCV08597 

lkar Will: 

This Idler is a f'ollow-up LO our informal discovery conference held last Friday. 
November S, 2021. A liet lhaL i.:onl'crcm;e, on Friday c:ven ing, we indicukd that we were hoping 
to meet and conler with you i:nrly this week (either Tuesday nr Wednesday) in person to address 
the discovery disr,utes. You initially told us that you could meet Wednesday, November 10, 
2021, but only in your office. Otherwise, it would have to be telephonic. We agTccd to meet 
with you al your offic1.: on Wednesday atkrnuon. Tlicu on Monday. November 9, 2021, you 
infonncd us that yuu now had to be.: dst:wh�rl.! on Wednesday and would need to delay our mL:ct 
and canter to the afkrnoon ofThmsday, November 11. 102 l. Although we aski.:d for earlier 
times to begin the meet and confor, you did not offer any. Therefore. we arc sending you this 
letter to highlight some of the broader based issues that wt: believe will need to be discussed al 
our meet and confer n11 Thursday.1

First, we wa111cd to address first some issues raised by all four discovc1y responses: 
Plaintiff Oscar De la Torre's Objections and Responses tu Defendant's First Set of Special 
lnt-:rrogatorics ("DI.! I.a Tom: Rog Rcspons8s"), Plaintiff Osrar DI;.' La Torre's Objections and 
Responses to Defendant's First Set of Doc.;umcnt Rcqut:sts ("De La Torre Doc Responses"). 
Plaintiff Elias Scrna's Ubjcc1ions anJ Responses lo Defendant's First Set ufSpecial 
lnterrogalories ("Scrm1 Rog R1:sponscs''), and Plaintiff Elias Serna 's Objections and Responses 
to Defendant's First Set or Document Requests (""Serna Doc Responses"). The De la Torre Rog 

1 This lcltcr is 1101 :rn exhaustive 1wr fully 1.kwilcd dis<.:nssic,n or these issues. and llic City ofSant:1 Monica waivc5
nothing by Llm kth:r. 
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\Vilfrcdo Alberto Trivirw-Pcrez, E.sq. 
November 9. 202 l 
Page 2 

Responses and Serna Rog Responses both ohjcc! to the definitions of ··YOU." "YOUR,'' or other 
tenm; used Lo identi(y reople as ··overhroad" and making 1.he <liscovery requests "unduly 
hurdensom "an I "h pele ·sly i11compreh nsiblc." How ver, tlli:se lkliniti 11s nre, in reality, 
naI"row and lirnited. Further. they me modeled an r lanJu3ge used in Calif'ornia discovery 
fonn • which Rre promulgared by lhe Judicial Cc.mncil of' alifornio. For example, th general 
fMn in1errog.at rie (form DI 'C-00 l J d fine 'YOU OR ANYONE ACTING ON YOUR 
BEJJALF" as including "you your agents. your employees, your insurance companies, their 
agents, their cmploycrs. your attorneys. your aceou11ta111s, your investigators, an<l anyone else 
.icting on your bchalr'." This definition is adually broa<lcr than the one ust:d in Defendant's 
Lliscowry rcqw:sts. Please identify how this definition cn:ate); any particular burckn llr 
vagueness in lhe co11lt'.Xl or these sreci!"lc requesls, as gencml assertions are insul'fic.:ienl. 

Additionally, many of 1.hi: responses mrike slalernents such as "no non-privileged 
responsive documents" or "no non�privik:gl·J conununicmions" wer(' found. However, there is 
no statement as to whether any documents or information arc being withheld based upon 
objections or assertions of privilege. This is particularly tnw of responses by Plaintiff Serna. 
With respect these two sets directed al Plaintiff Serna in partil'ular, picas<.: confiim if you ,ffc 
withholding any documents or response on the basis of privikgc or ,my other objection. To the 
extent Plaintiff Serna is withholding documents on the grounds of privilege, please provide a 
privilege Ing to substantiate any such privilege. ( We can discuss Mr. De la Torre's responsc:s 
specilically al our meet and confer.) 

As for actual privilege objections, the Serna R�ig Responses asserl the work product 
privilege and attorney-client privilege without asserting any fads to support this ol.>jcct.ion. E.g .. 
S1..'.111a Rog Responses Nos. I, 3. Pkasc r,rovidc those facts (at a minimum who crna has 
engaged to represent him and for what purpos1.:s) so that we can rrorerly evaluate this L'lairn of 
privikge. With rcspcCL lO Mr. Dc la Torre, lhc De la Torre Document Responses also assen 
.illorney-clienl privilege, work pmd11L'l rrivilegc. and spousal privilege hut do not provide u 
privilege log. E.g., De La Tom: Doc Responses Nos. tO, 13. It ix impossible for Defondant or 
the Court to evaluate this assertion of privilege without a proper log identifying the documents. 
their subjects, who prepared them, nnd whNhcr thi;-y were sent to anyone. Please let us know 
when Plaintiffs intend to provide this infi)rmatio11. 

Finally, another broad-basc<l obie-:tion rt·lalcs lo <ldiberativc process privilcgl.!. 
I li.lwcvcr, there ar-: virtually 110 fads stated to suppon these asserted privileges ocher than the fod 
that De La Torre is a member of the City Council. If you have additional inrormation or 
authorities Lhat you believe .�how lhal srecilic docum<:nls, conversations. or information are 
protected by lhis privilege under the circumstanct:s ht�rc, please let us know. J 

1 The City also requests a privilege log rnr any ,to..:u111t:11ts heing withheld on lhe basis of 
ueiiberalive process privilege. Lolwr a11J WorkjcJrce l>evelupme111 Agen('y , .. Superior 
Cvul'/ (20 l 8) 19 Cal.App.5th 12, docs 110! 1mwidt.: ,my basis to refuse to provide one here, 
especially where no fac1s arc provided ro establish th-: application of the deliberative process 
privik:gc. 
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Wilfredo Alberto Trivino-Perez, Esq, 
Novemb r 9, 2021 
Page3 

Obviously, these issues are broad-busec.1 concerns that are separate from any addilional 
concerns with specific responses or requests, We inlend to discuss such issues with you on 
Thur ·da ·. However, in the interest of time and moving things forward, we wanted to raise these 
broader issues earlier to sec if it will help make our conversation later in the week more efficient. 

Best regard:1, 
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Fwd: De la Torre, et al v. City of Santa Monica - 21 STCV08597 - Deposition Dates 

From: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq, (wtpesq@gmail.com) 

To shenkman@sbcglobal.net 

Date Thllrsday, December 23, 2(J2'I, 04;07 PM PST 

------- Forwarded message •······--

From: Carol Silberberg <csjlhcrber�J@ri --rv.s1lt)(�rb ·rg,fQ'J..P 
Date: Thu, Dec 23, 2021 al 3:42 PM 
Subject: De la Torre, el al v. City of San la Monica - 21 Sl CV08597 - Deposition Dales 
To: W. Trivino-Perez, Esq. <1�lkfill@<Jms1il. ,f)rr,> 
CC: Kirsten Galler< 1r<;;' 11 geJJ:tLlll� nia:iJJ.1.!��gov> 

Dear Will. 

We wanted to reach oul ta discuss deposition dates. 

Assuming Plaintiffs are intending lo serve amendeti responses, a privilege log, and documents on Decemher 27, 2021 
and do so in full compliance with the Court's order - we wanted lo see about witness availability for the following 
depositions and dates. 

Mr. De la Torre; Please let us know 1s he is available on the following dates: January 10, 12, 13, 14. 2022 

Mr. Serna: Please let us know is he 1s available on tho follow1nrJ dates: January 18, 19 or 20, 2022. 

Ms. Loya: Please let us know a) 1f you will be representing her for purposes of this deposition and if not, can you please 
let us know who will be represanting her and if we should reacli directly out to that person; b) if you will agree to accept 
service of a deposition subpoena on ,,er bel1alf: and c) if she is available on the following dates: January 17, 18, or 19, 
2022 

Mr. Shenkman: Please let us know a) if you will agree to accept service oi a deposition subpoena on his riehalf; b) if he 
is available on the following dates: January 13, 14 or ·1a, 2022; or c) if we need to contact him directly for his availability 
and service issues. 

If for some reason, the assumption above re production and completeness (Joss not hold. lhen other dates will have to 
be secured for these depositions. 

We look forward to hearing from ymi. 
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Wishing you and your family Happy Holidays. 

Carol 

Carol M. SIiberberg 

Berry Silberberg Stokes PC 

Los Angeles Office 

155 N rtl1 lake AVA. 

Sulte 800 

213-986-2688 - telephone

213-986-2B77 - facsimile

St. Louis Office 

i 6150 Main Ctn;:le Drive 

Suite 120 

St, Loujs. Missouri G:301 r 

314.480,5882 • telephone 

314.480.5884 - facsimile 

LOS ANGELES -ST. LOUIS 

Berry Silberberg Stokes PC CONFIDENTIALITY NOTE. This electronic message is from a law firm. It Is Intended solely for !he use of the 
reclplant(�) 10 whom it Is directed and may contain 1nformatIon that is prwIleged, confidentIal. or otherwise exempt from disclosure under applicable 
law. If the reader ol this message Is no1 an Intended reclpienl, any dlsswnim1tion, distributl<in or copying or lhis communication (including any 
anar.hm ntG) Is strictly prohibited. II you have rat:elv8d this cornmuni alien In error, plaasa delete ii (including any attachments) lrom your system 
wllhoul coµylng or ro vardlny ii, and 11otify the sender <:f the error by r�nl e-rnail. 

Tr1vino Perez & Associates is operating virtually with full access to phone and email communication during our regular 
business hours. Our physical office is currently closed in adherence to Governor Newsom's March 19, 2020 Order N-33-
20. Please refrain from communication by mail in order to reduce the spread of viruses and other illnesses being
transmitted on physical documents.

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
Trial Attorneys 
10940 WIishire Blvd., 16th FL 
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Los Angeles, CA 90024 
Tel: 310,443.4251 
WlR.@tpa!awer;q:om 
��Y.er�.com 
h.nJl://m. face book .com, tpal,iw 

@Thank you for considering the environmental impact of printing emails. 

NOTICE: Trivino Perez & Associates is a law rirm ancl therefore this message. including attachments, is covered by the 
Electronic Communication Privacy Act. 1 B U.S,C., sections 2510-2521, is CONFIDENTIAL and may also be protected 
by ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE. If you believe you received this e-mail In error, do not read it. If you are not the 
intended recipient. you are hereby notified that any retention, dissemination, distribution, or copying of this 
communication is strictly prohibited. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, I did not intend to waive 
and do not waive any privileges or confidentiality ot this message or the attachments. Please reply to the sender that 
you have received the message in error, then delete 11. Thank you. 
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Minute order 

From: Wilfredo Trivino-Perez 1.wtpesq@gmail.com) 

To shenkrnan@sbcglobal.net 

D.ite; Wednesday, October 6, 2021, 03:13 PM PD! 

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES @ 
10940 Wilshire Blvd, 16th Floor 

Tel: (310) 443--4251 I Fax: (310) 443-4252 
MR.@i�yers!.com I �llillil.WY.filg;.o.n.J 
http;l/n1. faceboak.comfTPAl AW 

Wilfredo Trivino-Perez I Attorney at Law 
Los Angeles, CA 90024 

NOTICE: This e-mail and any attachments contain information from the law firm of TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
and are intended solely for the use of the named recipient or recipients. This e-mail may contain privileged 
attorney/client communications or work product. Any disseminalfon-of this e-mail by anyone other than an intended 
recipient is strictly prohibited. I[ you are not a named recipient. you are prohibited from any further viewing of the e-mail 
or any attachments or from making any use of t11e e-mail or attactirnents. If you believe you have received this e-mail In 
error, please notify the sender immediately and permanently delete the e-mail, any attachments, and all copies thereof 
from any drives or storage media and destroy any printouts or the e-mail or attachments. 

2021.09.30_Minute Order.pdf 
55.8k8 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
Civil Dh'ision 

Central Distrid, Stanley Mosk Courthouse, Department I 5 

2 t STCVOR597 

OSCAR DE LA TOltRI:: vs CITY OF SANTA MONICA

September 30, 2021 
9:15AM 

Judge: Honorable Richard L. Fruin 
Judicial Assistanl: R. lnostroza 
Courtroom Assistant: L. Naphcn 

APP EA RANCES: 

CSR: Kylie Shepherd, CSR# 13756 
ERM: None 
Di:puly Sheriff: None: 

For Plaintiff(s): Wilfredo Trivino-Prra (Tdcphonk) 

For Defondant(s): Kin.t,.:n R. Galler: Brandon D. Ward (Tc:lcphonici 

.'JATURE OF PROCEEUINGS: Hearing on Demurrer - without Motion tl1 Slrike by Deft City 
of Santa Monica to Plaintiff's 2nd Amended Complaint r905283036604l*; Hearing on Ex Pane 
Application by Deft City of Santa Monica to Continue Trial and All Related Dates or in the Alt .. 
For Order Shortening Time For Notie.:d Motion to Cu11ti11u� Trial 

Copy of the Court's tentatiw ruling (TR) was emailed to rnunsi..!I in advance of the hearing. 

237 Pursuant lo Governmelll Code set:lions MW8li. 70044. and California Rules of Coun, ruk 
'.!.956, Kylie Shepherd, CSR# I 3756, cerlitied shmthand repm'ler is appointed as an orlicial 
Court reporter pro tempore in these proceedings, und is ordered In comply with lhe terms of I he 
Court Repo1ter Agreement. Th(· Order is signed an<l tiled this dale. 

The matter is calkd for hearing, 

Court and counst:I confer re matter at issue. 

fhe demurrer is argued as reflected in the notes or tlie court reporter. 

The TR is adopted as lhe order of the CourL filed !his date and incorporated herein by reference. 

The Demurrer - without Motion to Strike - Defendant City of Santa Monica's Notice of Demurrer 
to Plaintift's Second Amcmkd Complaint: Mcmonmdum of Points and Authoritks in Support 
Thereof filed by City of Santa Monica on 09/03/2021 is Overruh!d. 

Counsel lo eonfor re draft of $Latcmcnt or undisputed facts ns discussed at the hearing. Counsel to 
li le a memo no later than I 0/ I 4/2 L 

Status Conference re draft statement of undisputed facts is scheduled for I 0/19121 at 09: 15 AM 
in Department 15 at Stanley Mosk Courthouse. 

Minute Order Page I of2 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
Ci\'tl Division 

Central District, Stanley Mosk Courthouse, Department IS 

21STCV08597 

OSCAR DE LA TORRE vs ClTY OF SANTA MONICA 

September 30, 202 l 
9:15 AM 

Judg : Honorable Richard L. Fruin 
Judicial Assistant: R. lnostroza 
Courtroom Assistant: L. Naph�n 

CSR: Kylie Shepherd, CSR# 13756 
ERM: None 
Deputy Sheriff: None 

On the Court's own motion, the Hearing on Ex Partc Application by Deft City of Santa Monica 
to Continue Trial and All Related Dates ur in the Alt.. For Order Shortening Time For Noticed 
Motion to Continue Trial scheduled ror 09/30/202 l i:.; conlinued to IOI 19/21 at 09: 15 AM in 
Department 15 at Stanley Mosk Courthouse. 

Notice is waived. 

M inutc 01'dt:r Page 2 of 1 

P0482 

566



Exhibit 37 

567



Tentative 

Frnr11: Wilfredo Trivino-Perez (wtpesq@grnail.corn) 

Tei: shenkinan@sbcglobal.net 

Date: Thursday, September 30, 2021, 01:39 PM POI 

TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES ¥ 
10940 Wilshire Blvd, 16th Floor 

Tel: (310) 443--4251 I Fax: (310) 443-4252 
�12@!rutlfil'iY.'eC !.com I �9.alfilYye rs. com
h11R 1/n,.f;:icebook.,:omfTPALAW 

Wilfredo Trivino-Perez I Attorney at Law 
Los Angeles, CA 90024 

NOTICE: This e-mail and any attachrnents contain information from the law firm of TRIVINO PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
and are intended solely for the use or the named recipient or recipients. This e-mail may contain privileged 
attorney/client communications or work product. Any d1ssem1nation of t11ls e-mail by anyone other 111an an intended 
recipient is tricUy prohibited. If you are not a namfJci recipient, you are prohibited from any further vrewing of the e-mail 
or any allachments or from making any use ot the e-mail or alla<:hments. If you believe you have received this e-mail in 
error, please notify the sender Immediately and permanently delete the e-mail. any attachments. nd all copies thereof 
from any drives or storage media and destroy any pnntouts of the e-mail or attachmenls. 

De La Torre 9-30-21(1).pdf 
699.6kB 
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# 15 TENTATIVE RULING 

OSCAR OE LA TORRE v. CITY OF SANTA MONICA, et al. [21STCV08597] 

DEMURRER OF DEFENDANT CITY OF SANTA MONICA TO PLAINTIFF'S 
VERIFIED 2AC 

MEET & CONFER: Complies with CCP 430.41

BACKGROUND: Action for declaratory relief; violation of Brown Act 
CONT'D TIMELINE: 
7 / 23 / 21: the Court ruled on moving Defendant's demurrer to the FAC, 

sustaining w/leave re C/A 1 [decl. relief] and overruling as to C/A 2 
[violation of the Brown Act] 

8/10/21: Plaintiffs filed their verified 2AC, again asserting 2 C/As: 
1) declaratory relief: and
2) violation of the Ralph M. Brown Act - GC 54950

9/3/21: Moving defendant filed these general demurrers to C/As 1-2 

RE THE GENERAL DEMURRERS OF DEFENDANT CITY OF SANTA MONICA TO 
CAUSES OF ACTION 1-2 OF PLAINTIFFS' VERIFIED 2AC, THE COURT RULES 
AS FOLLOWS: 

C/ A 1 [DECLARATORY RELIEF): OVERRULED. 

The parties raise the same arguments, somewhat amplified, presented by 
the demurrer that the Court sustained on July 23, 2021. The Court, 
however, is of the view that it sustained the earlier demurrer 
improvidently. In an action seeking declaratory relief, the first issue in 
whether there is an actual controversy for the court to rule upon. The City, 
in this case, argues that a city council as a matter of law has the authority 
to determine if an elected councilmember has a common law conflict of 
interest with respect to a public issue; and, if it so decides, to disqualify 
that council member from participating in closed sessions of the city 
council to consider matters involving that interest. The issue at stake here 
is CVRA litigation now on appeal in which the City is a defendant. Plaintiff 
De La Torre does not have a personal stake in that litigation but voices a 
point of view that is contrary to the majority of the council members. 
These differing viewpoints are to be resolved in a fair political process. 
The City's actions to exclude the participation of a councilmember who 
campaigned in support of the plaintiffs in the CVRA litigation thwarts the 
political process and raises an actual controversy for judicial 
determination. The Court will OVERRULE the City's demurrer to the first 

I 

P0487 

569



cause of action. 

NOTE: To the extent Defendant argues that Plaintiff SERNA "lacks standing 
to challenge the disqualification": The Court declines to rule on this issue. 
First, the Court finds that the demurrer itself is procedurally improper, 
as the Notice of Demurrer says nothing about a special demurrer 
grounded on CCP 430.l0(b) [which goes to "lack of legal capacity to sue" 
but which has been interpreted by our appellate court to mean lack of 
standing). Second, Plaintiffs' argument to the effect that this is essentially 
a piecemeal demurrer, because the issue could have been raised by the 
prior demurrer, has merit. The Court does not entertain piecemeal 
demurrers [see, e.g., CCP 430.41]. The arguments in the Reply, that the 
issue is never waived and that it could be raised by way of a motion for 
JOP, are unpersuasive. The Common Cause case, cited in fn.2 of the Reply, 
states only that the issue may be raised at any time; it doesn't specify the 
manner in which the issue may be raised. As for Defendant's argument 
that having to raise the issue by way of a motion for JOP would cause 
Defendant to expend unnecessary time and resources, the Court agrees; 
however, to accept that argument would mean that every late demurrer 
should simply be accepted without concern as to timeliness. If that were 
true, there would be no need for the JOP procedure. 

C/A 2 [VIOLATION OF THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT - GOV'T CODE 54950]: 
OVERRULED. As the Court stated in re the prior demurrer, Plaintifrs 2AC 
asserts that the Brown Act [Government Code § 54953] requires, with only 
specified exceptions, that "all persons shall be permitted to attend" 
meetings of all or a majority of any city council, and that by excluding him 
from future Council meetings, defendant CITY threatens to violate the Act. 
Plaintiff cites Gov. Code, § 54960, subdivision (a), for the proposition that 
''any interested person may commence an action by mandamus, injunction 
or declaratory relief for the purpose of stopping or preventing violations 
or threatened violations of [the Brown Act] by members of the legislative 
body .... "; and §54960.1, subdivision (a) for the proposition that "any 
interested person" may "commence an action by mandamus or injunction 
for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that an action taken 
by a legislative body of a local agency in violation of [specified sections of 
the Brown Act] is null and void under this section." 

Re the prior demurrer, Defendant raised only two arguments: a) Plaintiff 
lacks standing to assert this cause of action; and b) Plaintiff "failed to 
exhaust all remedies" before bringing his claim. The Court's ruling 
addressed those arguments, and Defendant didn't seek reconsideration or 
appeal that ruling. Here, Defendant concedes that Plaintiffs' 2AC isn't 
materially different from the FAC; however, Defendant asks the Court to 

., 
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revisit Its prior ruling. The Court declines that invitation. 

Re lack of standing to sue: The Court stands by the comments it made re 
the prior ruling. [Also see above re the issue of Plaintiff Serna's standing 
this issue should have been, but wasn't, raised by way of a special 
demurrer.] In essence, the Court found that Plaintiff qualifies as an 
"interested person" because he alleges that he has a personal stake in the 
relief sought; and that there was no exhaustion requirement as to future 
meetings of the Council. Defendant's argument that Plaintiff isn't an 
•-interested person" is essentially unchanged from the prior demurrer. 
Defendant doesn't point to anything in the 2AC that would cause the 
Court to change its position in this regard. Defendant's argument that C/ A 
2 fails to the extent Plaintiff is challenging the Council's "past action" is 
unpersuasive, as one cannot demur to part of a cause of action, and 
Plaintiffs have taken the position that they aren't challenging any past 
action of the Council. Defendant's argument based on an Attorney General 
opinion stating that where there is a common law conflict of interest, an 
official "may not take part either in the discussion nor in a vote on the 
relevant matter" isn't helpful, as it doesn't say anything about whether the 
official can attend without participating in the discussion or voting. As for 
the considerations raised in Hamilton v Town of Los Gatos (1989) 213 
CA3d 1050 (re not permitting a "financially interested" council member to 
attend a closed session meeting because it might give rise to an 
appearance of impropriety, or might have an influence on other council 
members): Defendant is free to raise that point in a dispositive motion or 
before the trier of fact; however, it doesn't support a ruling sustaining the 
demurrer. 

MP is to serve notice of ruling. This TR shall be the order of the Court, 
unless changed at the hearing, and shall by this reference be incorporated 
into the Minute Order. TR e-mailed to counsel at 1:30 p.m •• 9-30-21 

3 
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1 Wilfredo Alberto Trivino-Perez (SBN 219345) 
wtp(a),tpalawyers.com 

2 TRfVINO-PEREZ & ASSOCIATES 
10940 Wilshire Blvd., 16th Floor 

3 Los Angeles, CA 90024 
Phone: (310) 443-4251 

4 Fax: (310) 443-4252 

5 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Oscar De La Torre and Elias Serna 

6 

7 

8 

9 
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
10 

11 OSCAR DE LA TORRE and ELIAS 
SERNA 

12 

13 
V. 

Plaintiffs, 

14 CITY OF SANTA MONICA and 

15 
DOES 1 through 10, inclusive 

16 

17 

18 

Defendants.

19 t--------------

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

) 

Case No.: 21STCV08597 

DECLARATION OF KEVIN 
SHENKMAN IN SUPPORT OF 
OPPOSITIONS TO MOTIONS TO 
COMPEL 

Date: December 9, 2021 
Time: 1 :30 p.m. 
Dept. 15 

[Hon. Richard Fruin] 
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1 I, Kevin Shenkman, declare as follows: 

2 1. I am one of several attorneys representing the plaintiffs in the case styled

3 Pico Neighborhood Association, et al. v. City of Santa Monica ("Voting Rights Case"). 

4 I am over the age of 18 and have personal knowledge of the facts contained in this 

5 
declaration. If called as a witness, I could and would competently testify as follows: 

6 
2. Since 2012, a significant portion of my practice has focused on voting

7 
rights, and more specifically cases involving the California Voting Rights Act 

8 
("CVRA"). In 2013, I was lead counsel in the first CVRA case to go to trial-Jauregui 

v. City of Palmdale, tried before Hon. Mark Mooney in the Los Angeles Superior
9 

Court. Since that time, my law firm, Shenkman & Hughes PC, and the other law firms 
10 

we work with, have been responsible for the majority of CVRA litigation in California. 
11 

Since 2013, I have spoken over a hundred times at various events, such as legal 
12 

conferences and community meetings, regarding voting rights, district-based elections 
13 

and the CVRA. 
14 3. I met Maria Loya, her husband Oscar de la Torre, and the rest of the board

15 members of the Pico Neighborhood Association in 2015. Though I knew of Mr. de la 

16 Torre before that time, particularly because he was a board member for the school 

17 district where my children attended school, and I knew that he was a leader in the 

18 Latino civil rights community, I had not met him personally until 2015. In late-2015 

19 and early-2016, Shenkman & Hughes PC worked with Ms. Loya and the Pico 

20 Neighborhood Association, as well as other Santa Monica residents and groups, to 

21 convince the Santa Monica City Council to bring their elections into compliance with 

22 the CVRA. When those efforts proved unsuccessful, we initiated the Voting Rights 

23 Case. 

24 4. In developing a case under the CVRA, we often must investigate the

25 
political realities of a governing body, as well as the factors the CVRA identifies as 

26 
"probative but not necessary" to establishing a violation of the CVRA, for example, 

"the history of discrimination ... denial of access to those processes determining which 
27 

groups of candidates will receive financial or other support in a given election, the 
28 
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1 extent to which members of a protected class bear the effects of past discrimination in 

2 areas such as education, employment, and health, which hinder their ability to 

3 participate effectively in the political process, [] the use of overt or subtle racial appeals 

4 in political campaigns," and the unresponsiveness of the governing board to the needs 

5 and desires of the protected class. To carry out that investigation, we communicate 

6 with community members with knowledge of local politics in the political subdivision

7 
at issue, among other things. Our investigation of Santa Monica was no exception. As 

8 
detailed in the billing records of my firm and those of our co-counsel, all of which have 

been provided to the City of Santa Monica, we inquired of several people 
9 

knowledgeable in Santa Monica city politics, including Oscar de la Torre. Mr. de la 
10 

Torre was helpful; he provided us with significant information concerning the political, 
11 

social and economic realities of Santa Monica, and political figures. Of course, all of 
12 

that work is complete now, since the trial of the Voting Rights Case concluded in 2018. 
13 

Now, with the trial concluded, the record is closed and the factual disputes are resolved, 
14 

so we have no need to further investigate. Since the trial concluded, and the Los 

15 Angeles Superior Court entered judgment, in the Voting Rights Case, many of the 

16 people with whom we communicated for the purpose of our factual investigation have 

17 asked that we update them on the progress of the case and pending appeal, and we have 

18 done so upon their requests. 

19 5. My firm's voting rights practice often requires me and my colleagues to

20 engage in the political process as well as the court process. Because the system of 

21 election employed by a political subdivision is both a legal issue and a political issue 

22 important to thousands of voters, whenever we pursue litigation we also engage with 

23 community leaders, community groups and elected officeholders. Over the six years in 

24 which we have worked to bring Santa Monica's city council elections into compliance

25 
with the CVRA, I have personally spoken at dozens of Santa Monica community group 

26 
meetings and fielded questions from Santa Monica residents on each occasion. In the 

process, I have communicated with all, or nearly all, of the current members of the 
27 

Santa Monica City Council, as well as several former councilmembers. For example, I 
28 

SHENKMAN DECLARATION 

575



1 spoke at a Northeast Neighbors meeting regarding district elections, the CVRA and the 

2 Voting Rights Case, at which Councilmember Gleam Davis also spoke briefly 

3 regarding the same topics, after which I fielded questions. More recently, I spoke at a 

4 Santa Monica Democratic Club meeting, attended by Mayor Sue Himmelrich, 

5 Councilmember Oscar de la Torre and Councilmember Kristin McCowan, as well as 

6 former councilmembers Kevin McKeown and Tony Vazquez, regarding those same

7 
topics. Some of my communications with Santa Monica city councilmembers have 

8 
been in public, while others have been in private. 

9 
6. My communications with members of the Santa Monica City Council, and

other municipal elected officials, are expressly permitted by the Professional Rules of 
10 

Conduct. Specifically, while Rule 4.2 generally prohibits communications between an 
11 

attorney and a represented opposing party, it excludes public elected officials from that 
12 

prohibition: "This rule shall not prohibit [] communications with a public official, 
13 

board, committee, or body." (Rule of Prof. Cond. 4.2(c)(l)). Comment 7 to that Rule 
14 

explains that First Amendment considerations require that attorneys opposing a 

15 political subdivision in litigation be allowed to petition the elected officials who make 

16 decisions for the public entity: 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

"When a lawyer communicates on behalf of a client with a governmental 

organization, or certain employees, members, agents, or other constituents 

of a governmental organization, however, special considerations exist as a 

result of the right to petition conferred by the First Amendment of the 

United States Constitution and article I, section 3 of the California 

Constitution. Paragraph ( c )( 1) recognizes these special considerations by 

generally exempting from application of this rule communications with 

public boards, committees, and bodies, and with public officials as defined 

in paragraph (d)(2) of this rule." 

(Rule of Prof. Cond. 4.2, cmt. 7) 

7. I frequently have discussions concerning the CVRA, voting rights and

elections with elected officials throughout California. Almost always, those elected 
27 

officials communicate with me with the ( often express) understanding that our 
28 
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1 discussions are confidential and will not be disclosed to anyone. When my discussions 

2 with elected officials are not in public, I never reveal those discussions, both because it 

3 would be a breach of trust to do so and because elected officials would be unlikely to 

4 speak to me if they believed I would reveal those discussions. Voting rights matters 

5 implicate sensitive issues such as race, and can have the effect of eliminating a person 

6 or group's long-held political power. Perhaps for that reason, my family and I, as well

7 
as some of our clients, have endured violent threats and retaliation (including by the 

8 
City of Santa Monica) for our voting rights work. When elected officials contact me, 

they often express hesitation and concern that they will face significant consequences if 
9 

our discussions are disclosed. If they believed our discussions would be disclosed, they 
10 

almost certainly would never talk to me. 
11 

8. Litigating CVRA cases requires significant time, effort, knowledge and
12 

resources. Some CVRA cases require thousands of hours of work by attorneys, and 
13 

hundreds of thousands of dollars in expenses, mostly for expert witnesses who testify 

14 
about topics such as group voting behavior, statistical methods, demographics and 

15 alternative election systems. In Jauregui v. City of Palmdale, for example, the Los 

16 Angeles Superior Court awarded over $4 million in attorneys' fees and expenses 

17 through two disputed fees motions. The CVRA affords standing to"[ a]ny voter who is 

18 a member of a protected class and who resides in a political subdivision where a 

19 violation ... is alleged." Yet, very few voters have millions of dollars available to 

20 spend on attorneys and expert witnesses. Moreover, voters who wish to challenge an 

21 at-large election system under the CVRA have no prospect of financial gain through 

22 such a lawsuit, because the only financial relief available is attorneys' fees and costs, 

23 and non-attorneys cannot share in that recovery. Therefore, Shenkman & Hughes and 

24 the other law firms with which we associate, handles all CVRA cases on a pro bona 

25 
basis. Our CVRA clients do not pay us or anyone else any money in connection with 

26 
those cases. They have no prospect for any financial gain or financial loss from those 

cases. 
27 

28 
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1 9. I understand that the City of Santa Monica is seeking to require the

2 preparation of a privilege log for communications between Shenkman & Hughes and its 

3 clients (including the Pico Neighborhood Association board, which included Oscar de 

4 la Torre): However, the City previously agreed that no such privilege log would be 

5 required. Attached as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of a letter from the City's

6 counsel in the Voting Rights Case, confirming that "we agreed that privileged attomey-

7 client communications that occurred after litigation commenced need not be included

8 
on a privilege log." 

9 

10 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that 

the foregoing is true and c01Tect. 
11 /"' 

Executed this_(;_ day of December 2021, at Malibu, California. 
12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Kevin Shenkman 
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(;IBSON l)lJNN 
Gillson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP 

333 South Grand A,e.nue 

Los Angeles, CA 900'/ 1-3191 

Tel 213.229 7000 

www.111bwnounn.com 

Kahn A. Scolnick 
Direct: +1 213229.7656 
Fax: +1 213.229.6656 
KScolnick@gibsondunn.com 

November 22, 2017 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 

Kevin Shenkman 
Shenkman & Hughes 
28905 Wight Road 
Malibu, CA 90265 

Re: ci ,l,borhood Asso ·iati< n v. City of Santa Monica 

Dear Kevin: 

I write as counsel for the City of Santa Monica (the "'City"), in regards to Plaintiffs' Second 
Supplemental Responses to the City's First Set of Special Interrogatories dated October 4, 
2017. In light of the Rulings of the Ois1.:overy Referee dated September 4, 2017 (the 
"Order"), we would I ikc to follow-up and seek clarification on the following issues. 

Plaintiffs Responses 

• For PNA Special Interrogatory No. 9 / Loya Special lntc1Togatory No. 5, the
Discovery Referee ruled that if costs of City elections arc known, such
info1mation is discoverable evidence and a supplemental response is needed.
(Order at p. 7.) Plaintiffs' response purports to identity the Latino candidates for
City Council who have run and lost, and then simply states in relevant part:
"[h]undrcds of thousands of dollars arc typically spent on elections for the Santa
Monica City Council." Ho\\ ever, more is needed for Plaintiffs to comply with
the Order. Ir costs are known for City elections, al least for the elections
referenced by Plaintiffs in which the identified-Latino candidate lost, please so
state in the response. If those costs arc not known after reasonable investigation
by Plaintiffs, please specifically state so in the response.

• For PNA Special Interrogatory No. 14, Loya Special lnkrrogatory No. 10, the
Discovery Referee rnlcd that Plaintiffs shall tile a supplemental response "with all
known facts arising out of this issue." (Order at 10.) Plaintiffs' response reads in
relevant part: "A fow cxampks of such retaliation indudc" the dcfunding of the
PYFC and the withdrawal of the ..:mploymcnt offer to Elizabeth Rici. Again, this
sort of incompktc response, containing only ·•a few examples,'' fails to comply
with the Order. Plain ti ITs must provide "all known facts," so if Plaintiffs are

Beijing• Bruss.els• Cenlu,y City· Dalla�• Denver• D11bal • Frariklurt • Hoflg Kong• Hou�lon • London , Los Angel�s • Munich 
New York• Ornngfl County• Palo Alto• Pa11s • Sal\ Franc,;cn • S�,, Paulo• Sin&aporo · Wasliingto,,, D.C 
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Kevin Shenkman 
November 22, 2017 
Page 2 

a\varc of other examples, they rnusl include all known facts in the r!.!sponsc rather 
lhan two sclccteJ cxamplcs. Conversely. if those two examples comprise of all 
Plaintiffs' known evidence pertaining lo this interrogatory, please so slate or 
amend the response lo remove the "J\ few examples" language. 

• For PNA Special lnterrogatoiy Nos. 6, I 0, 17. 18, 20, and 22 / Loya Special
lnterrogatu1y Nos. 2, 6, 13, 14, 16. and 18, thl.) Discovery Rcf'l.:rcc included among
the applicable mlings that "[tllu.: City is cntitk<l to 'facts' known by plaintiffs
falling outside of expert opinion," tlwt ''[i]f plaintiffs have any facts that are 'non­
expert · in nature, a supplemental response is required," and that "[p ]laintiffs shall
provide all non-expert lac ls." Plaintiffs' responses in each of these identified
interrogatories contain the following language: "Racial appeals have been
employed in Santa Monica political campaigns. including, but not limited to the
racist attacks directed against Tony Vazqui:z, Maria Loya and Oscar de la Torre.":
This is insufficient in light oftlw Or<ler. If Plaintiffs arc aware of other alleged
racial appeals employed in City political campaigns. Plaintiffs must so state in the
response. as the City is entitled to all known (acts. Conversely, if those alleged
identified campaigns consist of all the examples of which Plaintiffs ha Ye
knowledge, please so slate or remove the '•including hut not limited to" language.

• For PNA Form Intcrrogatoiy No. 17.1 I Loya Form Interrogatory No. 17.1,
Plaintift:� include the term "serious Latino candidates" in rdcrcnce to the City's
Request for Admission No. 9. The City is cntitkd to know Plaintiffs' definition
of the term ''serious Latino candidales," in order for Plaintiffs' response lo he
deemed complete. Please provide such a definition.

Privilege Log 

The Order states that if Plaintiffs arc relying on attorney-client privilege or the work product 
doctrine as a basis for refusal to provide a complete response, Plaintiffs must provide a 
privilege log within 30 days of th1..· Orc.lcr. (Or<lcr at pp. 14-15.) We understand there are 
some remaining disagreements regarding the privilege log based on the correspondence 
exchanged between counsel on November 8 and 11, 20 l 6. and Lhc issue was also discussed 
at the October 9, 2017 discovery hearing regarding the City's Requi.!sls for Production. 
While we agreed that privileged attorney-client communications that occurred afler litigation 
commenced need not be included on a privilege log, we disagreed with Plaintiffs' contention 
that work product need not be included on a privilege log at all. Accordingly, we reiterate 
our request via letter from Tiaunia Henry on November 16, 2017 to meet and confer. 

1 This language appears throughout Plaintiffs· response: t(1 f>'iA Form lntcrrngatory No, 17.1 i Loya Form 
[ntcrrogutory No. 17.1 as w,:11. 
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Oscar de la Torre Declaration 

The Order, ref1ecting the parties· agreement from the /\ugust 25, 2017 hearing, requires 
Plaintiffs to send the City a writied declaration responding to PN/\ Special Interrogatory Nos. 
1-4, and 13, and Loya Special Interrogatory No. 9. (Order at p. 4, 9.) Plaintiffs sent the City a
declaration on September I, 2017. However, as indicated in our email from September 5,
2017, the declaration provided was insufficient for three reasons, reiterated below.

Whik we received Mr. de la Torre's verification dated October 5, 2017 for his declaration, 
we have not yet received a revised declaration from Mr. de la Torre that addresses the issues 
we identified on September 5. 2017. Accordingly. please semi a revised declaration 
addressing the following three issues: 

First, Mr. <le la Torre's dcclarntion docs not indicate that he is authorized to answer on behalf 
of PNA and the declaration should be made on behalf of PNA. 

Second, the infomiation needs to be accurate as of tilt: date of the declaration. but the prior 
declaration references that the information is current only as of January 2017. 

Third, the Jeclaratinn does not appear Lo comply with California Code of Civil Procedme 
section 2015.5, which requires that any declaralion "recile[l lhal it is certilied nr declared ... 
to be true under penalty of perjury. [be] subscribed by him or her, and (I), if executed within 
this slate, stale[] the dale and place or execution, or (2 ), i r execnled al any place, within or 
without this state, state[] the date of execution and that it is so certified or declared under the 
laws of the State of California." The prior declaration did not include that language. 

* * * 

As alway�. please let us know if you would like to arrange a call to discuss any of these 
topics. We look fonvard to your prompt response. 

Sincerely, 

/� 
/--::�<-------

--1 

Kahn A. Scolnick 

KAS/blg 
102404442.5 
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1 PROOF OF SERVICE 

2 STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

3 At the time of service, I was over 18 years of age and not a party to this action. I am 
emplo:xed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California. My business address is 

4 10940 Wilshire Blvd. 16th Floor, Los Angeles CA 90024. 

5 On December 6, 2021, I served true copies of the following document( s) described 
as 

DECLARATION 
6 

7 

8 
on the interested parties in this action as follows: 

Joseph Lawrence 
9 Interim Santa Monica City Attorney 

1685 Main Street, Room 310 
10 Santa Monica, CA 90401 

11 Carol M. Silberberg 
155 N. Lake Ave., Suite 800 

12 Pasadena. CA 91101 

13 BY MAIL: I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed 
to the persons at the addresses listed in the Service List and placed the envelope for 

14 collection and mailing following our ordinary business practices. I am readily 
familiar with our practice for collecting and processing correspondence for mailing. 

15 On the same day that the correspondence is placed for collection and mailing, it is 
deposited in the ordinary course of business with the United States Postal Service, in 

16 a sealed envelope with postage fully prepaid. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

I declar1:: un�er penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California 
that the foregomg 1s true and correct. 

Executed on December 6, 2021 at Los Angeles, California. 

/s/ Wi)ifred Trivino-Perez 
Wilifred Trivino-Perez 
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1 Wilfredo Alberto Trivino-Perez (SBN 219345) 
wt__p_esq@gmail.com 

2 TRIVlNO-PEREZ & ASSOCIATES
10940 Wilshire Blvd. 16th Floor 

3 Los Angeles, CA 90024 
Phone: {310) 443-4251 

4 
Fa'<.: (310) 443-4252 

5 Attorneys for Plaintiffs Oscar De La Torre and Elias Serna

6 

7 

8 

9 
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
10 

11 OSCAR DE LA TORRE and ELIAS ) Case No.: 21STCV08597
SERNA 

12 

13 

Plaintiffs, 
DECLARATION OF KEVIN 
SHENKMAN IN SUPPORT OF MOTION 
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

V. 

14 CITY OF SANT A MONICA and 
15 

DOES 1 through 10, inclusive 

16 

17 

Defendants. l 

18 1--------------

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dept. 15 

[Hon. Richard Fruin] 
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1 I, Kevin Shenkman, declare as follows: 

2 1. I am one of several attorneys representing the plaintiffs in the case styled

3 Pico Neighborhood Association, et al. v. City of Santa Monica ("Voting Rights Case"). 

4 I am over the age of 18 and have personal knowledge of the facts contained in this 

5 declaration. If called as a witness, I could and would competently testify as follows: 

6 
2. Since 2012, a significant portion of my practice has focused on voting

7 
rights, and more specifically cases involving the California Voting Rights Act 

8 
("CVRA"). In 2013, I was lead counsel in the first CVRA case to go to trial - Jauregui 

v. City of Palmdale, tried before Hon. Mark Mooney in the Los Angeles Superior
9 

Court. Since that time, my law firm, Shenkman & Hughes PC, and the other law firms 
10 

we work with, have been responsible for the majority of CVRA litigation in California. 
11 

Since 2013, I have spoken over a hundred times at various events, such as legal 
12 

conferences and community meetings, regarding voting rights, district-based elections 
13 

and the CVRA. 
14 

3. I have represented Maria Loya and the Pico Neighborhood Association

15 ("PNA") over the past 5+ years in the case styled Pico Neighborhood Association, et al. 

16 v. City of Santa Monica, Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC616804 ("Voting

17 Rights Case"). That case was filed in April 2016 and went to trial in August 2018 

18 before Hon. Yvette M. Palazuelos. A true and correct copy of the operative complaint 

19 in the Voting Rights Case is attached hereto as Exhibit A. As demonstrated by the 

20 operative complaint, the Voting Rights Case seeks only non-monetary relief - an 

21 injunction and declaration from the court, implementing district-based elections for the 

22 Santa Monica City Council. 

23 4. The Los Angeles Superior Court entered judgment in favor of the plaintiffs

24 in the Voting Rights Case in February 2019. A true and correct copy of that judgment,

25 
along with the corresponding Statement of Decision, is attached hereto collectively as 

26 
Exhibit B. Consistent with the relief requested in the operative complaint, the 

Judgment awards the plaintiffs injunctive and declaratory relief - specifically, the 
27 

implementation of district-based elections - but no monetary relief. Division Eight of 
28 
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1 the Second District Court of Appeal reversed that judgment, but the Califixnia Supreme 

2 Court granted review and depublished the intermediate appellate court's decision. The 

3 Voting Rights Case is currently pending in the California Supreme Court, and has been 

4 fully briefed by the parties. 

5 
5. Litigating CVRA cases requires significant time, effort, knowledge and

6 resources. Some CVRA cases require thousands of hours of work by attorneys, and

7 hundreds of thousands of dollars in expenses, mostly for expert w·itnesses who testify

about topics such as group voting behavior, statistical methods, demographics and 
8 

alternative election systems. In .Jauregui v. Ci�v <?f Palmdale, for example, the Los 
9 

Angeles Superior Court. awarded over $4 million in attorneys' fees and expenses 
10 

through two disputed fees motions. The CVRA affords standing to "[a]ny voter who is 
11 

a member of a protected class and who resides in a political subdivision where a 
12 

violation ... is alleged." Yet, very few voters have millions of dollars available to 
13 spend on attorneys and expert. witnesses. Moreover, voters who wish to challenge an 
14 at-large election system under lhe CVRA have no prospect of financial gain through 
15 such a lawsuit, because the only financial relief available is attorneys' fees and costs, 
16 and non-attorneys cannot share in that recovery. I"herefore, Shenkman & Hughes and 
17 the other law firms with which we associate, handle all CVRA cases on a pro bona

18 basis. Our CYR.A clients do not pay us or anyone else any money in connection with 

19 those cases. They have no prospect for any financial gain or financial loss from those 

20 cases. ln the Voting Rights Case, this arrangement was memorialized in two 

21 documents - the retainer agreement and Lhe clarifying supplement to the retainer 

22 agreement - lrue and correct copies of which are attached collectively as Exhibit C.

23 I declare under penalty of pe1:jury under the laws of the State of California that 

the foregoing is true and correct. 
24 

.,,. .,1-.. 
Execulcd this_)_ day of January 2022, at Malibu, California. 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Kevin Shenkman 
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